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Important Information 
 

Important Notice 

This document (Offer Document) is for an initial public 

offer of Shares in Evolve Education Group Limited 
(Evolve Education).  It is a prospectus for the 

purposes of the Securities Act and the Securities 
Regulations, and has been prepared at, and dated, 14 
November 2014.  

This Offer Document is an important document and 
should be read carefully before deciding whether or 
not to invest in Evolve Education.  You should read all 
of the Offer Document and the accompanying 
documentation before deciding whether or not to invest 
under this Offer.  

No person is authorised by the directors of Evolve 
Education, or Kern Group NZ Limited and Wraith 
Capital Group NZ Limited and those of its directors 
who are not also directors of Evolve Education 
(namely Samuel (Chris) Giufre) (Promoters) to give 

any information or make any representation in 
connection with the Offer which is not contained in this 
Offer Document, the Investment Statement or in any 
other communications from the Directors.  Any 
information or representation in connection with the 
Offer not so contained may not be relied on as having 
been authorised by Evolve Education, the Directors or 
the Promoters. 

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of the Offer 
you should consult your financial adviser or legal 
adviser or a NZX Firm. 

Consideration Period 

Pursuant to section 43C of the Securities Act, the 
Financial Markets Authority will be notified once this 
Offer Document is registered with the Registrar of 
Financial Service Providers.   The Financial Markets 
Authority will have the opportunity to consider whether 
the Offer Document: (a) complies with the Securities 
Act and the Securities Regulations; (b) contains any 
material misdescription or error or any material matter 
that is not clearly legible; or (c) is false or misleading 
as to a material particular or omits any material 
particular.   Nothing in this section or in any other 
provision of the Securities Act limits the Financial 
Markets Authority’s power to consider or reconsider 
these matters at any time.   The nature and extent of 
the consideration (if any) that the Financial Markets 
Authority gives to this Offer Document is at the 
Financial Markets Authority’s discretion. 

Pursuant to section 43D of the Securities Act, Evolve 
Education cannot accept any Applications, and shares 
cannot be allotted to you, during the Financial Markets 
Authority’s “Consideration Period”.   

The Consideration Period commences on the date of 
registration of this Offer Document and ends at the 
close of the day that is five working days after that 
date.   

The Financial Markets Authority may shorten this 
Consideration Period or extend it by no more than five 
additional working days.  

No Guarantee 

No person guarantees the Shares offered under this 
Offer Document, nor warrants or guarantees the future 
performance of Evolve Education, the Shares or any 
return on any investment made pursuant to this Offer 
Document. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

This Offer Document contains certain statements that 
relate to the future.  Such statements are not a 
guarantee of future performance and involve known 
and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and 
other important factors, many of which are beyond the 
control of Evolve Education and which may cause 
actual returns, performance or achievements of Evolve 
Education to differ materially from those expressed or 
implied by such statements.  
Given these uncertainties, you are cautioned not to 
place undue reliance on any forward-looking 
statements contained in this Offer Document.  Under 
no circumstances should you regard the inclusion of 
forward-looking statements as a representation or 
warranty by Evolve Education, the Promoters, their 
respective officers, the directors of Evolve Education 
or any other person referred to in this Offer Document 
with respect to the achievement of the results set out 
in any such statement, or that the underlying 
assumptions used will in fact be realised. 

Selling Restrictions 

The Offer is being made to members of the public in 
New Zealand and Australia and Institutional Investors 
in New Zealand, Australia and certain other overseas 
jurisdictions only (excluding the United States).  This 
Offer Document is intended for use only in connection 
with the proposed Offer and does not constitute an 
offer or invitation in any place in which, or to any 
person to whom, it would not be lawful to make such 
an offer or invitation.   

No person may offer, sell (including resell), distribute 
or deliver, or invite any other person to offer, sell 
(including resell), distribute or deliver, any Shares or 
distribute any documents (including this Offer 
Document) in relation to the Shares to any person 
outside New Zealand or Australia except in 
accordance with all of the legal requirements of the 
relevant jurisdiction.   

In particular, this Offer Document (including an 
electronic copy) may not be distributed to, or relied 
upon by, persons in the United States.  In particular, 
Evolve Education’s securities have not been, and will 
not be, registered under the United States Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended (US Securities Act) or the 

securities laws of any state of the United States and 
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may not be offered or sold in the United States or to, or 
for the account or benefit of, any person in the United 
States unless such securities are registered under the 
US Securities Act, or an exemption from the 
registration requirements of the US Securities Act and 
applicable US state securities laws is available.  

Unless otherwise agreed with Evolve Education, any 
person or entity subscribing for Shares under the Offer 
shall, by virtue of such subscription, be deemed to 
represent that he, she or it is not in a jurisdiction which 
does not permit the making to him, her or it of an offer 
or invitation of the kind described in this Offer 
Document, and is not acting for the account or benefit 
of a person within such a jurisdiction. 

None of Evolve Education, the Promoters, the Joint 
Lead Managers nor any of their respective directors, 
officers, employees, consultants, agents, partners or 
advisers accepts any liability or responsibility to 
determine whether a person is able to participate in the 
Offer. 

Registration 

A copy of this Offer Document duly signed by or on 
behalf of the Directors of Evolve Education and by the 
Promoters, and having endorsed thereon or attached 
thereto copies of the documents and other materials 
required by section 41 of the Securities Act, has been 
delivered to the Registrar of Financial Service 
Providers for registration in accordance with section 42 
of the Securities Act.  

The documents required by section 41 of the 
Securities Act are: 

 the Audit Report of PricewaterhouseCoopers in 
respect of certain financial information included in 
this Offer Document (set out in Section 7.8 
Statutory Audit Report); 

 the signed consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers to 
the following reports being included in this Offer 
Document: 

o audit report in respect of certain financial 
information included in this Offer Document; 

o audit report in respect of the financial 
statements of Evolve Education for the period 
ended 31 August 2014; and 

o investigating accountant’s report; 

 copies of the material contracts referred to under 
the heading “Material Contracts” in Section 10 
Statutory Information; and 

 letters of authority authorising this Offer Document 
to be signed by an agent on behalf of a Director (if 
and where required). 

Risk and Suitability of an Investment in 
Evolve Education 

This Offer Document does not take into account your 
investment objectives, financial situation and particular 

needs.  You should read this Offer Document in full 
before deciding whether to subscribe for Shares under 
the Offer.  In particular, you should consider the nature 
of the investment in the Shares and the risk factors 
that could affect Evolve Education’s performance 
(including those risks set out in Section 5 Risks of this 
Offer Document), having particular regard to your own 
personal circumstances.  If you are in any doubt as to 
any aspect of the Offer you should consult your 
financial or legal adviser or an NZX Firm before 
deciding to invest. 

Definitions 

Capitalised terms used in this Offer Document have 
the specific meaning given to them in the Glossary in 

Section 11 of this Offer Document. 

Unless otherwise indicated, any reference to $, NZ$, 
NZD or cents refer to New Zealand dollars and cents, 
and references to dates and times are to dates and 
times in New Zealand. 

Takeovers Code (Evolve Education 
Group Limited) Exemption Notice 2014 
Under the Lollipops Educare Acquisition Agreement 
referred to in this Offer Document, the current 
shareholders of Lollipops Educare will be issued, in 
aggregate, 36,209,901 Shares in Evolve Education on 
completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition (which 
will comprise 20.5% of the total voting rights in Evolve 
Education at the time of issue).  The current 
shareholders of Lollipops Educare are likely to be 
considered “associates” under the Takeovers Code 
and have obtained an exemption from the Takeovers 
Code, effective from 13 November 2014, to allow them 
to hold the Shares issued on completion of the 
Lollipops Educare Acquisition without having to obtain 
shareholder approval or make a takeover offer under 
the Takeovers Code.  The maximum number of Shares 
that the current shareholders of Lollipops Educare can 
be issued, in aggregate, under the Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition Agreement is 36,209,901 Shares and the 
maximum percentage of voting rights that will be held 
by the current shareholders of Lollipops Educare on 
completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition is 
20.5%.  The maximum number of Shares that each 
current shareholder of Lollipops Educare can be 
issued (and their respective maximum percentage of 
voting rights) are as follows:  Mark Finlay and Geoffrey 
Hosking as trustees of the Mark Finlay Investment 
No.2 Trust – 20,138,542 Shares (11.4%), Russell 
Thompson and Geoffrey Hosking as trustees of the 
111 Investment Trust – 8,257,069 Shares (4.7%), 
ScottFin ECE Limited – 6,605,450 Shares (3.7%), and 
Mark Finlay and Mark Dobson Trustee Company 
Limited as trustees of the HR Finlay Family Trust – 
1,208,840 Shares (0.7%).  In approving the granting of 
the exemption to the current shareholders of Lollipops 
Educare, the Takeovers Panel does not approve or 
endorse the terms of the Offer.  
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1. Offer at a Glance 

1.1 What is this Offer? 

This is an initial public offer of ordinary shares in Evolve Education Group Limited (Evolve Education) 
by Evolve Education.  

Evolve Education is a newly established company that will be built around a solid foundation of ECE 
brands, being Lollipops Educare and PORSE, in the ECE Centre and Home-based ECE categories, 
respectively.  

The principal purpose of the offer of shares under this Offer Document (Offer) is to provide funding for 
the acquisition by Evolve Education of an initial portfolio of ECE Centres, Home-based ECE 
businesses and other related businesses

1
 including: 

 all the shares in Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited (Lollipops Educare), which owns and 
operates 30 ECE Centres (Lollipops Educare Owned ECE Centres) and the infrastructure that 
will be used by Evolve Education to manage the additional ECE Centres that it will acquire; 

 a further 55 ECE Centres (Additional Owned ECE Centres); and 

 all the shares in the PORSE group of companies, which owns and operates a Home-based ECE 
business and is an accredited training provider 

(together the Initial Portfolio). 

Evolve Education will borrow the remaining funds required to complete these acquisitions.  Funds 
raised as part of the Offer will also be used to pay for costs incurred in connection with the Offer and 
the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio.  Details of the sources and uses of funds in relation to this Offer 
are detailed in the table below and described in more detail in Section 7.9 Description of the Evolve 
Education Group’s Financing Arrangements and Section 8 Details of the Offer. 

Sources $'000 Uses $'000 

Offer proceeds 132,317 
Acquisition cost of the Initial 
Portfolio 

167,243 

Shares issued to Lollipops Educare 
vendors 

36,210 
Issue expenses relating to Offer

2
 

12,357 

Funds borrowed under New Financing 
Arrangements 

20,000 Acquisition, listing and integration 
costs

3
 

7,130 

Advances received under the Loan 
Agreements to fund Evolve Education's 
pre-Offer costs 

1,798 Repayment of advances received 
under the Loan Agreements, plus 
a return amount equal to the 
advances received 

3,596 

Total Sources of Funds 190,325 Total Uses of Funds 190,325 

 

Following completion of the Offer, Evolve Education’s core business activity will be to own and operate 
the Initial Portfolio.  Each of the businesses and companies to be acquired by Evolve Education 

                                                      

1 
The other related businesses comprise a company that operates a Home-based ECE business and a company that manages 

20 ECE Centres for third parties.  

2
 These expenses include AUD$1,000,000 (plus GST) fees payable to Kern Group (Paddington) Pty Limited (a company of 

which Greg Kern is a director and shareholder) in its capacity as financial adviser to Evolve Education. Further details are set in 
Section 10 Statutory Information in the Prospectus under the heading “Remuneration for services or recovery of expenses”. 

3
 These expenses include AUD$300,000 (plus GST) fees payable to Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited (a company of which 

Samuel (Chris) Giufre is a director and shareholder) in its capacity as consultant to Evolve Education. Further details are set in 
Section 10 Statutory Information in the Prospectus under the heading “Remuneration for services or recovery of expenses”. 
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operates from leased premises and no freehold land is being acquired by Evolve Education under any 
of the initial acquisitions.  

In addition, the Offer will enhance Evolve Education’s financial ability to pursue further growth 
opportunities outlined in Section 4.2 Business Description. 

Your decision whether or not to invest in ordinary shares in Evolve Education should be based on your 
consideration of this Offer Document taken as a whole (and of the Investment Statement) and not just 
this section, which provides an overview of the Offer.  

As with any investment, there are risks associated with an investment in the Shares.  Therefore, you 
should consider the risk factors that could affect Evolve Education’s performance described in Section 
5 Risks. 

1.2 How is the Offer structured? 

The Offer comprises an offer by Evolve Education of 132.3 million new Shares.  The gross proceeds 
from of the Offer will be $132.3 million, based on the Offer Price of $1.00.  

The Offer Shares will rank equally in all respects with existing Shares currently on issue in Evolve 
Education. 

The minimum amount that must be raised in order for the Offer to proceed is $132,317,278 (being the 
amount required to provide funding for the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio and pay issue expenses 
associated with the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio and the Offer).  You can find more detail about 
the minimum amount to be raised in Section 10 Statutory Information.  

The Offer comprises the Broker Firm Offer and the Institutional Offer.  You can find more information 
about the Offer in Section 8 Details of the Offer. 

1.3 Key Dates 

Offer Document registered 14 November 2014 

Broker Firm Offer Opening Date 9:00am, 24 November 
2014 

Broker Firm Offer Closing Date 12:00pm, 3 December 
2014 

Allotment for NZX and ASX listed Shares 4 December 2014 

Expected settlement of Lollipops Educare Acquisition Agreement and 

PORSE Acquisition Agreement 

4 December 2014 

Expected commencement of quotation and trading of the Shares on the 

NZX Main Board and ASX 

5 December 2014 

Expected despatch of holding statements and any refund payments if 
required 

by 5 December 2014 

Expected settlement of Additional Acquisition Agreements Mid-December 2014 to 
31 March 2015 

Expected payment of initial dividend December 2015 

This timetable is indicative only.  Evolve Education reserves the right to amend these dates at its 
discretion.  The Offer may also be withdrawn by Evolve Education at any time before the allotment of 
Shares, at Evolve Education’s sole discretion. 



 

 

  7 

1.4 Key Offer Details and Statistics   

Offer Price $1.00  

Offer Shares offered by Evolve Education 132.3 million  

Offer size $132.3 million  

Total number of Shares on issue at the date of this Offer Document 8.1 million 

Total number of Shares on issue upon completion of the Offer 177.1 million  

Indicative market capitalisation
4
 $177.1 million  

Prospective Net Debt
5
 $9.5 million  

Indicative enterprise value
6
 $186.6 million  

Certain Shareholders have entered into an agreement with Evolve Education under which they have 
agreed they will not sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of Shares for a period of time.  More details 
about this are explained in Section 8 Details of the Offer. 

1.5 Key Investment Metrics  

 

 

These metrics are provided to help you assess the value of Evolve Education.  The calculations are 
explained in the table set out at the end of the Glossary in Section 11.  

                                                      

4
 The indicative market value of the equity of Evolve Education, based on the Offer Price multiplied by the number of Shares on 

issue on completion of the Offer. 

5
 Evolve Education defines Net Debt as the value of borrowings, finance leases, and the balance sheet liability for Ministry of 

Education funding received in advance, less cash and cash equivalents.  Prospective Net Debt is calculated as Net Debt as at 
31 March 2015, reflecting (i) Evolve Education’s capital structure as a result of the Offer; and (ii) the unearned income liability on 
the balance sheet at the point in time. 

6
 The indicative value of Evolve Education, being the indicative market capitalisation plus Prospective Net Debt. 

7
 Total cash dividend forecast to be payable in respect of the prospective financial year ending 31 March 2016 plus imputation 

credits assumed to be attached to the dividend, divided by the Indicative Market Capitalisation. The Directors assume that the 
dividend in respect of the prospective financial year ending 31 March 2016 will be fully imputed. Full disclosure of Evolve 
Education’s dividend policy is stated in Section 6.5 Board Policies and Procedures under the heading “Dividend Policy”. 

8
 Cash dividend forecast to be payable in respect of the prospective financial year ending 31 March 2016 divided by the 

Indicative Market Capitalisation. 

 FY16F 

Indicative Enterprise Value / EBITDA multiple 7.3x  

Indicative Enterprise Value / EBIT multiple 7.8x  

Offer Price / Earnings ratio 10.65x  

Gross yield
7
 6.52% 

Net yield
8
 4.69% 
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1.6 Selected Financial Information  

NZ$000s (except per share data) 

Govt Funding - 
% of Total 

Revenue 

Parental Revenue 
- % of Total 

Revenue 

Other Revenue - 
% of Total 

Revenue 

FY16F 

 

Revenue 69%  26%  4%  136,221 

·         Owned ECE Centres 66% 34% 0% 105,131 

·         Home-based ECE 84% 0% 16% 29,973 

·         Other revenue 0% 0% 100% 1,117 

EBITDA (Non-GAAP)       25,705 

EBIT (Non-GAAP)       23,768 

NPAT       16,627 

Earnings per share (cents)    9.4 

Prospective financial information  

Wherever Prospective Financial Information appears in this Offer Document (including in the selected 
financial information and the key investment metrics presented in this section) you should read that 
financial information together with the assumptions set out in Section 7.2 Prospective Financial 
Information and also the risk factors set out in Section 5 Risks.  There is no guarantee that the results 
set out in the Prospective Financial Information will be achieved.  The future is uncertain and actual 
results may differ from those projected in the Prospective Financial Information and the differences 
may be material. 

Key profitability drivers have been forecast based on observed data for mature ECE Centres
9
 where 

available. For ECE Centres that are not mature, Evolve Education has assessed profitability drivers on 
a centre-by-centre basis and derived forecasts with reference to the historical experience of mature 
ECE Centres in the Initial Portfolio. The forecasts do not include any growth potentially achievable 
through the acquisition of additional ECE services. 

Historic financial information 

The historic financial information usually required under clauses 12(3)(a) to (e) of Schedule 1 of the 
Securities Regulations in respect of the Additional Owned ECE Centres and other related businesses 
that Evolve Education has contracted to acquire is not provided in this Offer Document on the basis of 
exemptions granted to Evolve Education under the Securities Act (Evolve Education Group Limited) 
Exemption Notice 2014, further details of which are set out in Section 7 Financial Information.  Evolve 
Education considers it is impractical to provide the required information in respect of each of these 
businesses.  In addition, the quality and reliability of the information for each Additional Owned ECE 
Centre and other related business is of varying quality, inconsistent and would not in every case 
reflect the cost base of the business once it has been acquired by Evolve Education.  Evolve 
Education considers that compiling and providing the information required by these clauses does not 
provide useful information and may be misleading.  Risks relating to the acquisition of the Initial 
Portfolio are set in Section 5 Risks. 

Non-GAAP Financial Information 

In order to assist readers to better understand Evolve Education’s financial performance, Evolve 
Education also provides non-Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (Non-GAAP), but commonly 
used, financial measures being EBITDA and EBIT, as defined below.  These measures should not be 
considered in isolation of, or as a substitute for, NZ GAAP measures such as net profit and cash flow 

                                                      

9
 A mature ECE Centre is an ECE Centre that has been licensed and operating for two years or more. 
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measures.  For a reconciliation of the Non-GAAP measures to NZ GAAP measurements, please see 
Section 7.4 Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Information. 

The Non-GAAP financial information used in this Offer Document has the following meaning: 

EBITDA Earnings before interest, income tax, depreciation and amortisation 

EBIT Earnings before interest and income tax 

Prospective Net 
Debt 

Net Debt is defined as the value of borrowings, finance leases, and the 
balance sheet liability for Ministry of Education funding received in advance, 
less cash and cash equivalents. Prospective Net Debt is calculated as Net 
Debt as at 31 March 2015, reflecting (i) Evolve Education’s capital structure as 
a result of the Offer; and (ii) the unearned income liability on the balance sheet 
at the point in time 

1.7 Evolve Education’s Ownership Structure 

The ownership structure of Evolve Education as at the date of this Offer Document, and the indicative 
ownership structure upon completion of the Offer (following allotment of the Offer Shares and 
completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition), is illustrated in the table below.  No Current 
Shareholder is selling any Shares under the Offer and none of the persons identified in the table 
guarantees or undertakes any liability in respect of the Shares. 



 

 

  10 

Shareholder 
Ownership of Evolve Education as 
at the date of this Offer Document 

Indicative Ownership of Evolve 
Education following completion of 

the Offer and completion of the 
Lollipops Educare Acquisition 

Ordinary Shares % Ordinary Shares  % 

Current Shareholders 

Kern Group NZ Limited 2,285,369 28.19% 2,285,369 1.29% 

Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited 2,285,369 28.19% 2,285,369 1.29% 

Stuart and Gillian James as trustees of 
the S.B. James Superannuation Fund 

2,285,369 28.19% 2,285,369 1.29% 

Alan Wham 550,000 6.79% 550,000 0.31% 

Vivek Singh 300,000 3.70% 300,000 0.17% 

Norah Barlow 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Alistair Ryan 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

David Smith 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Beverley Gordon 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Paula Hawkings 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Other Shares issued 

Vendors under the Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition 

- - 36,209,901 20.45% 

Hayes Knight  Business Services (QLD) 
Pty Ltd (or nominees)

10
 

- - 449,438 0.25% 

New Shareholders pursuant to the Offer - - 132,317,278 74.72% 

Total 8,106,107  100% 177,082,724  100% 

  

                                                      

10
 Evolve Education has agreed to issue 449,438 fully paid ordinary Shares to Hayes Knight Business Services (QLD) Pty Ltd 

(or its nominees) on completion of the Offer in consideration for the provision by Hayes Knight Business Services (QLD) Pty Ltd 
of management assistance in connection with the acquisition of the Additional Owned ECE Centres.  Further details of this 
arrangement are contained in Section 10 Statutory Information under the heading “Securities paid up otherwise than in cash”. 
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2. Letter from the Chair 
Dear Investor 

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am delighted to invite you to become a shareholder in Evolve 
Education, a newly formed company that has been established to acquire existing early childhood 
education businesses. 

Our vision for Evolve Education is for it to become a leading provider of early childhood education in 
New Zealand.  We believe that we can achieve this through adopting an approach of providing high 
quality education and childcare services through the curriculum we will teach, the educators we will 
train and the learning environments we will create. 

The early childhood education sector in New Zealand represents an attractive investment opportunity.  
Demand for childcare continues to strengthen year-on-year, driven by underlying trends, such as 
increasing female participation in the labour force, rising household income levels and continued 
Government support.  

Evolve Education is well-positioned to benefit from offering both centre-based and home-based 
education and childcare, as we will have the capability to offer parents and caregivers the choice 
about the type of service in which they think their child will flourish.  We will also look to leverage the 
collective expertise of the combined entities to promote and pursue best practice in early childhood 
education.  I believe that this is fundamental to establishing Evolve Education as a leading provider of 
education to young children. 

Evolve Education Group has initially contracted to acquire 85 early childhood education centres and 
91 home-based education licences located throughout New Zealand to form the initial portfolio and will 
be headlined by two established New Zealand ECE brands in Lollipops Educare and PORSE.  These 
brands have been providing childcare for over 15 years and provide invaluable knowledge and 
expertise in the sector.  Notably, the ability to leverage off Lollipops Educare’s existing operating 
platform significantly mitigates integration risks, which will be a key focus of our team over the next few 
months. 

Our Board and management team are confident in the Evolve Education business strategy and 
believe we can successfully execute our plan for growth.  We will aim to continue to grow organically 
through providing childcare services that are enjoyed by children and truly valued by their parents / 
caregivers.  Additionally, the highly fragmented nature of the industry provides scope to increase scale 
of the service offering beyond the initial portfolio and leverage efficiencies in the business. 

This Offer Document contains a significant amount of information about Evolve Education and the 
sector in which we will operate, along with important information in relation to the Offer.  I encourage 
you to read this Offer Document in its entirety and carefully consider the risks which are described in 
Section 5. 

On behalf of the Board and management team, we are confident about the future prospects for Evolve 
Education and look forward to welcoming you as a shareholder. 

Yours sincerely, 

 

Norah Barlow 

Chair 

Evolve Education Group Limited  
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3. Investment Highlights 
The investment highlights in this section should be read in conjunction with other parts of this Offer 
Document, including the risks set out in Section 5 Risks. 

1.  Underlying economic indicators are supportive of industry growth 
 

 Early childhood education (ECE) has been shown to positively affect a child’s literacy, 
numeracy and problem-solving skills

11
, and demand for ECE services has increased 

consistently from 2000 to 2013. 

 

ECE Industry Growth Indicators 

Enrolments in ECE services
12

  Average hours spent in ECE per week 

 

 

 
 

Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Enrolments in ECE, Education Counts - Hours of participation in ECE. Data 

as at June 2013, last updated March 2014 

 

 This growth has been driven by a number of favourable economic drivers: 

  Increased female employment and higher rates of participation; 

  Stronger household income levels; 

  Increased Government funding in ECE services; and 

  Sustained population growth for children under 6 years old across New Zealand. 

 

  

                                                      

11
 “Participation in ECE” paper, pg 2. Stated source: OECD, 2011, Statistics NZ and Ministry of Pacific Island Affairs, 2010, and 

Whylie et al, 2009. 

12
 Excludes number of enrolments in correspondence schools, casual education & care and hospital based care. 
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2. Supportive Government policies provide cashflow stability 

 Government funding is expected to represent approximately 69% of Evolve Education’s 
revenue.  This provides some confidence around the business’ cashflow, assuming continuity 
of Government funding, along similar lines as has historically been the case. 

New Zealand Government ECE funding ($m) 

  

Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure. Data as at June 2013, last updated May 2014 

 

 The New Zealand Government has acknowledged the importance of ECE both in terms of 
support to working parents and developmental benefits to children

13
.  

 From 2007 to 2013, funding has increased 145% as the Government has further increased its 
support of ECE with significant funding boosts, primarily through the introduction of 20 Hours 
ECE in June 2007

14
. 

 

  

                                                      

13
 Ministry of Education, “Participation in ECE” paper. 

14
 Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure. Data as at June 2013, last updated May 2014. 
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3.  New Zealand ECE market is highly fragmented which provides an opportunity to 
consolidate and derive efficiencies 

 

 Evolve Education’s ECE Centres are expected to comprise approximately 4% of the ECE 

Centre market. Evolve Education’s Home-based Licences are expected to comprise 

approximately 25% of the Home-based Licence market
15

.   

 Consolidation of individual or small groups of centres into a unified corporate structure offers 
distinct advantages to the existing fragmented structure if risks relating to integration of the 
centres can be managed. This is discussed further in Section 4.2.3.2 Driving efficiencies and 
improving the education experience and in Section 5 Risks.  In addition, there are risks 
associated with Evolve Education’s limited operating history, which are also discussed in 
Section 5 Risks. 

Evolve Education’s share of the ECE Centre 
market (number of ECE Centres) 

 Evolve Education’s share of the Home-based 
ECE Market (number of Home-based 

Licences) 

 
 

 

 
Source: Evolve Education / Ministry of Education, Education Counts – Number of ECE services. Excludes casual education & 

care and hospital based care. Data as at June 2013, last updated April 2014 

  

                                                      

15
 Evolve Education / Ministry of Education, Education Counts – Number of ECE services. Excludes casual education & care, 

and hospital based care. Data as at June 2013, last updated April 2014. 
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4.  Evolve Education aims to operate a portfolio of high quality early childhood education 
services 

 Evolve Education will be built around a solid foundation of ECE brands, including Lollipops 
Educare and PORSE, which operate in the ECE Centre and Home-based ECE categories, 
respectively.   

 Offering both centre-based and home-based ECE gives parents and caregivers the option to 
choose which type of ECE service best suits their child’s learning and care needs. 

 

ECE service Brand 

ECE Centres 

     

Home-based ECE 

     

 

 Evolve Education has agreed to acquire 55 additional ECE Centres from 39 separate vendors. 
The number of ECE Centres being sold by each vendor ranges from one to nine ECE 
Centres.  Evolve Education has contracted to acquire these ECE Centres through the 
application of selection criteria, further details of which are set out in Section 4.2.3 Business 
Model. 

 The result will be a portfolio of ECE service providers and brands with the following key 
metrics. 

Summary metrics for Initial Portfolio
16

 ECE Centres Home-based ECE 

FY16F Revenue ($ millions) 105.1 30.0 

Number of ECE Centres / Home-based 
Licences

17
 

85 91 

Number of Licensed Child Places
18

 5,954 7,280 

FY16F MOE occupancy
19

 87.0% NA 

  

                                                      

16
 See table under the heading “Key drivers of profitability” in Section 4.2 Business Description for further explanation of these 

metrics. 

17
 A Home-based Licence refers to the licence required for a Home-based ECE service provider to provide ECE services to a 

specified number of children.  Typically, one Home-based Licence would be for 80 Licensed Child Places. 

18
 Specified number of child places that represents the regulatory limit on the number of children that can attend an ECE service 

at any one time. 

19
 The total Ministry of Education funded child hours attended, as a percentage of the maximum funded hours available 

(licensed capacity x 30hours/week). 
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5. Business model focused on achieving efficiencies and growth to support quality ECE 
service delivery 

 Evolve Education’s business model is focused on three key aspects: 

 

 

1. Establishment of a high quality portfolio.  The Initial Portfolio coupled with a corporate support 

structure based around Lollipops Educare’s existing infrastructure will provide a platform for future 

growth.  

2. Driving efficiencies and improving the education experience. Streamlining systems and 

operations, continuing development for teachers and facilitating administration and compliance 

activity, all allow educators to remain focused on the core service delivery in the centres they 

operate.   

3. Growth through acquisitions and other initiatives. Evolve Education will be a relevant industry 

participant and have the ability to further extend its national presence.  This is intended to be 

achieved through both organic and acquisition growth. 

For further information on Evolve Education’s growth strategy see Section 4.2.3.3 Growth through 
acquisitions and other initiatives. 
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6.  Evolve Education team capable of executing growth strategy 

 The Evolve Education team, led by Alan Wham, is highly experienced and equipped to 

execute Evolve Education’s integration plan and growth strategy. 

 Overall, the combined team is balanced to provide the required skills including detailed 

knowledge of the ECE industry and commercial experience, combined with experience in 

integrating businesses into a successful operating model. 

For details on the experience of the Directors and for further details on the experience of the 

senior management team see Section 6.1 Evolve Education’s Board of Directors and Section 6.2 

Evolve Education’s Senior Management Team. 
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4. About Evolve Education 

4.1 Industry Overview – Early Childhood Education in New 
Zealand 

4.1.1 What is the Early Childhood Education industry in New Zealand? 

The early childhood education (ECE) industry in New Zealand provides care and early childhood 
education to children until they attend primary school.  ECE has been shown to positively affect a 
child’s literacy, numeracy and problem-solving skills

20
.  Demand for ECE services has been increasing 

consistently over the 2000 to 2013 period as the level of female workforce participation increases, 
Government support of the industry has risen and household income levels have increased. 

Services Provided 

Licensed ECE services in New Zealand provide education and care services to children until they 
attend primary school, from both purpose-built facilities and home-based locations.  The industry can 
be divided into two distinct forms of service, being teacher-led services and parent-led services. 

Teacher-led 
services 

A teacher-led ECE service is one where one or more ECE qualified and registered 
teachers are responsible for the overall programme in the ECE service. A qualified 
teacher would have a Diploma of Teaching in ECE or an equivalent qualification. A wide 
range of ECE services are led by teachers, ranging from kindergarten to private ECE 
services and home-based ECE services

21
. 

Parent-led 
services 

In parent-led services, the parents or caregivers of the children are primarily responsible 
for implementing the curriculum and working with the children. The parents or caregivers 
may manage the ECE service. Parent-led ECE services do not usually employ teachers 
and do not have to meet the teacher registration requirements

22
. 

The total number of licensed ECE services in New Zealand has grown from approximately 3,370 in 
2000 to approximately 4,250 in 2013, representing a compound annual growth rate of 1.8%.  This 
growth has been driven by teacher-led services, which have grown by approximately 3% per annum 
since 2000, and now comprise nearly 80% of licensed ECE services in New Zealand.  In contrast, the 
number of parent-led services has declined 1.5% per annum since 2000 and now there are only 917 
licensed services throughout New Zealand

23
.  This trend has been driven by the increasing number of 

families where both parents work and the increased affordability of teacher-led services due to 
Government funding and higher household incomes (see Section 4.1.2 Industry growth and demand 
drivers for further detail on industry growth). 

Evolve Education’s Initial Portfolio will only comprise teacher-led services.  Management believe the 
long-term growth in teacher-led services will continue and have therefore positioned Evolve Education 
to focus on this segment of the industry. 

 

                                                      

20
 Ministry of Education, “Participation in ECE”. Stated source: OECD, 2011, Statistics NZ and Ministry of Pacific Island Affairs, 

2010, and Whylie et al, 2009). 

21
 20 Hours ECE Information and Guidance for Parents – Oct 12. 

22
 20 Hours ECE Information and Guidance for Parents – Oct 12. 

23
 Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Number of ECE services. Excludes casual education & care and hospital based 

care.  Data as at June 2013, last updated April 2014. 
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Number of licensed ECE services in New Zealand by group
24

 

 Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Number of ECE services.  Excludes casual education & care and hospital 

based care.   Data as at June 2013, last updated April 2014 

Teacher-led services employ a number of different models, including early childhood education 
centres (ECE Centres) and home-based early childhood education (Home-based ECE).  Descriptions 
of each of these models and key New Zealand industry metrics are set out in the table below:   

Service type Description 
Key metrics as at 30 

June 2013 
   

ECE Centres 

 Generally private or community owned, ECE Centres offer all 
day or part-day ECE services and depending on the centre 
may accept children from birth to school age 

 At least 50% of the teachers working as educators at the ECE 
Centre must be registered teachers who hold a Diploma in 
Teaching (ECE) or equivalent 

 The number of licensed places per ECE Centre varies 
depending on the size and facilities in the ECE Centre, but is 
on average, 44 Licensed Child Places with a maximum of 150 
Licensed Child Places 

# ECE Centres: 2,332 

# licensed places: 
102,287 

Average occupancy: 
80% 

Average participation 
hours / week: 24.7 

Home-based 
ECE 

 This service involves an Educator providing services to a small 
group of children in a home setting and is supported by a 
registered teacher coordinator who oversees the children’s 
learning progress 

 Provides all day or part day education and care and may also 
provide emergency care 

 A service provider is an agency or person who arranges / 
manages education and care for the children and is the holder 
of the licence.  The Home-based ECE service provider can 
operate a maximum of 80 child places for each licence 

# licences: 359 

# licensed places: 
26,281 

Average participation 
hours / week: 22.9 

Kindergartens 

 Most kindergartens offer services to children between two and 
five years with session times provided separately for older and 
younger children or all day care sessions 

 For kindergartens that offer morning and afternoon sessions, all 
teachers must be registered teachers who hold a Diploma in 
Teaching (ECE) or equivalent 

 Kindergartens are members of kindergarten associations which 
are community based 

# services: 643 

# licensed places: 
24,949 

Occupancy: 85% 

Average participation 
hours / week: 16.7 

Source: Ministry of Education – Choices in early childhood education, Education Counts – Number of ECE services as at June 

2013, Education Counts – Number of licensed ECE places as at June 2013, Education Counts – Hours of participation in ECE 

as at June 2013, Education Counts – Occupancy rates as at June 2013 

Evolve Education’s Initial Portfolio will only include ECE Centres and Home-based ECE services, 
which have been the highest growth teacher-led business models since 2000.  ECE Centres currently 
comprise 55% of the licensed New Zealand ECE market, while licensed Home-based ECE represents 

                                                      

24
 The fall in the number of licensed services does not reflect a real decline in the sector. It reflects a change to licensing rules in 

July 2011, where the maximum number of places any one service could be licensed for, increased from 50 to 150. As a result, 
over 250 services decided to merge their previously separate services. 
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8% of the market.  These two models have grown at 3.6% per annum and 5.3% per annum 
respectively and now comprise a significantly larger portion of the industry than they did in 2000, as 
indicated below: 

Number of teacher- vs parent-led ECE Services 

Year 2000  Year 2013 

 

 

 

 

ECE Centres 1,472 
 

2,332 (3.6% annual growth since 2000) 

Home-based ECE 183 
 

359 (5.3% annual growth since 2000) 

Kindergarten 600 
 

643 (0.5% annual growth since 2000) 

Parent-led 1,114 
 

917 (1.5% annual decline since 2000) 

Total 3,369 
 

4,251 (1.8% annual growth) 
 

Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Number of ECE services. Excludes casual education & care and hospital 

based care. Data as at June 2013, last updated April 2014 

Regulation 
 
The Ministry of Education regulates all ECE services in New Zealand.  The Ministry of Education 
issues licences and provides funding to ECE service providers that meet minimum standards set by 
the Government to ensure the health, comfort, care, education and safety of the children attending

25
.  

Licensing criteria for ECE services
26

 

 All ECE service providers are regulated by the Ministry of Education and must meet the 

minimum standards of education and care described in the Education (Early Childhood Services) 

Regulations 2008 in order to hold a licence and receive Government funding. 

 The licensing criteria covers four main areas: 

  Curriculum 

o The curriculum must be consistent with any curriculum framework prescribed by the 

Ministry of Education, provide a positive learning environment with an understanding of 

and respect for other cultures, and collaborate with the family. 

                                                      

25
 Education (Early Childhood Services) Regulations 2008, part 2 subpart 1. 

26
 Education (Early Childhood Services) Regulations 2008. 
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  Premises and facilities 

o The premises and facilities must provide sufficient and suitable space for a range of 

activities, food preparation, eating, sleeping, storage, toileting and washing, as well as 

sufficient and suitable heating, lighting, noise control, ventilation, and equipment. 

  Health and safety 

o The ECE service provider must take all reasonable steps to promote the good health 

and safety of children and take precautions to prevent accidents and the spread of 

infection.  The ECE service provider must also ensure that the premises and equipment 

are kept in good repair and maintained regularly.  Appropriate emergency procedures 

need to be in place. 

  Governance, management and administration 

o The ECE service provider must maintain effective governance and management, and 

regular collaboration with parents and families.  Appropriate documentation and 

information about the operations must be made available to parents and / or families of 

enrolled children.  Staff must be provided with adequate support, development 

opportunities and resources. 

 For all ECE services, the person responsible must hold a recognised qualification and for 

teacher-led services, 50% of the required staff must hold a recognised qualification. 

 Adult to child ratios vary depending on the type of service, length of session, age of children and 

number of children attending e.g. 1 staff member per 5 children under 2 years old for an all-day 

centre-based service. 

 ECE Centre services may have no more than 150 children aged 2 and over, 25 children aged 

under 2, 50 children with mixed range of ages and 16 children overnight.  Home-based ECE 

services may have no more than 80 children per licence. 

 ECE Centre services must have 2.5m
2
 per child indoors and 5m

2
 per child outdoors.  Home-

based ECE services must have 2.5m
2
 per child indoors and some outdoor space. 

Government Support of Early Childhood Education 

The New Zealand Government has been supportive of the wider education sector and the ECE 

industry through its public funding.  In 2011, New Zealand ranked 3
rd

 equal out of the OECD countries 

for Government expenditure on all levels of education as a percentage of GDP
 27

.  In 2009, New 

Zealand had the 7
th
 highest public expenditure on ECE as a proportion of total public expenditure for 

OECD countries
28

.   

As at June 2013, Government funding for education was $12.5 billion and of this, 11% was allocated 

to the ECE industry, which was a Government contribution of $1.36 billion
29

. 

                                                      

27
 OECD Education at a Glance 2014. 

28
 Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE Expenditure Indicator Report. 

29
 Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure. Data as at June 2013, last updated May 2014. 
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  Portion of education funding allocated to ECE 

 

 
  Source: Financial Statements of the Government of New Zealand for the year end June 2013 

The Government funding has encouraged participation in, and the supply of, ECE services.  Licensed 

ECE service providers are funded by the Government through a number of initiatives but 

predominantly through the ECE Funding Subsidy and 20 Hours ECE
30

. 

ECE Funding Subsidy 

The ECE Funding Subsidy is the primary form of Government funding for licensed ECE services.  This 

subsidy contributes to an ECE service’s operating costs by paying a fixed sum for each hour that a 

child spends in ECE, up to a maximum of six hours per day, and up to 30 hours per week.  There are 

separate funding subsidy rates for teacher-led and parent-led services for children aged under two, 

and children aged two and over. 

20 Hours ECE 

20 Hours ECE is a programme fully funded by the Government that enables children to attend ECE 

services for up to six hours per day, and up to 20 hours per week free of charge.  All children three 

years and above are entitled to receive 20 Hours ECE up to the point where they attend school. 

Children eligible for 20 Hours ECE are also entitled to receive an additional 10 hours per week 

subsidised ECE as part of the ECE Funding Subsidy programme. 

Prior to the implementation of 20 Hours ECE, Government funding for ECE was $555 million (or 6% of 

total education funding in New Zealand) for the year ended June 2007 and as at June 2013 this figure 

was approximately $1.36 billion (or 11% of total education funding), up 145%.  Of this, 20 Hours ECE 

makes up nearly 60% of total ECE funding
31

. 

Funding that is received by ECE service providers depends on a range of factors, including: 

 The type of ECE service provided; 

 The number of qualified teachers employed by the ECE service provider; 

 The quality of education provided; and 

 The age of the child. 

                                                      

30
 ECE Funding Handbook – Glossary. 

31
 Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure. Data as at June 2013, last updated May 2014. 

Other education
89%

ECE
11%



 

 

  23 

The Government attempts to encourage ECE services that offer more quality education and care by 

providing higher funding rates to services with more qualified teachers.  In June 2011, a Government-

commissioned independent advisory ECE Taskforce published a report on the Government’s 

investment in ECE in New Zealand.  The report highlighted the importance of quality ECE in New 

Zealand and recommended that the Government take action in the coming years to raise the quality of 

ECE.  Key messages from the report included
32

: 

 An impressive body of research evidence confirms that returns from quality ECE are high and long 

lasting.  Therefore, this is one of the most important investments a country can make. 

 Early investments in citizens will increase their ability to contribute to society as productive adults, 

equipped and willing to give more than they take. 

 Due to economic pressures and changing patterns of workforce participation by parents of very 

young children, in the coming years an important and sizeable shift will be needed to meet 

demand for places for one-to-two year olds and ensure they can access quality ECE. 

 Funding and regulatory mechanisms must be reformed in ways that drive up and reward the 

provision of higher quality services. 

Fees 

Fees received by ECE service providers come from two primary sources: 

 Fees received from the Government through 20 Hours ECE and ECE Funding Subsidy; and 

 Fees received directly from parents and caregivers for enrolment hours not subsidised by the 

Government, and for the payment for optional services offered by the ECE service provider, 

beyond the standard regulation requirement. 

A condition of receiving 20 Hours ECE funding from the Government is that for eligible children the 

ECE service provider cannot charge parents or caregivers fees for any hours which are claimed as 20 

Hours ECE funding, irrespective of the quality of service provided
33

.  Hours additional to those claimed 

as 20 Hours ECE, but within 30 hours per week are partially subsidised through Government 

subsidies and partially funded by the parents or caregivers.  Enrolment hours above 30 hours per 

week will be entirely funded by parents or caregivers.  Unlike the Government-subsidised hours, the 

level of fees charged to parents or caregivers for non-subsidised hours are at the discretion of the 

ECE service provider
34

.   

However, ECE service providers can earn additional revenue during Government-subsidised hours 

through requesting optional charges for ECE Centre services above the required minimum standard 

level.  Higher quality providers would typically provide more of these optional charges services.  

Optional charges for additional services can only be requested for: 

 The services provided that are not required by regulation, such as meals, extra-curricular 

activities, excursions and nappies; 

 Additional staff beyond the minimum regulated adult / child ratios; and 

 Items that parents may either provide for their own children or pay for the service to provide. 

                                                      

32
 An Agenda for Amazing Children, Final Report of the ECE Taskforce, June 2011. 

33
 20 Hours ECE Information and Guidance for Parents – Oct 12. 

34
 ECE Funding Handbook – Chapter 4: 20 Hours ECE. 



 

 

  24 

4.1.2 Industry growth and demand drivers 

The ECE industry has shown positive historical growth, which has been supported by a number of 

fundamental drivers. 

As indicated in the diagrams below, since 2000, the number of ECE enrolments and the average time 

spent in ECE per child have both shown consistent and stable growth.  This has been driven by 

increasing female employment, higher average household incomes, population growth and increases 

in Government ECE funding. 

Industry growth indicators and drivers 

 

Note:  Growth reflects per annum growth rate from 2000 - 2013 except for female labour participation (2000 - 2014) and 

Government ECE subsidies (2002 - 2013). 

Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Enrolments in ECE, Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Hours of 

participation in ECE, Statistics New Zealand, Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure 

These growth indicators and drivers are discussed in further detail in the following sections. 

Industry Growth 

Number of ECE enrolments 

The number of children enrolled in ECE services has grown significantly since the year 2000, up 31% 

to approximately 200,000 children in 2013
35

.  This growth has been led by Home-based ECE and ECE 

Centres, which have grown at an annual rate of 5.9% and 4.3% respectively over this period.  In 2013, 

ECE Centres represented 62% of the industry, which is a significant increase from 47% in 2000, while 

Home-based ECE increased from 6% to 9%
36

. 

                                                      

35
 Excludes enrolments in correspondence services. 

36 
Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Enrolments in ECE. Data as at June 2013, last updated March 2014.
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The reduction in kindergarten enrolments is due to a shift in the services offered from sessional to all-

day services, resulting in the number of enrolments falling and the average hours of enrolment rising
37

.  

Number of enrolments in licensed ECE services (000s) 

 
 

Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Enrolments in ECE. Data as at June 2013, last updated March 2014 

Time spent in ECE  

Time spent by children in ECE per week has been increasing since 2000 and now, on average, a child 

enrolled in ECE spends 21.7 hours in ECE per week, up from 13.5 hours in 2000.  Notably, in 2000 

only 17% of children spent over 21 hours per week in ECE, while in 2013 this percentage was 42%
38

. 

Average weekly enrolment hours 

    
 

Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Hours of participation in ECE. Data as at June 2013, last updated March 

2014 

Demand drivers for ECE services 

Female employment and labour participation 

Women entering the workforce are a significant contributing factor of demand for ECE services.  The 

number of females employed in New Zealand has increased by 34% since 2000 to 1.1 million women 

in March 2014.  Female participation in the labour force is currently at 64%, having increased from 

57% in 2000
39

.   

                                                      

37
 MOE “Participation in early childhood education”. 

38 
Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Hours of participation in ECE. Data as at June 2013, last updated March 2014. 

39
 Statistics New Zealand: Key Labour Force Measures by Qualification, Age and Sex. Extracted 5 August 2014. 
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Female employment and participation by quarter (ending March 2014) 

 
 

Source: Statistics New Zealand: Key Labour Force Measures by Qualification, Age and Sex. Extracted 5 August 2014 

The increase in female labour participation is associated with the affordability of childcare costs.  The 

Ministry of Women’s Affairs recently conducted a review of the evidence about the labour participation 

of mothers in response to changes in early childhood costs
40

.  This review found that there is a 

general consensus that labour force participation among mothers of pre-school children is sensitive to 

childcare costs. 

Household income 

Along with the introduction of 20 Hours ECE, an increase in household income over the past 13 years 

has made ECE services more affordable for New Zealand families.  Average and median wage and 

salary income has grown at a compound annual growth rate of 5.0% and 5.1% respectively since 

2000.  This is significantly above the CPI compound annual growth rate of 2.6%, indicating that 

household incomes can buy more goods and services than they could 13 years ago
41

. 

New Zealand weekly household income levels ($) 

 
Source: Statistics New Zealand 

                                                      

40
 Ministry of Women's Affairs - The labour participation response of mothers to changes in early childhood education costs. July 

2012. 

41
 Statistics New Zealand. 
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Population 

Population is a major driver of ECE enrolments.  From 2000 to 2013 the population of under six-year-

olds grew 8.4%.  Of this growth, the population of children aged above two grew by 9.4% with 

meaningful positive growth occurring from 2007 to 2013
42

.  

Population of children under six (000) 

  

Source:  Statistics New Zealand 

Government funding 

Government funding of ECE increased by over 350% between 2002 and 2013, reflecting the 

Government’s increased focus on the development of this sector.  Growth in ECE funding accelerated 

in 2008 following the introduction of 20 Hours ECE, but slowed in 2010 when the average hours spent 

by children in ECE services reached 20.  20 Hours ECE now represents 59% of the Government’s 

total entitlement funding in the ECE sector
43

. 

ECE entitlement funding ($m) 

  

Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure. Data as at June 2013, last updated May 2014 

Across the various ECE services, ECE Centres and kindergartens have received the largest increases 

in Government funding rates per child.  This is largely due to the fact that 20 Hours ECE applies 

primarily to the three year to five year child age bracket rather than the below three year child age 

bracket.  In the last 11 years, overall funding rates have increased approximately 9% annually on a 

                                                      

42
 Statistics New Zealand. Population by age. 

43
 Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure. Data as at June 2013, last updated May 2014. 
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per child basis across all ECE services, with a substantial amount of the increase resulting from the 

introduction of the 20 Hours ECE programme
44

. 

ECE entitlement funding rates per child funded hour ($) 

 
 

Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure. Data as at June 2013, last updated May 2014. Funding 

includes 20 Hours ECE, under 2 and over 2 subsidised funding and equity funding 

Government support of ECE services has occurred irrespective of which major political party has been 
in Government.  

                                                      

44
 Ministry of Education, Education Counts – ECE expenditure. Data as at June 2013, last updated May 2014. 
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4.1.3 Market fragmentation  

The New Zealand ECE industry consists of approximately 4,250 licensed public and private ECE 

services. 

Evolve Education’s primary focus will be on teacher-led ECE services which make up just under 80% 

of all ECE services
45

.  

The ECE service market is highly fragmented, with the majority of the industry being comprised of 

smaller operators, of which many are single site service providers.  Evolve Education considers the 

key industry participants in the ECE Centre market to be Kidicorp and Kindercare, and the key 

industry participants in the Home-based ECE market to be Barnardos, Footsteps Education, Paua and 

Home Grown Kids. 

Evolve Education’s ECE Centres are expected to comprise approximately 4% of the ECE Centre 

market and approximately 6% of the total Licensed Child Places within the ECE Centre market. On 

average, an ECE Centre has 44 Licensed Child Places whereas Evolve Education will, on average, 

have 70 Licensed Child Places per ECE Centre. This larger than average capacity is a reflection of 

Evolve Education’s acquisition criteria one of which was to acquire ECE Centres that are purpose built 

or recently renovated.  A larger ECE Centre is more profitable given that it provides ECE services to 

more children with similar costs structures to a smaller ECE Centre. The average ECE Centre size has 

been increasing for a number of years since maximum Licensed Child Capacity was increased from 

50 to 150 children and purpose built facilities replaced smaller ECE Centres typically in converted 

houses. 

Evolve Education’s Home-based Licences are expected to comprise approximately 25% of the Home-

based Licence market
46

. 

Teacher-led vs parent-led ECE services  Teacher-led ECE Services 

 

 

  

                                                      

45
 Ministry of Education, Education Counts – Number of ECE services. Excludes casual education & care and hospital based 

care. Data as at June 2013, last updated April 2014. 

46
 Evolve Education / Ministry of Education, Education Counts – Number of ECE services and Number of Licensed Places as at 

June 2013. Excludes casual education & care and hospital based care. 

Teacher-led
78%

Parent-led
22%
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Evolve Education’s Market Share 

 

ECE Centre Market  

(Number of ECE Centres) 

 ECE Centre Market  

(Number of Licensed Child Places) 

 

 

 
Home-based ECE Market  

(Number of Home-based ECE Licences) 

  

  

  

Source: Evolve Education / Ministry of Education, Education Counts – Number of ECE services and Number of Licensed 
Places, as at June 2013. Excludes casual education & care and hospital based care 

The industry fragmentation presents an attractive opportunity for aggregation.  Consolidation of 

smaller operators into a unified corporate structure offers distinct advantages to the existing 

fragmented structure, including: 

 Improved service offering through the introduction of best practice guidelines and advanced 

teacher training programmes; 

 Cost efficiencies with operational support, teacher development and curriculum as well as some 

procurement synergies; and 

 Aggregation across centre-based and home-based services to provide choice for parents where 

children may move from Home-based ECE services to an ECE Centre. 
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4.2 Business Description 

The purpose of Evolve Education is to provide a high quality early childhood education service which 
gives parents and caregivers the option of which service best suits their child’s learning and care 
needs. 

Evolve Education will acquire two leading ECE service providers being Lollipops Educare and 
PORSE, as well as smaller ECE businesses that will provide education and care to children from birth 
to primary school.  Together, the Evolve Education Group will look to leverage its combined expertise 
and scale to provide quality ECE services covering ECE Centre and Home-based ECE services. 

For investors, Evolve Education will provide exposure to New Zealand’s growing ECE industry.  
Evolve Education has entered into contracts to acquire Lollipops Educare (which owns and operates 
30 ECE Centres), an additional 55 ECE Centres and the Home-based ECE service of PORSE.  
Proceeds from the Offer, along with bank finance, will be used to fund these acquisitions and also to 
position the Evolve Education Group to pursue further acquisition opportunities. 

Location of Initial Portfolio 

 

 
 
Source: Evolve Education 

 
Lollipops Educare, PORSE, the Additional Owned ECE Centres and the other related businesses to 
be acquired by Evolve Education will, on completion of its acquisition, be owned by Evolve Education 
or a wholly owned subsidiary of Evolve Education.  
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4.2.1 Portfolio of leading ECE brands 

Evolve Education is a newly established childcare business that will be built around a solid foundation 

of existing ECE brands in both the ECE Centre and Home-based ECE categories.  The key ECE 

Centre brand will be Lollipops Educare and the key Home-based ECE brand will be PORSE, which 

have both been providing high quality education and care services in New Zealand for many years. 

 

Following listing, Evolve Education will look to leverage the collective expertise of its operations to 

promote and pursue best practice in ECE across the Evolve Education Group.  Nevertheless, Evolve 

Education currently intends that each Owned ECE Centre will to the extent practicable retain its 

existing branding and trading name.  Evolve Education intends to introduce its branding only at the 

corporate level, allowing the Owned ECE Centres to maintain their existing local presence and 

goodwill. 

 

Following listing, it is expected Evolve Education Group’s Initial Portfolio will have 85 licensed ECE 
Centres

47
 and 91 Home-based Licences

48
 across its ECE services. 

This Initial Portfolio is presented below.  

Evolve Education’s Initial Portfolio 

Number of Owned ECE 

Centres / Home-based ECE 

Licences 

Licensed Child Places FY16F revenue
49

 

   

Home-based ECE: 91 home licences Home-based ECE: 7,280 Home-based ECE: $30.0m 

Owned ECE Centres: 85 centres Owned ECE Centres: 5,954 Owned ECE Centres: $105.1m 

Source: Evolve Education 

 

                                                      

47
 Evolve Education will not own any freehold land. 

48
 76 of these Home-based Licences are held by PORSE.  One Home-based Licence provides the ability to operate 

approximately 80 child places across a group of homes (typically 1 - 4 children per home).  

49
 Excludes approximately $1.1 million of corporate revenue (commissions, consulting, courses and seminars, teacher 

registration, sundry income and web hosting) and management fees, franchise fees and royalties. 
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52%
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Overview of Lollipops Educare  

Founded in 1997, Lollipops Educare has grown to become a recognised 
leader in New Zealand’s ECE sector with nationwide operations. The Lollipops 
Educare ECE Centre at Auckland Airport was to be the first of 14 new centres 
licensed between 1997 and 2004. 

In 2004, Mark Finlay and Russell Thompson (franchise owners themselves) purchased the business 
and have grown it to where it is today. 

The original franchise concept of ‘owner-operated community services under the support of a group 
umbrella’ remains a core philosophy within the business. 

Lollipops Educare offers modern purpose-built facilities, professional qualified staff and high staff to 
child ratios.  All centres are required to provide nutritious meals – mostly from an in-house kitchen.  In 
addition, all staff are supported with regular opportunities to attend professional development courses 
and in-house training.  Across the 30 ECE Centres that Evolve Education will acquire, Lollipops 
Educare currently provides childcare and education to approximately 2,500 children nationwide and 
has approximately 750 staff. 

 

Overview of PORSE 

PORSE currently provides home-based care and education for over 5,000 
children.  PORSE also offers accredited training services. 

With a strong focus on education and training, PORSE is committed to supporting individuals, families 
and communities by using the latest scientific research in early brain development and attachment 
theory to inform programme delivery and address education needs. 

Founded in 1994, PORSE has developed from an initial programme to guide early childhood students 
providing education in family homes to be New Zealand’s largest and longest serving Home-based 
ECE and training provider.  PORSE has 240 staff working across 38 Community Teams across New 
Zealand, supported by a National Support Office based in Hawke’s Bay.  

 

For further information on Lollipops Educare and PORSE see Appendix 1 – Historical Financial 
Information.  For further information on the selection criteria used to select the ECE service providers 
that will comprise the Initial Portfolio see Section 4.2.3.1 Establishment of a high quality portfolio. 

4.2.2 Key drivers of profitability 

Key revenue drivers include the number of Licensed Child Places, child occupancy and Government 
and parent funding.  The major expense drivers are employee expenses, followed by building 
occupancy expenses.  These are summarised in further detail below: 
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Key drivers of profitability  

 Owned ECE Centres Home-based ECE 

Revenue Drivers 

Licensed 

Child Places 

 Each ECE Centre has a specified number of child places 
that represents the regulatory limit on the number of 
children who can attend at any one time 

 Total centre Licensed Child Places for Evolve Education 
will be primarily increased through acquisitions. However 
there is an opportunity to increase places at existing sites 
through optimisation of the built environment in some 
cases 

 Home-based ECE Licences typically provide for 
80 licensed places, which will be allocated across 
homes that typically take between 1 – 4 children 
each 

 As demand for Home-based ECE increases, 
Evolve Education is able to apply for further 
Home-based Licences to expand the number of 
child places it can operate (providing suitable 
homes are available) 

MOE 

Occupancy 

Percentage 

 

 Total number of Ministry of Education funded child hours 
attended, as a percentage of the maximum funded hours 
available (30 hours Ministry of Education funding limit x 
licensed capacity) 

 Occupancy is impacted by a range of factors including 
amount of Ministry of Education funding, quality of service, 
competition factors and economic factors 

 Not applicable 

Funding 

 Key sources of revenue are: 

— Ministry of Education funding, received three times 
a year with 75% in advance 

— Revenue received from parents 

 The number of educators is important to receiving 
Government funding.  An operator must have over 50% of 
educators as registered teachers to receive funding 

 The level of funding increases if the ratio of registered 
teachers is over 80%.  During the Prospective Period, 
Evolve Education expects to have a Qualified Teacher 
Ratio of above 80% for each of its ECE Centres 

 Minimum adult-to-child ratio for ECE Centres vary 
depending on the ages and number of children but is 
typically 1:5 for under 2 years old and 1:10 for over 2 
years old 

 Each Educator can look after four children under 
the age of six 

Expense Drivers 

Employee 
expenses 

 Employee expenses are the largest expense 

 Important to retain qualified teachers and staff, who are 

integral to providing high quality services to the children 

 Employee expenses are the largest expense 

 The educator is contracted by the parent and the 
coordinator (registered teacher responsible for 
validating outcomes) is contracted by Evolve 
Education 

Building 
occupancy 
expenses 

 As Evolve Education will not own any land underlying its 
Owned ECE Centres, property lease expenditure will 
represent the second largest expense item  

 Evolve Education’s leases vary, but the term of the 
majority of leases will be for approximately 15 years or 
more (including rights of renewal)

50
 

 All of the leases are subject to regular price (rent) reviews.  
Typically, the rent will be subject to review annually or bi-
annually to the Consumer Price Index and/or market rent 
reviews at longer intervals 

 The premises will be leased from a variety of owners, 
typically individual operators and family trusts 

 Regional centre building occupancy expense 

Other 
 Governance costs, central office, consumables, insurance, 

marketing, travel and motor vehicle expenses 

 Regional centre costs, training educators, 
governance costs, consumables, insurance, 
marketing, travel and motor vehicle expenses 

 

                                                      

50
 The terms and conditions of each Evolve Education lease also vary, but typically the leases take the Auckland District Law 

Society standard form with some amendments in each case.  As at the date of this Offer Document, the remaining term of the 
leases of the Owned ECE Centres where due diligence has been conducted (excluding any early or short-notice termination 
rights) is as follows (expressed as a percentage of the Owned ECE Centres where due diligence has been conducted) – 
approximately 1% 0-5 years, 12% 5-10 years, 22% 10-15 years, 30% 15-20 years, and 35% 20+ years.  For leases of the 
Owned ECE Centres that are due to expire in less than 15 years, Evolve Education intends to seek the landlord’s agreement to 
add further rights of renewal (or extend the term) up to a minimum of 15 years at the time it seeks the landlord’s consent to the 
assignment of the lease, though any such agreement is at the landlord’s sole and absolute discretion.  
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4.2.3 Business model 

Evolve Education’s business model is focused on achieving efficiencies through the consolidation of 
ECE services into a quality operational platform.   

The model is focused on three key aspects: 

Evolve Education Business Model 

 

Management consider this to be the appropriate model to capitalise on the inefficiencies present in the 
existing highly fragmented market.  Management consider that driving efficiencies and improving the 
overall education experience provided by Evolve Education’s services, coupled with the management 
capability and capital capacity to pursue acquisitions, will provide a platform for growth. 

Each of the three key business model aspects are explained in further detail in the following sections. 

4.2.3.1 Establishment of a high quality portfolio  

This section summarises the process Evolve Education has implemented to establish its Initial 
Portfolio, the key operating metrics and statistics of the Initial Portfolio, and the key drivers of 
profitability for the Initial Portfolio. 

Initial Portfolio selection process 

A disciplined approach has been undertaken to select the ECE service providers that will comprise the 
Initial Portfolio, which includes applying a set acquisition criteria to the possible targets, due diligence 
and site visits.   



 

 

  36 

ECE Centre selection and acquisition process 

 

 

Key acquisition criteria 

The key criteria for selection of ECE Centres is an integral step in the acquisition process and forms 
the basis for being able to evaluate the potential acquisition targets for suitability.  The table below 
sets out the five key acquisition criteria that Evolve Education has considered or will consider in its 
portfolio selection. Judgement is applied to the relative importance placed on each of these criteria, 
depending on the particular centre characteristics. 

Criteria ECE Centres 

Profitability 
 Efficient and profitable operations that can be maintained and improved through 

Evolve Education management 

Location  

 Locations with high demand for ECE services and areas with future growth 
opportunity 

 Targeted areas to create efficiency through operational clusters of ECE Centres 
throughout New Zealand 

Physical 

environment 

 Generally targeted purpose built or recently renovated premises 

 These well-maintained facilities offer a nurturing environment for children and 
generally limited capital expenditure upon acquisition 

Capability of 

staff 

 All acquisitions include educational teams achieving the 80%+ registered teacher 
funding ratio  

 Educators are qualified and relate well to parents, children and the wider 
community 

Occupancy 
 Occupancy levels are consistently at high levels, indicating customer satisfaction 

and demand for the quality of service being offered 

 
In addition to the profitability, occupancy and capability of staff criteria discussed above, the following 
criteria were also used to select key Home-based ECE services: 

 Larger organisations with more than 500 children in the network; and 

 Well-developed operational systems in place. 

Total number of ECE Centres considered 

Excluding Lollipops Educare centres, a total of 112 centres were considered in detail.  Of these, 55 
were selected and successfully negotiated to contract. 



 

 

  37 

There were a number of reasons for ECE Centres not being successfully contracted, such as: 

 Analysis identified operational performance did not meet the mandate for Evolve Education; 

 Location did not support efficient operation or development of a cluster of ECE Centres; 

 Contract negotiation could not reach agreement between the parties; and 

 The vendor withdrew the business from market. 

Due diligence process 

The due diligence phase is a very important part of the acquisition process.  Due diligence is where 
Evolve Education seeks to determine the suitability of each business for inclusion in the Initial 
Portfolio.  Evolve Education has conducted a robust and detailed diligence process covering 
operational, financial and legal aspects of each acquisition. This has included the analysis of: 

 Area demographics, population growth expectations and labour force analysis; 

 Location factors, which involves an assessment of the centre’s proximity to primary schools and 
major hubs of employment; 

 Competitive landscape, including research on the number of competitor centres within a certain 
distance, relative fee structure, services offered and capacity; 

 Quality of the physical site including the building, property and facilities; 

 Historical, current and projected financial and operational performance; and 

 Leases, licences, resource consents and other important contracts. 

Evolve Education’s management team will maintain a focus on the improvement of its key profitability 
drivers through a range of operational strategies and initiatives.  One particular area of focus for 
Evolve Education will be on the design and feel of its physical locations and the quality of service 
provided by its staff.  Management consider this to be important to drive increases in occupancy and 
the daily rate it can charge, and will therefore look to upgrade certain facilities and introduce advanced 
training programmes for staff.  

Specific risks relating to the Initial Portfolio, including relating to due diligence are set out in Section 5 
Risks. 

Key operating metrics and statistics 

Evolve Education Group has contracted to acquire 85 Owned ECE Centres and 91 Home-based 
Licences as shown in the table below. 
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Summary of Initial Portfolio 

ECE services 

 
Owned ECE 

Centres Home-based ECE 
Other 

Total Evolve 
Education 

A FY16F Revenue $105.1m $30.0m $1.1m
51

 $136.2m 

A FY16F EBITDA $27.5m $3.0m $(4.8m)
52

 $25.7m 

A Number of Owned 
ECE Centres / 
Home-based 
Licences 

85 91 

- 

176 

A Number of Licensed 
Child Places 

5,954 7,280 
- 

13,234 

A FY16F MOE 
occupancy

53
 

87.0% NA 
- 

NA 

A Employee expenses 
ratio

54
 

52.5% 44.9% 
- 

53.2%
55

 

A Building occupancy 
expenses ratio

56
 

13.3% 6.3% 
- 

11.8% 

 

 

4.2.3.2 Driving efficiencies and improving the education experience  

Management’s focus will initially be on integration and ensuring effective management where owner-
operators were actively managing their business prior to being acquired by Evolve Education.

  

Management will ensure that the appropriate oversight and resources are allocated to these centres to 
maintain operating performance in the absence of the previous owner-operator, who may have been 
the key centre manager.   

Alan Wham and Vivek Singh have significant integration experience in their previous roles in 
Pharmacybrands Limited (now Green Cross Health) where they worked on a consolidation strategy of 
the health services sector through mergers and acquisitions.  Greg Kern, Director, will be available to 
assist management with the integration process given his in-depth experience in integrating ECE 
services through his previous experience in the listing of Affinity Education Group Limited in Australia. 

On a portfolio basis, management consider significant efficiency improvements can be made, primarily 
in the form of: 

 Implementation of a corporate structure to support the overall management of the Initial Portfolio; 

 Streamlining administration and compliance reporting so that educators have more time to focus 
on providing a quality service to their children; 

 Streamlining core systems to enable efficient operation of the Owned ECE Centres;  

 Potential consolidation of suppliers across the Owned ECE Centres; and 

                                                      

51
 Includes corporate revenue (commissions, consulting, courses and seminars, teacher registration, sundry income and web 

hosting) and management fees, franchise fees and royalties.  

52
 Includes corporate and head office expenses including corporate salaries and wages, advertising, insurance, training and 

governance expenses. 

53
 This occupancy comprises forecasts for both mature ECE Centres and ECE Centres that are not mature.  The occupancy for 

FY16F is based on historical experience, supplemented by a centre-by-centre analysis conducted by Evolve Education.   

54
 Employee expenses / revenue. 

55
 Includes corporate and head office employee expenses. 

56
 Building occupancy expenses / revenue. 
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 Utilising dual offer of the centre-based and home-based ECE. 

To optimise the integration process, Evolve Education, in conjunction with its advisers, has formulated 
a detailed step-by-step plan for the integration of the Owned ECE Centres focused on the key 
elements of activity management, human resources, systems, change and communications 
management, and finance and operations.   

Management is aware of the complexities surrounding this integration and consider that protecting 
revenue, managing costs (including meeting staff payments) and communicating with stakeholders in 
a coordinated and consistent way, are essential.  The integration of the Owned ECE Centres should 
have minimal impact on the day-to-day operations of the individual centres and the centres continuing 
to operate under existing branding and trading names. 

The key focus of the integration process will be to see that the overall service quality provided by 
Evolve Education to its children is of a high standard.  Management considers this to be the most 
important factor to facilitate organic growth in the business. 

By 31 March 2015, Evolve Education’s management expects integration of the Initial Portfolio will be 
substantially complete to a level satisfactory to the Board, which is intended to include achieving 
stabilised earnings evidenced by consistency of weekly actual performance versus forecasts, and on 
time and on-budget delivery of the integration programme. 

Weekly Operational and Financial Flash Reports will provide snapshots of the business’ key financial 
drivers: occupancy, Government funding, parent fees, employee expenses and debtors.  This will be 
supported across the business by the Infocare Child Management Software, a software system 
designed specifically for use in childcare in New Zealand. 

Secondary integration activity, at a time to be determined following the initial integration, will look to 
achieve further efficiency improvements between the Owned ECE Centres and the Home-based ECE 
services. 

However, there are risks relating to the integration of the Initial Portfolio which are set out in more 
detail in Section 5 Risks. 

Corporate structure 

After listing, Evolve Education will operate a tiered management structure.  At the corporate level, the 
business will be responsible for providing centralised executive management and shared services.  
Responsibility for the day-to-day running of individual centres will be delegated to centre managers 
with oversight provided by regional business managers. Existing Lollipops Educare staff will be 
augmented to provide the infrastructure to manage the additional centres. 

Management is currently undertaking a process of finding and filling outstanding positions to 
supplement the key executives and support teams of Lollipops Educare and PORSE. A number of 
these positions are in the process of being filled. 
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Corporate Structure 

Corporate 

Comprised of executive management who are 
expected to achieve economies of scale through 
the centralisation of shared services and 
administration functions 

 

Key responsibilities: 

 Group-wide education programmes 

 Common policies and procedures 

 Centralised staff development and training 

 Centralised IT systems 

 Common procurement policies 
 

   

Regional 

Regional Business Manager will have 
responsibility for centres that are grouped into 
geographic clusters  

 

Key responsibilities: 

 Regional Business Managers report to 
executive management 

 Centre management across region 

 Maximising centre performance through 
occupancy and other key indicators 

 
 

   

Centre level 

Centre managers will be responsible for day-to-
day centre management. Successful 
implementation of corporate level functions will 
allow individual centres to focus on providing 
quality ECE  

 

Key responsibilities: 

 Provide a quality ECE service 

 Achieved by employing fully-qualified early 
childhood educators and utilising 
development and training 

 Lead ECE Centre performance and parent 
satisfaction  

 
Management believes there are likely to be significant benefits from operating a centralised 
management structure.  These are expected to include: 

 The ability to roll out “best practice” guidelines across the Evolve Education Group.  These will 

include: 

— a well-presented and functional built environment; 

— provision of quality educational equipment and resources; 

— a focused cultural identity; 

— comprehensive set of Ministry of Education approved operational manuals covering 
management, administration, curriculum, learning and development and 
communication; 
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— instant and targeted reporting information across all facets of ECE Service performance 
– child occupancy, Government funding, parental revenue, staff qualifications; 

— strong, competent and professional centre management; 

— excellent internal professional development programmes for both management and 
teaching staff; 

— open and consistent communications across all levels of the Evolve Education 
management team and teaching staff; and 

— relationships with families built on trust and wanting the best for the children; 

 Targeted capital expenditure investment programmes to maintain or improve the current operating 

environment, which is essential to maintain and grow occupancy levels; 

 Group compliance programmes within a portfolio of ECE Centres allowing sharing of costs and 

planning; 

 An Education Advisory Committee to oversee the quality and implementation of the educational 

programmes across Evolve Education services.  Jenny Yule, the PORSE CEO will head this 

committee, which will report directly to the Board; 

 Procurement synergies through economies of scale with a larger portfolio of centres able to 

source goods and services at better rates than smaller operators.  Together with added 

sophistication to supply chain management and better information and negotiation capabilities, 

Evolve Education will seek to deliver benefits that smaller operators would likely find difficult to 

replicate; 

 An improved platform for geographic clusters which can benefit through rostering and optimising 

qualified teachers; and 

 Increased staff retention through a larger portfolio of centres able to provide improved career path 

training and progression, with increased vocational options across multiple centres. 

PORSE  

In addition to the corporate structure that will be rolled out across Evolve Education, key management 
from PORSE will have continued involvement with their business following listing. 

Jenny Yule, the founder of PORSE, will continue to operate the business as CEO of PORSE under a 

fixed term contract through to at least 31 December 2015.  PORSE has an experienced management 

team based in Hawke’s Bay that will continue to manage the business for this period.  Evolve 

Education expects that the PORSE business will be carried on in a manner similar to its recent 

operations under an agreed business plan, with oversight from Evolve Education’s appointees to the 

board of PORSE. 
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Group Structure Diagram 

 

 

4.2.3.3  Growth through acquisitions and other initiatives 

Following listing, Evolve Education considers it will have the management capability and capital 
capacity to pursue a range of growth initiatives.  These initiatives will focus on both organic growth 
(optimising the performance of the Initial Portfolio) and acquisition growth (from the acquisition and 
integration of additional ECE services). The Prospective Financial Information does not reflect the 
earnings impact of any potential acquisitions.  Given the uncertainty of potential acquisitions and any 
associated earnings effects, Evolve Education has been conservative in excluding these from its 
forecasts. 

Organic growth 

Evolve Education will look to leverage the strength of its management team and corporate structure to 
drive occupancy growth, rate per day increases and the management of expenses in the Initial 
Portfolio.  Specific initiatives to drive this are intended to include: 

 Targeted marketing efforts; 

 Widening its existing service offering to include before and after school care and vacation care, 
where not already provided; 

 Improving quality of services by establishing an education panel and advanced training for staff;  

 Cost optimisation through the implementation of the corporate structure and focus from the 
experienced management team; and  

 Utilising dual offer of the centre-based and home-based ECE. 

The Home-based ECE market is a particular area of focus for Evolve Education as this sector is 
experiencing the highest growth with enrolment growth at 6% per annum since 2000

57
.
 
  

                                                      

57 Source: Ministry of Education, Education Counts - Enrolments in ECE. Data as at June 2013, last updated March 2014. 
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With 20 years of experience in pioneering the home-based childcare and training market in New 
Zealand, PORSE has recently fielded interest from a number of Australian childcare providers, 
associations and Government representatives who are eager to look at how the home care model 
could be applied to early childhood learning and care in Australia.  While Evolve Education is not 
actively looking to expand these services into Australia at this stage, this may present a future 
opportunity for the business. 

Acquisition growth 

Evolve Education intends to continue to grow the size of its portfolio through the acquisition of 
additional ECE service providers.  The acquisition selection process will be conducted in a similar way 
to the acquisition process for establishment of the Initial Portfolio (see Section 4.2.3.1 Establishment 
of a high quality portfolio) and will be supported by a capital management plan.   

Evolve Education’s acquisition growth strategy will primarily focus on the acquisition of existing ECE 
Centres.  This is because Evolve Education currently believes there is significant value to be 
harnessed through the acquisition of other ECE service providers which does not expose Evolve 
Education to the risk of new ECE Centre developments.   

Through contract negotiations during the Initial Portfolio acquisition process, Evolve Education has 
been able to obtain a right of first refusal to purchase further ECE Centres from approximately 20% of 
the vendors of the Initial Portfolio. These comprise a mix of established centres owned by the vendors 
and new developments that the vendors have planned for the future. 

Evolve Education’s acquisition growth strategy will continue to focus on building clusters for efficiency 
and ECE services that meet the requirements of the community, including sessional and full day care.  
Evolve Education intends to work strategically with partners to target areas of interest to continue to 
build a portfolio of purpose-built centres in prime locations throughout New Zealand to meet the 
demand of each community. 

In addition, Evolve Education intends to establish and maintain a new ECE Centre development 
pipeline through the provision of intellectual property licences to selected ECE Centre developers 
throughout New Zealand, whereby those developers can use Evolve Education’s brands and other 
intellectual property rights in relation to the development of new ECE Centres.  Intellectual property 
licence holders will be required to offer to sell these ECE Centres to Evolve Education upon agreed 
child occupancy levels being reached.  On completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition, Evolve 
Education will enter into such an arrangement with LEP Limited (LEP Limited is currently a company 
owned by Lollipops Educare but will not form part of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition) and certain of 
its related companies. 

Capital Management Strategy 

Evolve Education has developed a detailed capital management plan to support its growth strategy.   

Evolve Education will have three sources of funding in place: 

 $30 million senior revolving facility for general corporate and working capital purposes. A draw 

under this facility will be used to fund part of the consideration for the Initial Portfolio; 

 $60 million acquisition facility to provide funding for future acquisitions; and 

 $3 million lease guarantee facility for bonds required for certain leasehold properties. 

Evolve Education will have approximately $20 million drawn down on the senior revolving facility upon 
listing, while the acquisition facility and lease guarantee facility will be undrawn. 

Evolve Education considers this debt position will provide adequate capacity to fund future 
acquisitions.  However, Evolve Education considers Net Debt to be a better reflection of the 
Company’s leverage, which is expected to be $9.5 million based on the FY15F period.   
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Evolve Education intends to maintain a core debt facility of approximately 1.0x EBITDA and has a 
policy of funding acquisitions with debt subject to not exceeding a gross debt / EBITDA of 2.0x. 

4.2.4  Internal Risk Mitigation Procedures 

Evolve Education has a comprehensive range of internal risk mitigation procedures in place for the 
protection of children and staff and ensuring operational efficiency in line with best practices.  A 
specific range of risk mitigation procedures that it intends to implement, which will assist building a 
powerful brand identity include: 

 Best practice guidelines which will assist in building a high quality ECE offering across all centres; 

 Child protection policies; 

 Long-term commercially appropriate occupancy agreements; 

 Current Building Warrants of Fitness, Codes of Compliance and Fire Reports; 

 Ministry of Education Licence Certificates; 

 A strong mix of fully qualified and registered staff; and 

 Full health and safety reporting standards. 
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5. Risks 
An investment in shares involves risks, and this investment is no exception.  These risks may 
adversely affect your returns (if any) from your investment or may mean you may not be able to get 
back some or all of your original investment. 

There are a number of factors, both specific to Evolve Education and of a general nature, which may 
affect Evolve Education’s future operating performance and financial position and the value of the 
Shares.  A number of these risk factors are described below.  These risks and uncertainties are not 
the only ones Evolve Education faces.  Additional risks and uncertainties that Evolve Education is 
unaware of, or that are currently deemed immaterial, may in the future become important factors that 
affect Evolve Education.  You should note that these risk factors may not be exhaustive, and you 
should consider these in conjunction with other information disclosed in this Offer Document.  In 
particular, you should read Section 4.2 Business Description.  

Actual events may be materially different from those described below and may therefore affect Evolve 
Education in a different way.  Descriptions of the risks and uncertainties necessarily include forward-
looking statements.  Such forward looking statements involve matters which have not yet occurred or 
may not occur.  Changes in variables affecting risk factors may offset each other or may be 
cumulative.  If any of the following events actually occur, Evolve Education’s business, financial 
condition or results of operations could be negatively impacted to a significant degree.  In that event, 
the trading price of the Shares could decline and you may not be able to get back some or all of your 
original investment or you may not receive the returns you expect. 

You should specifically consider the factors in this section in order to appreciate the risks associated 
with an investment in Shares.  You should carefully consider these factors in light of your personal 
circumstances and seek professional advice from your financial adviser before deciding whether to 
invest.  

5.1 Evolve Education’s Key Risks 

The risks set out under this heading are those identified as the key risks which could reduce or 
eliminate the value of your Shares, or the returns on them. 

Regulatory risks 

Changes to Government funding 

The Government provides substantial assistance to the ECE industry through the ECE Funding 
Subsidy and 20 Hours ECE.  This funding is currently utilised in the operations of the Initial Portfolio 
and will represent a significant proportion of Evolve Education’s revenues.  This funding is subject to 
review at any time by the Government.  In addition, the Government can at any time change the 
regulations that need to be complied with in order to obtain this funding.  Any reduction in the level of 
this funding, a reallocation of this funding between ECE services or if the level of funding does not 
increase as assumed in the Prospective Financial Information or in line with the rate of inflation (which 
would have the effect of increasing Evolve Education’s costs) and Evolve Education cannot otherwise 
increase the fees that it charges to parents and caregivers to reflect this increase in costs, then this 
would have a material effect on Evolve Education’s profitability.  Evolve Education may not be able to 
increase the fees it charges to parents or caregivers due to regulations or market-driven events or 
circumstances, such as competition from other ECE service providers.  The imposition of more 
onerous regulations with which Evolve Education may need to comply in order to obtain government 
funding, and any associated costs of complying with those regulations may also have an effect on 
Evolve Education’s profitability.  Evolve Education is not currently aware of any significant changes 
that are proposed to Government funding for the ECE industry. However, given Government funding 
will represent a significant proportion of Evolve Education’s revenues, even a small change in the level 
of funding or the allocation of funding, or any failure to increase funding as assumed in the 
Prospective Financial Information in a situation where fees charged to parents and caregivers could 
not be increased, would have a material adverse effect on Evolve Education’s profitability. 
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Review of Home-based ECE  

A review of Home-based ECE services was announced in September 2012 and was cancelled in July 
2013.  The Ministry of Education has indicated that a review of Home-based ECE will be reconsidered 
after the implementation of the Early Learning Information System (a new online method of managing 
funding in the ECE industry) and the annual ECE Funding System Review in 2015.  The Ministry of 
Education has stated that it believes that many of the funding, transparency and quality concerns that 
gave rise to the proposed review of Home-based ECE can be resolved through these two projects.  If 
the consequences of these projects or any subsequent review of Home-based ECE are a reduction in 
the level of Home-based ECE funding or the imposition of more onerous regulations that Evolve 
Education may need to comply with in order to obtain funding, then this could have a significant 
adverse impact on the operations and profitability of Evolve Education. 

Changes in law and Government policy 

The ECE industry in New Zealand is heavily regulated.  The Education Act 1989 and supporting 
regulations provide a detailed and prescriptive framework for the management and operation of ECE 
businesses in New Zealand.  

Any change or addition to the regulatory framework of the ECE industry could affect the operation of 
the Initial Portfolio and could impact on the profitability of Evolve Education.  Any regulatory change 
could include but not be limited to sources of additional funding provided by the Government and 
changes that may increase current forecast operating costs. 

Other Government legislation, including changes to the taxation system, may affect future earnings 
and the relative attractiveness of investing in Evolve Education.  

Obtaining regulatory approvals for Additional Owned ECE Centres 

The ability of Evolve Education to operate the Additional Owned ECE Centres is dependent on 
receiving regulatory approval for the transfer of the existing licence for each centre.  If any of these 
approvals is not obtained Evolve Education will not be permitted to operate the relevant ECE Centre.  
This could materially impact Evolve Education’s future earnings.  However, the Board expects that by 
the time of listing it will have received indicative approvals from relevant Government departments in 
connection with the transfer of relevant licences for each of the Additional Acquisition Agreements. 

Risks relating to the Initial Portfolio   

Integration risks 

To achieve its FY15F and FY16F forecasts Evolve Education will need to integrate effectively the 
Initial Portfolio as part of its integration plan (see Section 4.2.3.2 Driving efficiencies and improving 
the education experience).  There is a risk that fully integrating the Initial Portfolio may take longer or 
cost more than anticipated, which could affect the profitability of Evolve Education.  

There is no guarantee the Initial Portfolio will operate as profitably after integration as the relevant 
businesses within the Initial Portfolio did prior to being acquired by Evolve Education.  The 
performance of the businesses may be adversely affected by changes such as an increase in 
overheads, any change in the management of an ECE Centre, a reduction in custom from parents 
who do not view the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio by Evolve Education favourably or additional 
costs that may need to be incurred as a consequence of a move away from the owner-operator model.  
The integration plan referred to above is intended to mitigate this risk.  However, if the plan is not 
implemented, whether due to factors within or outside of Evolve Education’s control, then this is likely 
to impact Evolve Education’s revenue and profitability. 

Due diligence risk 

Management has performed or will perform pre-acquisition due diligence on each of the Owned ECE 
Centres and Home-based ECE businesses to be acquired.  There is a risk that due diligence has not 
identified or will not identify issues that would have been material to the decision to acquire the Owned 
ECE Centres and Home-based ECE businesses.  Further, there is a specific risk that information 
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provided by the vendors regarding the historical occupancy of the Owned ECE Centres and Home-
based ECE businesses may not be reliable, and that this could affect Evolve Education’s view on 
forecast occupancy levels, particularly in the early months after acquisition.  Evolve Education 
considers that the extensive due diligence conducted by Evolve Education and its advisers in relation 
to the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio reduces the likelihood of this risk occurring but can never 
eliminate this risk.  

Limited operating history 

While some of Evolve Education’s Board and senior management have experience in business, 
management and the ECE industry, Evolve Education was only incorporated in May 2014.  
Accordingly, Evolve Education has a limited financial and operating history.  Evolve Education’s ability 
to achieve its objectives depends on the ability of its Board and senior management to implement the 
proposed business plans and to respond in a timely and appropriate manner to any unforeseen 
circumstances.  There is a risk that Evolve Education cannot meet forecast occupancy or other key 
performance indicators or will incur additional costs of operation which might have an adverse effect 
on profitability. 

Completion of Additional Acquisition Agreements  

If any of the Additional Acquisition Agreements are not completed, the composition of the Initial 
Portfolio will change.  Most of the Additional Acquisition Agreements are expected to be completed 
during December 2014 and January 2015, but there can be no guarantee that this will occur.  Due to 
circumstances beyond the control of Evolve Education, it is possible that one or more of the Additional 
Acquisition Agreements are not ultimately settled or settlement may be delayed.  If Evolve Education 
becomes aware of this prior to allotment then Evolve Education expects that it would still allot the 
Shares under the Offer and, to the extent Acquisition Agreements did not settle, Evolve Education 
would look to acquire additional ECE Centres to replace those that did not settle.  To the extent 
settlement is delayed or Evolve Education is unable to acquire additional ECE Centres in a timely 
manner to replace those that did not settle then this could reduce the profitability of Evolve Education 
in the Prospective Period.   

Risks relating to future growth 

Competition 

Evolve Education faces competition from other companies based in New Zealand and Australia 
involved in the consolidation of ECE Centres when seeking to acquire additional centres.  This 
competition may increase the price that Evolve Education must pay to acquire centres or limit the 
centres that Evolve Education can acquire. This may adversely affect Evolve Education’s profitability 
and growth prospects. 

Risks arising from new acquisition opportunities 

Future growth in operating results depends to a large extent on management’s ability to manage 
expansion and growth successfully.  This will require expansion of some or all of the business 
operations of Evolve Education and associated management disciplines, such as revenue forecasting, 
addressing new markets, controlling expenses, implementing infrastructure and systems and 
managing assets.  Inability to control the costs and organisational impacts of business growth or an 
unpredicted decline in the growth rate of revenues without a corresponding and timely reduction in 
expense growth or a failure to manage other issues arising from growth could adversely affect Evolve 
Education’s operating results. 

Availability of funding  

Evolve Education’s acquisition strategy is intended to be financed by a combination of debt and equity 
funding.  Evolve Education’s ability to pursue its strategy beyond the Initial Portfolio may be 
constrained by access to further debt and equity funding.  
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Operational risks 

Reputation risk 

Having a reputation as being a provider of high quality ECE services is an important factor in ensuring 
that Evolve Education maintains the occupancy rates and earnings at the ECE Centres and Home-
based ECE businesses it will own.  As Evolve Education will be the owner of a large number of ECE 
Centres, there is a risk that an isolated incident or incidents occurring at one or a number of ECE 
Centres, homes or the corporate office may impact on the reputation of Evolve Education and impact 
adversely on the profitability of all of Evolve Education’s ECE Centres and Home-based ECE 
businesses.  Adverse publicity concerning reported incidents or allegations of physical or sexual 
abuse or medical mismanagement, physical injury or other harm to a child at any ECE service, 
including by one or more centre managers, teachers, educators or contractors, or reports of disease, 
contamination or other illness at any ECE service, whether or not directly relating to or involving 
Evolve Education or within Evolve Education’s control, may damage Evolve Education’s brands and 
reputation, and lead to a reduction in the numbers of parents and caregivers that use Evolve 
Education’s ECE services.  This may result in demand for services diminishing significantly, which, if it 
occurred, would have a material adverse effect on Evolve Education’s profitability.  While Evolve 
Education will attempt to manage reputation risks that are within its control, thereby reducing the 
likelihood of them occurring, many of the risks relating to reputation are outside of its control.  For the 
risk relating to the use of Evolve Education’s brands and other intellectual property by third parties, 
see “Intellectual property and brand risk” below.  

Intellectual property and brand risk  

Evolve Education has applied for trademark registrations and owns other common law marks in New 
Zealand. It also intends to operate the Owned ECE Centres and Home-based ECE businesses under 
their existing brands.  If the trademarks are not registered or there is a subsequent challenge to a 
trademark registration or common law mark owned or used by Evolve Education, it may have an effect 
on the business and financial performance of Evolve Education as rebranding costs may be incurred.  
In addition, Evolve Education has agreed to license its intellectual property rights in relation to the 
Lollipops Educare brand to LEP Limited (LEP Limited is currently a company owned  by Lollipops 
Educare but will not form part of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition) and certain of its related 
companies.  Lollipops Educare has also licensed its intellectual property rights in the Lollipops 
Educare brand to third parties who operate six ECE Centres under the Lollipops Educare brand.  
These licences place restrictions on how the licensees are entitled to use the intellectual property and 
Lollipops brand.  While Evolve Education will attempt to manage this risk by monitoring the licensees, 
if those licensees do not comply with the terms of the licence or otherwise act in a manner that causes 
adverse publicity to the Lollipops Educare brand, then this may reduce the confidence that parents 
and caregivers have in the Lollipops Educare brand which may have a material adverse effect on 
Evolve Education’s profitability.  

Liability and insurance risks 

Evolve Education and its directors will be exposed to the risk of civil and criminal liability in relation to 
the operation of the Evolve Education business.  Evolve Education intends to maintain insurance 
policies, having regard to business risks and insurance costs.  However, insurance may not always be 
available on acceptable terms or where available, provide cover to indemnify Evolve Education and its 
directors fully against the occurrence of insured risks.  In certain cases it may also not be legal to 
insure against the relevant liability.  The occurrence of an event that is not covered (either fully or in 
part) by insurance could have a material effect on the business, financial condition or results of Evolve 
Education.  As with all insurance policies, there is also no guarantee that Evolve Education’s 
insurance will respond in all situations where risks that Evolve Education faces materialise. 

Operational risk and control  

Operational risk relates to the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, 
people and systems, or from external events which affect Evolve Education’s business.  Evolve 
Education is exposed to operational risks present in the current business including risks arising from 
fraud, system failure, failure of security and physical protection systems.  Operational risk has the 
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potential to have an effect on Evolve Education’s financial performance and position as well as 
reputation.  

In accordance with standard commercial practice Evolve Education maintains policies of insurance. 
However, similar to all businesses, it is vulnerable to having operations influenced and interrupted by 
loss or destruction of premises by natural disaster, fire or service disruptions caused by industrial 
action.  In addition, these events may prevent access to Evolve Education’s premises even if they are 
not damaged. 

Evolve Education will be reliant on its information technology systems in efficiently undertaking the 
management of a large number of ECE Centres and Home-based ECE services located across the 
country.  A major hardware or software failure could create delays in business processes, resulting in 
abnormal costs and potential losses if the failure cannot be addressed quickly and decisively.  Any 
significant change to the technology employed could result in a substantial increase in costs. 

No market sector diversification 

Evolve Education will primarily be an ECE Centre and Home-based ECE business.  As such, Evolve 
Education’s performance depends entirely on the performance of those businesses as a whole.  If the 
ECE industry performs poorly or there is a general reduction in demand for ECE services across the 
industry, or if specific issues arise or events occur including health-related outbreaks that reduce 
demand for ECE services, Evolve Education’s performance may be adversely affected. 

Lease arrangements  

The Owned ECE Centres will be operated on land and buildings leased from third parties.  Each lease 
or proposed lease requires Evolve Education to comply with various obligations including the payment 
of rent and other monies due.  In the event of default by Evolve Education under a lease, the landlord 
may terminate the lease if the default is not remedied.  There is also no guarantee that leases will be 
renewed at the end of their term.  Termination or expiry (particularly of key centre sites) could have an 
adverse effect on Evolve Education’s profitability.  Mark Finlay is a director of both Evolve Education 
and LEP Limited.   LEP Limited is the landlord of Evolve Education’s head office and is or will be the 
landlord of four Lollipops Educare Owned ECE Centres.  LEP Limited has also entered into 
agreements to acquire three freehold properties of the Additional Owned ECE Centres.  

Material litigation  

Due to the nature of the business that Evolve Education will carry on and the wide range of parties 
with which it will deal, Evolve Education may be exposed to complaints, investigations and litigation 
from third parties such as customers, regulators, employees and business associates.  Any such 
claims or the publicity arising from it could have an adverse effect on Evolve Education. 

The early years demographic structure of the New Zealand population  

Any decline in the zero to six-year age bracket of the New Zealand population could reduce the 
profitability of Evolve Education.  As the underlying demand for ECE is driven by the numbers of 
children in this age bracket, changes in the expected numbers of children in this bracket will have an 
effect on the sector and on Evolve Education.   

Inability to increase fees 

Evolve Education assumes some indexation of fee income to offset the level of inflationary cost 
increases.  If fee increases cannot be passed on to parents or caregivers due to regulation or market-
driven events or circumstances then the lower fee income could result in reduced profitability for 
Evolve Education.   
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Debt covenants 

Evolve Education will be subject to various covenants under its banking facilities.  Factors such as a 
decline in Evolve Education’s operational and financial performance could lead to a breach of such 
banking covenants, giving rise to enforcement rights by the lender (including, potentially, the 
enforcement of security interests in respect of Evolve Education’s assets). 

Competition risks 

Increased competition from existing and new industry participants may reduce Evolve Education’s 
revenues and profits.  Competition is based on a range of factors including the quality of ECE services 
offered, the reputation of the ECE service provider, the quality of the ECE Centre or Home-based ECE 
service and the location of the ECE Centre.  New ECE Centres may be established in proximity to 
Evolve Education’s Owned ECE Centres which may result in increased competition.  In addition, 
Home-based ECE services could be established in areas in which Evolve Education will be operating. 
These services may compete directly with Evolve Education. 

Personnel risks 

Evolve Education’s business model depends on a management team, both at the head office and at 
each ECE Centre, with the talent and experience to integrate and manage new ECE Centres into 
Evolve Education’s core business operations.  In addition, Jenny Yule will be the CEO of PORSE on a 
fixed term contract until December 2015.  Evolve Education also depends on its ability to identify and 
retain high quality centre managers who, with the assistance of Evolve Education’s management 
team, execute the strategies of Evolve Education at a centre level.  

There is a risk that operating and financial performance could be adversely affected by the loss of key 
personnel, including Mark Finlay as an Executive Director, or the inability to attract new personnel.  

Evolve Education expects that the PORSE business will be carried on by existing PORSE 
management in a manner similar to its recent business operations and under an agreed business 
plan, with oversight from Evolve Education’s appointees to the full board of PORSE.  Evolve 
Education will be reliant on PORSE management in this regard and there is a risk that the business 
could be affected by the loss of key management staff or that management do not execute the 
strategies in accordance with the business plan.  This could adversely affect PORSE’s profitability. 

Sourcing of high quality staff 

Evolve Education requires high quality staff in order to deliver its ECE services.  While Evolve 
Education believes that it will have appropriate policies and procedures to attract and retain high 
quality staff, this may not always be possible.  There is a risk that a lack of high quality staff or if 
obtaining high quality staff takes longer than expected that this would negatively affect Evolve 
Education’s performance.  At the ECE Centre level Evolve Education will consider providing 
performance incentives to the ECE Centre managers, opportunities for professional development, 
career development and growth within the wider Evolve Education Group in order to mitigate risk. 

 

5.2 Other Business Risks 

Price of Shares 

There are significant risks associated with any share market investment.  In the case of the Shares, 
these include: 

 the Shares may trade on the NZX and ASX at, above or below the Offer Price; 

 as the Shares have not previously been listed, they have no trading history and there is 
therefore no indication of the prices at which they may trade, or of the liquidity of the market 
for Shares; and 
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 the market price of the Shares may be affected by factors unrelated to the operating 
performance of Evolve Education, such as those listed under the heading “Macro economic 
Risks” below, investor sentiment, New Zealand and international share market conditions, and 
the performance of other businesses and assets.  

Macro-economic risks 

Changes in the general economic outlook both in New Zealand and globally may impact the 
performance of Evolve Education.  Such changes may include: 

 contractions in the New Zealand economy or increases in the rate of inflation resulting from 
domestic or international conditions (including movements in domestic interest rates and 
reduced economy activity); 

 increases in expenses (including the cost of goods and services used by Evolve Education); 

 increase in unemployment rates; and 

 fluctuations in equity markets in New Zealand and internationally. 

Licence risk  

The regulation and availability of the ECE Funding Subsidy and 20 Hours ECE is dependent upon 
individual ECE Centres and Home-based ECE service providers being licensed by the Ministry of 
Education.  The Education Review Office (ERO) evaluates and reports on the education and care of 
students in ECE. The majority of licences to be acquired by Evolve Education are on three year review 
cycles, though some newer ECE Centres and Home-based ECE services to be acquired have not yet 
had an ERO review.  Negative evaluations could result in Evolve Education incurring additional 
expenses to reach required standards.  This would have a negative impact on Evolve Education’s 
operations, financial position and viability.  

Interest rate risk 

The level of interest rates on Evolve Education’s financing facilities (and any subsequent refinancing) 
and the terms of any interest rate hedging (if any) and subsequent movements in the market interest 
rates will affect the financial position of Evolve Education. 

Evolve Education may change the interest rate risk management strategy from time to time when it 
believes it is in the interests of Evolve Education to do so. The availability and terms of such 
arrangements, and the level of interest rates at the relevant time, will affect the interest expense 
incurred by Evolve Education and, as a result, the value of, and returns from, an investment in the 
Shares. 

General change in capital structure 

Changes in the capital structure of Evolve Education, for example from the raising of further debt or 
the issue of further equity to repay or refinance debt facilities or to fund the acquisition of additional 
ECE Centres or Home-based ECE businesses, may affect the value of, and returns from, an 
investment in the Shares. 

General change in laws 

Changes in laws (including tax laws) or their interpretation may affect the value of, and returns from, 
an investment in the Shares.  For instance, changes in the taxation treatment of companies may 
adversely affect the market price of Evolve Education. 

Dividend ranking 

Dividends rank after the payment of interest on debt facilities.  If Evolve Education does not generate 
sufficient cashflow to meet certain interest coverage ratios, gearing requirements and other covenants 
under its debt facilities, Shareholders may not receive any dividends.  If Evolve Education defaults on 
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the payment of interest on its debt facilities, Shareholders may not receive any dividends and may 
suffer loss of capital due to financial institutions exercising their rights under security held over the 
assets of Evolve Education. 

No guarantee 

Neither Evolve Education, nor any other person gives a guarantee as to the amount of dividend from 
the Shares or the performance of Evolve Education or the price at which the Shares may trade, nor do 
they guarantee the repayment of capital by Evolve Education. 

Accounting standards 

New Zealand accounting standards are set by the New Zealand Accounting Standards Board 
(NZASB) and are outside Evolve Education’s control.  Changes to accounting standards issued by the 
NZASB could adversely affect the financial performance and position reported in Evolve Education’s 
financial statements. 

Impact of Hostilities, Terrorism or Other Force Majeure Events 

War, other hostilities, terrorism or major catastrophes can adversely affect global and New Zealand 
market conditions.  Such events can have direct and indirect impacts on the Evolve Education’s 
business and earnings. 

Liquidity 

Following the completion of the Offer, Current Shareholders, the vendors under the Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition and Hayes Knight Business Services (QLD) Pty Ltd (or nominees) will own 25.28% of 
Evolve Education.  As part of their commitment to Evolve Education, Current Shareholders have 
entered into, and the vendors under the Lollipops Educare Acquisition and Hayes Knight Business 
Services (QLD) Pty Ltd (or nominees) will enter into, voluntary escrow arrangements that will see all of 
the Shares that they hold prior to listing escrowed for two years after listing (refer to Section 8.1 
Details of the Offer for details of the escrow agreements).  This escrow and the high level of ownership 
by the Current Shareholders may affect the liquidity of Shares post-listing. 

There is currently no public market for the Shares.  There can be no guarantee that an active market 
in the Shares will develop or that the Shares will trade in any such market subsequent to completion of 
the Offer, at or above the Offer Price.  Further, failure to achieve listing on ASX will not, of itself, 
prevent the issue or sale of the Shares under the Offer from proceeding.  However, it would mean that 
there would be no active trading market on the ASX, potentially decreasing the overall liquidity of the 
Shares. 

There will almost certainly be more limited trading of Shares on ASX (as compared to NZX) at any 
time.  This may increase the volatility of the market price of your Shares on ASX.  It may also affect 
the prevailing market price at which you are able to sell your Shares on ASX.  Future issues of Shares 
may dilute your interest in Evolve Education and affect the trading price of Shares. 

5.3 Consequences of Insolvency  

Shareholders will not be liable to pay any money to any person in the event of Evolve Education’s 
insolvency. 

All of Evolve Education’s creditors would rank ahead of claims by Shareholders if Evolve Education 
were liquidated.  After all such creditors have been paid, the remaining assets, if any, would be 
available for distribution among Shareholders who would rank equally among themselves.  There may 
not be sufficient surplus assets to enable you to recover all or any of your investment. 
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6. Board, Senior Management and 
Corporate Governance 

6.1 Evolve Education’s Board of Directors 

Evolve Education has an experienced and balanced Board with a diverse range of skills, including 
industry and business knowledge, financial management and corporate governance experience.  The 
Board currently comprises an independent Chairperson, one independent non-executive Director, one 
non-executive Director and two executive Directors. 

 

Norah Barlow 
Chairperson (Independent) 
BCA, CA 
 
Norah was previously the CEO of Summerset Group Holdings 
Limited for 12 years and retired from the role in April 2014, but 
remains as a non-executive Director.  She is an accountant by 
profession, operating her own partnership for a number of years, 
prior to becoming the Group Accountant, and then CEO of 
Summerset Group.  Summerset is a large developer and operator 
of retirement villages, and aged care, and is listed on both the 
NZX and ASX.  
 
Norah now holds a number of directorships, including Cigna Life 
Insurance New Zealand Limited, Cooks Global Foods Limited and 
Ingenia Communities Limited in Australia. She is also a Ministerial 
appointee to the National Advisory Council for the Employment of 
Women.  In 2014 she was awarded an ONZM for services to 
business. 
 

  

  

Mark Finlay 
Executive Director (Non-Independent) 
BEd 
 
Mark has 13 years experience in New Zealand early childhood 
education.  He was a founder and Managing Director of the 
Lollipops Educare Group.  Lollipops Educare is a respected ECE 
provider in New Zealand having developed and managed more 
than 40 ECE Centres over the past decade. Mark brings in-depth 
operational experience in the ECE services industry to the Board. 
 
Mark Finlay is also a director and indirect shareholder of LEP 
Limited, a company that will be the landlord (and owner of the 
freehold title) of Evolve Education’s head office at Level 2, 54 Fort 
Street, Auckland, four of the Lollipops Educare Owned ECE 
Centres and three of the Additional Owned ECE Centres.  LEP 
Limited and certain of its related companies will also be granted a 
licence to use the Lollipops brands on completion of the Lollipops 
Educare Acquisition Agreement.  Further details of these 
arrangements and other arrangements between LEP Limited and 
Evolve Education are set out in Section 10 Statutory Information 
under the heading “Interested Persons”. 
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Greg Kern 
Non-Executive Director (Non-Independent) 
BCom, GradDip in Applied Finance and Investment, CA 
 
Greg is the managing director of Kern Group, a corporate advisory 
firm based in Queensland, Australia.  Greg is a chartered 
accountant, a registered company auditor, a member of the 
Institute of Internal Auditors and the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.  Kern Group acted as the lead adviser of the 
successful listing of Affinity Education Group Limited in Australia.  
Greg was a promoter of the listing of Affinity Education Group 
Limited. 
  

 

Alistair Ryan 
Non-Executive Director (Independent) 
MCom, CA 
 
Alistair is an experienced company director and corporate 
executive.  He is a professional company director, currently 
chairman of NZX-listed investment companies Kingfish Limited, 
Barramundi Limited and Marlin Global Limited, a director and 
audit and risk committee chair of listed companies Metlifecare 
Limited and Moa Group Limited, a board member and chair of the 
audit and risk committee of the New Zealand Racing Board, and a 
director of private companies Christchurch Casinos Limited and 
Lewis Road Creamery Limited.  Alistair is also a member of the 
FMA-appointed Auditor Regulation Advisory Group. 
 
Alistair retired from NZX and ASX-listed SKYCITY Entertainment 
Group Limited as Chief Financial Officer in June 2011 after a 16-
year career with the company, since just prior to its opening and 
stock exchange listing in February 1996.   
 

  

Alan Wham 
Chief Executive Officer (Non-Independent) 
BPharm 
 
Alan was appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Evolve 
Education with effect from 1 September 2014.  Alan was CEO of 
Pharmacybrands Limited (now Green Cross Health Limited) from 
late 2003 to mid 2013.  The Pharmacybrands business was 
transformed during this period from a small pharmacy services 
company to a NZX-listed company with a market capitalisation of 
approximately $200 million.  This was achieved by sector 
consolidation through mergers and acquisitions, raising capital via 
existing shareholders, delivering significant synergies and 
enhancing the performance of pharmacy and medical centre 
acquisitions.  Alan was a director of a large number of subsidiary 
and joint venture companies within the Pharmacybrands group 
and built strong relationships across the sector. 
 
Since mid 2013 Alan has been active in governance and advisory 
roles across the broader health arena, including roles in the 
governance group for the Community Pharmacy Services 
Agreement, SimplHealth, The Ultimate Care Group Limited and 
Southern Clinical Trials Group Limited.  Alan’s early career 
spanned 15 years in senior executive positions with 3M in New 
Zealand, the United Kingdom and Australia.  He was Managing 
Director for 3M Pharma in Australia and Regional Director for Asia 
Pacific and Africa before returning to New Zealand in late 2003. 
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6.2 Evolve Education’s Senior Management Team 

Evolve Education’s senior management team will comprise a Chief Executive Officer, a Chief Financial 
Officer, a Chief Operating Officer, an Executive Director, a General Manager Lollipops, a Financial 
Controller and a CEO PORSE.  

  

Alan Wham 
Chief Executive Officer 
See Alan’s full biography under the heading “Evolve Education’s 
Board of Directors”. 
  

  

Vivek Singh 

Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 

CA (NZ), CA (India), Grad ICWA (India) and BCom, Mumbai 
University 

 

Vivek was appointed as Chief Financial Officer of Evolve 
Education on 1 September 2014.  Prior to joining Evolve 
Education, Vivek was CFO of Pharmacybrands Limited (now 
Green Cross Health Limited).  Vivek has also been CFO and 
Company Secretary of Radius Security Limited and Evergreen 
Forests Limited.  He has also worked in various finance roles with 
Repco in New Zealand, Affco New Zealand Limited and Enerco 
New Zealand Limited.  Prior to moving into commerce and 
industry, Vivek was a Senior Manager at KPMG in Auckland.   
 
Vivek’s experience includes acquisitions and mergers, integration 
of acquired businesses, change management, group financial 
reporting, group tax management, capital and debt raising, and 
treasury and money market management.  
 
Vivek is a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and New 
Zealand and The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.  He 
is also a graduate member of the Institute of Cost and Works 
Accountants of India.  Vivek completed his Bachelor of Commerce 
at the Sydenham College of Commerce and Economics, Mumbai 
University, India. 

  

David Smith 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
David was appointed Chief Operating Officer of Evolve Education 
with effect from 16 September 2014.  David has for the last 20 
years held several senior management roles in the manufacturing, 
food, importing/exporting, service and more recently the childcare 
industry. Before joining Evolve Education, David was a Regional 
Manager for four years for Kidicorp Education and Care Centres, 
the largest provider of early childcare education in New Zealand. 
In this capacity he had financial and operational responsibility for 
70 ECE Centres. 
 
David’s previous management roles include being a Regional 
Manager for Compass Group PLC.  Prior to that David held two 
senior leadership roles with Chubb Security, initially as their 
Auckland Manager and then as the General Manager of a start-up 
business, Key Hardware, a subsidiary importing, wholesaling and 
manufacturing business. 
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Mark Finlay 
Executive Director  
See Mark’s full biography under the heading “Evolve Education’s 
Board of Directors”. 
 

  

Paula Hawkings 
General Manager Lollipops 
Diploma of Teaching 
 
For the past 11 years Paula has worked in the position of 
Operations Manager for Lollipops Educare.  As a mother of three 
children, two of whom having been through Lollipops Educare, 
Paula has a range of skills from understanding the needs of 
children and managing the day-to-day operations of centres and 
the Ministry of Education requirements. 
 

  

Beverley Gordon 
Financial Controller 
Bachelor of Business 
 
Beverley has spent the last four years as the Financial Controller 
of the Lollipops Educare Group.  During this time she has 
implemented an Enterprise Resource Planning consolidated 
computer system and IFRS reporting standards across the group.   
 
Prior to that Beverley spent several years as the Financial 
Controller for Two Degrees Mobile, the third largest mobile 
operator in New Zealand.  During this time Two Degrees launched 
in the New Zealand market, and Beverley implemented the 
integration with Oracle of the recharge platform for prepaid and 
post paid billing systems.  Prior to this Beverley spent 16 years 
with TVNZ, as Finance Manager for areas such as Technology, 
Emerging Business, Marketing and Public Relations.     
 
Beverley is a member of Chartered Accountants Australia and 
New Zealand. 
  

  

Jenny Yule 
CEO PORSE 
BEd, Diploma in Teaching 
 
Jenny founded the PORSE Group in 1994 and is currently the 
CEO.  Jenny is the President of HELO (Home Early Learning 
Organisation) and sits on a number of national advisory and 
governance groups – New Zealand Teachers Council ECE 
Advisory Group, Education Review Office External Reference 
Group, NZQA review of ECE qualification’s levels 1-6, Ministry of 
Education Home-Based Early Childhood Advisory Group and the 
Royston Hospital Trust Board in Hawke’s Bay. 
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6.3 Directors and Senior Management’s interest in Shares 

The following table sets out the number of Shares in Evolve Education that the Directors and senior 
managers (or their associated persons) own prior to, and will own, after the Offer: 

Director / senior 
manager 

Shareholding 
person or entity Ownership of Evolve Education as 

at the date of this Offer Document 

Indicative ownership of Evolve 
Education following completion of 
the Offer on basis that Offer is fully 

subscribed 

  Ordinary Shares % Ordinary Shares % 

Mark Finlay Mark Finlay and 
Geoffrey Hosking as 
trustees of the Mark 
Finlay Investment 

No.2 Trust 

– – 20,138,542 11.4% 

 

Mark Finlay and 
Mark Dobson 

Trustee Company 
Limited as trustees 

of the HR Finlay 
Family Trust 

– – 1,208,840 0.7% 

Greg Kern Kern Group NZ 
Limited 

2,285,369 28.19% 2,285,369 1.29% 

Alan Wham Alan Wham 550,000 6.79% 550,000 0.31% 

Vivek Singh Vivek Singh 300,000 3.70% 300,000 0.17% 

Norah Barlow Norah Barlow 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Alistair Ryan Alistair Ryan 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

David Smith David Smith 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Beverley Gordon Beverley Gordon 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Paula Hawkings Paula Hawkings 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

 

On completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition, Evolve Education will issue 36,209,901 fully-paid 
shares (in aggregate) to the vendors of Lollipops Educare.  Of those shares, 20,138,542 fully paid 
ordinary shares will be issued to Mark Finlay and Geoffrey Hosking as trustees of the Mark Finlay 
Investment No.2 Trust and 1,208,840 fully-paid ordinary Shares will be issued to Mark Finlay and Mark 
Dobson Trustee Company Limited as trustees of the HR Finlay Family Trust.  Mark Finlay is a 
beneficiary of the Mark Finlay Investment No.2 Trust but is not a beneficiary of the HR Finlay Family 
Trust.  Mark Finlay is also likely to be considered an associate (as that term is defined in the Takeover 
Code) of the other vendors of Lollipops Educare under the Takeovers Code.  

Directors may apply for Shares under the Broker Firm Offer, in the same manner as any Applicant.  To 
the extent that any Directors acquire Shares, those acquisitions must be disclosed to the market as 
required by law.     

None of the persons named above guarantees, or undertakes any liability in respect of, the Shares. 

All the persons noted in the table above have agreed with Evolve Education that, following completion 
of the Offer, they will not sell any Shares for a period of two years after listing.  These restrictions are 
subject to certain customary exceptions.  For further details please see “Escrow Arrangements” in 
Section 8 Details of the Offer. 

Evolve Education does not intend to adopt a long term executive incentive scheme prior to listing but 
the Board will give consideration to developing  such a scheme following listing. Evolve Education 
considers that the shares issued to senior management prior to the date of this Offer Document 
provide sufficient incentive to management in relation to the performance of the business. 
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6.4 Corporate Governance 

The Evolve Education Board is committed to upholding standards in corporate governance, business 
behaviour and accountability in order to promote investor confidence.  Consistent with this, the Board 
will adopt the Corporate Governance Best Practice Code set out in the NZX Listing Rules, and, from 
listing, will have approved corporate governance policies and charters.  These corporate governance 
policies and charters will also reflect the principles and recommendations outlined in the third edition 
of the Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations issued by the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council. 

The main policies and practices adopted by Evolve Education, which will take effect from listing, are 
summarised in Section 6.5 Board Policies and Procedures.  In addition, many governance elements 
are contained in Evolve Education's Constitution.  Evolve Education's code of conduct outlines the 
standards of conduct expected of its business and personnel in a range of circumstances.  In 
particular, the code articulates the high standards of honesty, integrity, ethical and law-abiding 
behaviour expected of Directors, senior management and employees.  Details of Evolve Education's 
key policies and the charters for the Board and each of its committees will be available from listing at 
www.evolveeducation.co.nz. 

Evolve Education is seeking a listing on ASX.  The ASX Corporate Governance Council has 
developed and released corporate governance recommendations for Australian-listed entities in order 
to promote investor confidence and to assist companies to meet stakeholder expectations.  The 
recommendations are not prescriptions, but guidelines.  However, under the ASX Listing Rules, 
Evolve Education will be required to provide a statement in its annual report disclosing the extent to 
which it has followed the recommendation in the reporting period.  Where Evolve Education does not 
follow a recommendation, it must identify the recommendation that has not been followed and give 
reasons for not following it.  The Board does not anticipate that Evolve Education will depart from the 
recommendations of the ASX Corporate Governance Council; however, it may do so in the future if it 
considers that such a departure would be reasonable. 

The Board considers that each of Norah Barlow and Alistair Ryan is an independent director, both 
under NZX Listing Rules and the ASX Listing Rules.  Mark Finlay, Greg Kern and Alan Wham are 
currently considered by the Board not to be independent under the NZX Listing Rules and the ASX 
Listing Rules.  

With regard to the NZX Listing Rules and the indicators of independence set out in the Corporate 
Governance Principles and Recommendations issued by the ASX Corporate Governance Council, 
Mark Finlay is not considered independent given his shareholding in Evolve Education on completion 
of the Offer, Greg Kern is not considered independent given his association with Kern Group NZ 
Limited and Alan Wham is currently CEO of Evolve Education and is therefore not independent. 

Role of the Board  

The Board has ultimate responsibility for overseeing that Evolve Education is properly managed, to 
protect and enhance Shareholders’ interests.  The Board’s key responsibilities include setting and 
overseeing the execution of Evolve Education’s strategy and supervising management in the 
operation of Evolve Education’s business.  In addition to this, the Board is engaged in: 

 monitoring the financial performance of Evolve Education, including approving dividend policies 
and financial forecasts; 

 monitoring Evolve Education’s compliance and risk management systems; 

 providing a specific governance focus on risks relating to Evolve Education’s physical operations, 
health and safety policy and risk mitigation programmes; 

 adopting reporting and disclosure policies and procedures, and monitoring the integrity of such 
procedures;  

 establishing and overseeing succession plans for senior management; and 

 providing timely and complete communications to Shareholders. 
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The Board will establish a regular schedule of board meetings in order to carry out its obligations 
under its Board Charter.  

The main policies and practices adopted by the Board, which will take effect from listing, are set out 
below. 

All Directors have access to the senior management team to discuss issues or obtain information on 
specific areas in relation to items to be considered at Board meetings or other areas as considered 
appropriate.  Key executives and managers are invited to attend and participate in appropriate 
sessions at Board meetings.  Directors have unrestricted access to Evolve Education’s records and 
information. 

Board Committees 

The Board has established two sub-committees to assist with the execution of the Board’s 
responsibilities – the Audit and Risk Committee and the Governance and Remuneration Committee.  

These committees review and analyse detailed information, policies and strategies which fall within 
their areas of responsibility and, where appropriate, make recommendations to the full Board.  The 
Committees do not take action or make decisions on behalf of the Board unless specifically authorised 
to do so by the Board.  

The Board may establish additional committees of Directors as required following listing.  

Audit and Risk Committee 

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for overseeing the risk management, treasury, 
insurance, accounting and audit activities of Evolve Education, reviewing the adequacy and 
effectiveness of internal controls, reviewing the performance of external auditors, reviewing the 
consolidated financial statements, and making recommendations on financial and accounting policies. 

If Evolve Education is included in the S&P/ASX 300 Index following admission to the official list of the 
ASX it will comply with the recommendations set by the ASX Corporate Governance Council in 
relation to the composition and operation of the Audit and Risk Committee. 

The current members of the Audit and Risk Committee are Alistair Ryan (Chair), Norah Barlow and 
Greg Kern. 

Governance and Remuneration Committee 

The Governance and Remuneration Committee is responsible for considering new appointments to 
the Board, overseeing management succession planning, establishing employee incentive plans, 
reviewing and approving remuneration arrangements for employees, recommending to the Board the 
remuneration of Directors and seeing that Evolve Education and the Board have in place, and follow, 
policies, procedures and practices with the objective that all laws, rules and requirements applicable to 
the company and the Directors are complied with. 

If Evolve Education is included in the S&P/ASX 300 Index following admission to the official list of the 
ASX it will ensure that the Governance and Remuneration Committee comprises solely of non-
executive independent directors. 

The current members of the Governance and Remuneration Committee are Norah Barlow (Chair), 
Mark Finlay and Alistair Ryan. 

6.5 Board Policies and Procedures 

Key policies and procedures of Evolve Education, which will be effective from listing, are summarised 
below.  These key policies, as well as the committee charters noted below, will be available from 
listing on Evolve Education’s website (www.evolveeducation.co.nz). 
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Board Charter  

The Board has adopted a Board Charter which sets out the Board’s Code of Ethics, encompassing 
conflicts of interest, corporate information and property, compliance with laws, NZX Listing Rules, ASX 
Listing Rules, regulations and policies and Directors’ obligations.  The Board Charter provides 
guidance on a number of areas for the Board, including values, Board responsibilities and delegated 
authorities, responsibilities of individual Directors, conflicts of interest, independent advice and 
compliance with laws and policies.  

Code of Conduct 

The Board recognises the need to observe the highest standards of corporate practice and business 
conduct.  Accordingly, the Board has adopted a formal code of conduct, to take effect from Evolve 
Education listing, to be followed by all Directors, senior management and employees.  The key 
aspects of this code are to: 

 act with honesty, integrity and fairness and in the best interests of Evolve Education and in the 

reasonable expectations of shareholders; 

 act in accordance with all applicable laws, regulations, policies and procedures; 

 have responsibility and accountability for individuals for reporting and investigating reports of 

unethical practices; and 

 use Evolve Education’s resources and property properly. 

The code of conduct sets out Evolve Education’s policies on various matters including ethical conduct, 
business conduct, compliance, privacy, security of information and integrity. 

Shareholder communications 

The Board recognises the importance of keeping investors informed by communicating information in 
a timely, clear and accurate way, whether positive or negative.  

Evolve Education is committed to providing a high standard of communication to its Shareholders so 
that they have available sufficient information  in order to make informed assessments of Evolve 
Education’s value and prospects.  The Board has adopted a Shareholder Communications Policy to 
promote effective communication with shareholders and encourage effective participation at general 
meetings. 

Once Evolve Education’s Shares are quoted on the NZX Main Board and on ASX, it will be required to 
comply with the NZX Listing Rules, ASX Listing Rules and the disclosure requirements of securities 
and other laws in New Zealand and Australia.  The Board has adopted a Continuous Disclosure Policy 
to seek to ensure that timely and balanced disclosures are communicated to the market.  

Risk management 

Identification and mitigation of Evolve Education’s risks are priorities for the Board.  The Board is 
responsible for overseeing the risk-management and compliance systems put in place by Evolve 
Education management.  The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its risk 
management responsibilities.  The Audit and Risk Committee’s role in assisting the Board is detailed 
in the Audit and Risk Committee Charter, which will be available from listing on Evolve Education’s 
website (www.evolveeducation.co.nz). 

Dividend Policy 

Dividends and other distributions with respect to the Shares are made at the discretion of the Board 
and depend on a number of factors, including:  

 current profitability; 

 current and medium-term capital expenditure requirements; 

 working capital requirements; and 
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 current capital structure, having regard to the risks presented by short and medium term 

economic and market conditions and estimated financial performance; and 

 available imputation credits.  

The payment of dividends is not guaranteed and Evolve Education’s dividend policy may change.  No 
guarantee can be given about future dividends or the level of imputation of such dividends (if any) as 
these matters will depend upon future events including the profitability, growth opportunities, and 
financial and taxation position of Evolve Education, the Board’s discretion, and the impact on Evolve 
Education’s business of the risk factors (discussed in Section 5 Risks). 

Subject to the above, Evolve Education intends to make dividend payments to Shareholders twice 
each year in respect of the half years ending 30 September and full years ending 31 March.  The 
current intention of the Board is to pay dividends between 40% and 60% of NPAT in respect of the 
preceding half year period.  However, the actual percentage of dividends paid to NPAT is expected to 
vary over time reflecting the above factors.  The first dividend is expected to be made for the half year 
period ending 30 September 2015 (which would, if declared, be paid in December 2015).  It is the 
Board’s intention to attach imputation credits to dividends to the extent they are available. However 
the extent of available imputation credits will be a factor the Board will consider in determining whether 
to pay a dividend. 

You can find full details of Evolve Education’s dividend policy (including tax implications for investors) 
in Section 7.2 Prospective Financial Information under the heading “Dividends”.  

Securities Trading Policy and Guidelines 

Evolve Education’s Securities Trading Policy and Guidelines details Evolve Education’s policy on, and 
rules for dealing in, shares and other securities in Evolve Education and applies regardless of whether 
those securities are quoted on NZX or ASX.  The fundamental rule is that insider trading is prohibited 
at all times.  The policy will apply to all Directors, officers and employees of Evolve Education, with 
further more specific and stringent rules also applying to trading in Evolve Education’s securities by 
Directors and certain senior employees, or employees performing certain functions.  The policy, which 
reflects the requirements of ASX Listing Rule 12.7, also prescribes certain ‘black-out’ periods in which 
it is not permissible, subject to a limited number of exceptions, for any Evolve Education officer or 
employee to deal in Evolve Education securities. 

Conflict of Interest Policy 

Evolve Education’s Conflict of Interest Policy provides guidance regarding the impartial conduct of 
Directors, and identifying and impartially managing any conflicts of interest.  Where there is a conflict 
of interest, there is an obligation to disclose that conflict to the Board and enter it in the interests 
register in accordance with the Board Charter.  The policy also addresses the extent to which an 
interested Director may participate in and be present at meetings when the conflict matter is being 
dealt with.  

Diversity Policy  

Evolve Education has adopted a diversity policy which obligates the Board to set objectives in 
achieving diversity.  Evolve Education will ensure effective promotion of diversity in the workplace and 
will review its policies in order to maximise the outcomes so they are utilised at management level.  

6.6 Director Remuneration 

Director remuneration 

Norah Barlow, as Chairperson, will receive $135,000 per annum.  The non-executive Directors will 
each receive $80,000 per annum.  Alistair Ryan, as Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee, will 
receive an additional $10,000 per annum.  Alan Wham as Chief Executive Officer will not receive 
additional remuneration in his capacity as a Director.  The Directors fees currently total $385,000.  
However, Evolve Education has set the Director fee pool for all Directors at $500,000 per annum in 
aggregate in order to accommodate the appointment of an additional director if required and to allow 
further payments to be made to Directors should additional work be required.  The Directors are also 
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entitled to be paid for reasonable travel, accommodation and other expenses incurred by them in 
connection with their attendance at Board or Shareholder meetings, or otherwise in connection with 
Evolve Education’s business.   

Directors’ indemnity and insurance 

Evolve Education has entered into a Deed of Indemnity and Access by Deed Poll under which it has 
granted indemnities in favour of, and maintains insurance for, its present and future Directors (and 
directors of related companies) and certain employees of Evolve Education, in each case to the extent 
permitted by the Companies Act and the Securities Act.  The Deed of Indemnity and Access by Deed 
Poll is described further in Section 10 Statutory Information under the heading “Material Contracts”.    
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7. Financial Information 
This Section contains certain historical and prospective financial information for Evolve Education.  
The financial information should be read in conjunction with the risk factors set out in Section 5 Risks 
and the other information contained in this Offer Document. 

Included within this section is: 

7.1 Introduction to Evolve Education’s Financial Information 

An overview of how Evolve Education makes money and the main drivers of its financial 
performance to help readers better understand the financial information provided in this Offer 
Document. 

7.2 Prospective Financial Information 

PFI for the period commencing on incorporation of Evolve Education and ending 31 March 
2015 (FY15F), and the year ending 31 March 2016 (FY16F).  This forecast is presented on 
the same basis that future NZ GAAP compliant financial statements will be prepared. 
 

7.3 Pro forma Prospective Consolidated Income Statement 

The Pro forma Prospective Consolidated Income Statement presents the Prospective 
Financial Information that has been adjusted for specific items to assist potential investors with 
understanding the underlying forecast performance of the Evolve Education business.  

7.4 Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Information 

A reconciliation from the Non-GAAP measures of profitability to the PFI.  This section details 
how Non-GAAP measures are used by Evolve Education to monitor performance. The 
reconciliation of Non-GAAP information adjusts the statutory prospective financial information 
to reverse certain costs relating to: 

 the Offer process; 

 the purchase of the Initial Portfolio, such as legal fees and commissions; and 

 the integration of business processes and systems. 

7.5 Pro Forma Statement of Financial Position  

The Pro Forma Statement of Financial Position shows Evolve Education’s expected financial position 
immediately upon completion of the Offer and completion of the acquisition of the entire Initial Portfolio 
(on the basis that completion of the acquisition of the entire Initial Portfolio is shown to have occurred 
immediately on completion of the Offer as if these had occurred on 31 August 2014). 

7.6 Accounting Policies 

7.7 Investigating Accountant’s Report 

7.8 Statutory Audit Report 

7.9 Description of Evolve Education’s Financing Arrangements 

Included in Appendix 1 – Historical Financial Information are: 

 Summary financial statements in tabular form for Evolve Education in respect of the period 
commencing on incorporation of Evolve Education and ending on 31 August 2014. 
 

 Summary financial statements in tabular form based on special purpose audited financial 
statements for Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited in respect of the financial years ended 31 
March 2014 and 31 March 2013. 
 



 

 

  64 

 Summary financial statements in tabular form for PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, 
PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited and PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited in respect of 
the financial years ended 31 December 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and summary 
financial statements in tabular form for FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited in respect 
of the financial years ended 31 December 2013 and 2012.  
 

 Audited financial statements for Evolve Education for the period commencing on incorporation 
of Evolve Education and ending on 31 August 2014, being a date that is not more than 4 
months prior to the date of this Offer Document, as required by clause 23(3) of Schedule 1 of 
the Securities Regulations. 
 

 Special purpose audited financial statements for Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2014. 
 

 Audited financial statements for PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, PORSE Franchising 
(NZ) Limited, PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited, and FOR Life Education & Training 
(NZ) Limited for the financial year ended 31 December 2013. 
 

Declarations 

The Financial Information presented relates to Evolve Education Group Limited and subsidiaries.  Full 
details of the entities that comprise the Evolve Education Group are set out in Section 10 Statutory 
Information under the heading “Principal subsidiaries of issuer”. 

Certain information included in this section (including EBITDA, EBITDA before one-off acquisition, 
integration and listing-related costs) is Non-GAAP financial information.  The statutory financial 
statements will be prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP and comply with New Zealand equivalents 
to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZIFRS). 

This Offer Document contains a detailed description and analysis of Evolve Education’s industry (see 
Section 4.1 Industry Overview – Early Childhood Education in New Zealand) and business (see 
Section 4.2 Business Description).  You are strongly encouraged to read that detail in conjunction with 
the financial information set out below, and also Section 5 Risks. 

Securities Act Exemptions 

Evolve Education (and any person acting on its behalf) were granted the Securities Act (Evolve 
Education Group Limited) Exemption Notice 2014 (Exemption Notice), which came into force on 14 
November 2014.  Under the Exemption Notice, Evolve Education has been granted exemptions from 
clauses 12(3)(a) to (e) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations in respect of the Additional Owned 
ECE Centres and the other related businesses to be acquired by Evolve Education (other than 
Lollipops Educare and PORSE) (each an Exempt Business, and together the Exempt Businesses).  
Evolve Education has also been granted exemptions from clauses 12(3)(d) and (e) of Schedule 1 of 
the Securities Regulations in respect of Lollipops Educare.  

Exempt Businesses 

 The exemption from clause 12(3)(a) of Schedule 1 permits Evolve Education to not include in 
this Offer Document the name of the member of the issuing group that will acquire each 
Exempt Business.  Instead this Offer Document contains in Section 4.2 Business Description 
a map of New Zealand showing the town or city where each Exempt Business to be acquired 
is located and a statement that each Exempt Business will on completion of the acquisition be 
owned by Evolve Education or a wholly owned subsidiary of Evolve Education.  

 The exemption from clause 12(3)(b) of Schedule 1 permits Evolve Education to not include in 
this Offer Document the amount of consideration payable for each Exempt Business.  Instead 
this Offer Document contains under the heading “Other Acquisitions” in Section 10 Statutory 
Information a statement of the total purchase price payable for all Exempt Businesses in 

aggregate. 

 The exemption from clause 12(3)(c) of Schedule 1 permits Evolve Education to not include in 
this Offer Document a brief description of the business of each Exempt Business in the course 
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of the five years before the date this Offer Document is delivered to the Registrar of Financial 
Service Providers for registration.  Instead this Offer Document contains in Section 4.2 
Business Description a brief description of the general nature of the Exempt Businesses as a 

whole rather than a separate description of each Exempt Business. 

 The exemption from clause 12(3)(d) of Schedule 1 permits Evolve Education to not include in 
this Offer Document summary financial statements for each Exempt Business in respect of the 
five accounting periods preceding the date this Offer Document is delivered to the Registrar of 
Financial Services Providers for registration that comply with clause 9(2) to (4) of Schedule 1 
of the Securities Regulations. 

 The exemption from clause 12(3)(e) of Schedule 1 permits Evolve Education to not include in 
this Offer Document either (i) a reference to the latest financial statement for each Exempt 
Business that comply with and have been registered under the Financial Reporting Act 1993, 
the accounting period covered by those statements and the date of registration, or (ii) audited 
financial statements for each Exempt Business prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting practice for the relevant accounting period. 

Directors’ confirmations in respect of the Exempt Businesses exemptions 

 The financial information usually required under clauses 12(3)(a) to (e) of Schedule 1 in 
respect of the Exempt Businesses is identified under the heading “Exempt Businesses” above. 

 The financial information usually required under clauses 12(3)(a) to (e) of Schedule 1 in 
respect of the Exempt Businesses is not provided  because it is impractical to provide the 
required information in respect of every Exempt Business.  Additionally, in respect of clauses 
12(3)(d) and (e) of Schedule 1, the quality and reliability of the information for each Exempt 
Business is of varying quality, inconsistent and would not in every case reflect the cost base of 
the Exempt Business once it has been acquired by Evolve Education.  Evolve Education 
considers that compiling and providing the information required by these clauses does not 
provide any useful information and may be misleading. 

 It is the opinion of the Directors of Evolve Education that not including the information required 
by clauses 12(3)(a) to (e) of Schedule 1 in respect of the Exempt Businesses will not have a 
material adverse effect on subscribers. 

 This Offer Document contains prospective financial information of the issuing group for the 
period commencing on incorporation of Evolve Education and ending 31 March 2015 and the 
year ending 31 March 2016 consistent with clause 11(1)(c)(ii) of Schedule 1 of the 
Regulations, and an investigating accountants report.  The reasons why the Directors of 
Evolve Education consider it appropriate to provide the alternative financial information set out 
in this Offer Document and the reasons why the Directors consider that this alternative 
financial information is more useful in assessing the merits of the offer, are that it shows the 
prospective financial information of the entire Evolve Education Group (including the Exempt 
Businesses) based on the assumptions made in relation to the acquisition of the entire Initial 
Portfolio (including the Exempt Businesses).      

Lollipops Educare  

 The exemption from clause 12(3)(d) of Schedule 1 permits Evolve Education to not include in 
this Offer Document summary financial statements for Lollipops Educare in respect of the five 
accounting periods preceding the date this Offer Document is delivered to the Registrar of 
Financial Services Providers for registration that comply with clause 9(2) to (4) of Schedule 1 
of the Securities Regulations.  Instead this Offer Document includes in Appendix 1 – Historical 
Financial Information summary financial statements based on special purpose audited 
financial accounts for FY14 and FY13 for Lollipops Educare that include Lollipops Educare 
and only those subsidiaries of Lollipops Educare at completion of the acquisition Lollipops 
Educare, which the Directors consider better illustrates the Lollipops Educare business as it 
will be acquired by Evolve Education. 

 The exemption from clause 12(3)(e) of Schedule 1 permits Evolve Education to not include in 
this Offer Document either (i) a reference to the latest financial statement for Lollipops 
Educare that comply with and have been registered under the Financial Reporting Act 1993, 



 

 

  66 

the accounting period covered by those statements and the date of registration, or (ii) audited 
financial statements for Lollipops Educare prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting practice for the relevant accounting period.  Instead this Offer Document contains 
in Appendix 1 – Historical Financial Information special purpose audited financial statements 
for Lollipops Educare for FY14 with comparatives for FY13 that include Lollipops Educare and 
only those subsidiaries of Lollipops Educare at completion of the acquisition Lollipops 
Educare, which the Directors consider better illustrates the Lollipops Educare business as it 
will be acquired by Evolve Education. 

Directors’ confirmations in respect of the Lollipops Educare exemptions 

 The financial information usually required under clauses 12(3)(a) to (e) of Schedule 1 in 
respect of Lollipops Educare is identified under the heading “Lollipops Educare” above. 

 The financial information usually required under clauses 12(3)(a) to (e) of Schedule 1 in 
respect of Lollipops Educare is not provided because:  

o it will not provide any useful information beyond that already provided  in the summary 
financial statements and special purpose financial accounts for Lollipops Educare 
included in this Offer Document; and 

o it is likely to be misleading as it would include financial information about companies 
that will not be part of the Lollipops Educare Group at completion of the Lollipops 
Educare Acquisition. 

 It is the opinion of the Directors of Evolve Education that not including the information required 
by clauses 12(3)(a) to (e) of Schedule 1 in respect of Lollipops Educare will not have a 
material adverse effect on subscribers. 

 The reasons why the Directors of Evolve Education consider it appropriate to provide the 
alternative financial information set out in this Offer Document are as set out above and the 
Directors consider that this alternative financial information is more useful in assessing the 
merits of the Offer as it more accurately reflects the historic financial performance of Lollipops 
Educare as it will be acquired by Evolve Education. 
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7.1 Introduction to Evolve Education’s Financial Information 

A Summary of how Evolve Education makes money 

The following provides a simplified overview of the key drivers of Evolve Education’s financial 
performance as an introduction to assist in reading the detail in the rest of this section.  Evolve 
Education’s business model is to identify, acquire, integrate and manage childcare related businesses 
and operations throughout New Zealand. 

Evolve Education ultimately makes money through the provision of quality childcare services, based 
both within ECE Centres and through Home-based ECE. 

Key Drivers of Evolve Education’s Financial Performance 

The following factors will have a significant impact on the financial performance and net cash flows 
generated by Evolve Education, but they are not an exhaustive list of all the relevant factors. 

 Occupancy:  Each ECE Centre needs to care for a certain number of children in order to operate 
profitably.  This varies from centre to centre and will be a key area of focus for Evolve Education. 
Occupancy can also be influenced by new ECE Centres being established by other ECE 
operators in areas that Evolve Education also operates.  

 Government funding of early childhood:  The level of Government funding provided to 
subsidise the cost of preschool aged children using ECE services has a direct impact on the 
demand for the services that Evolve Education provides. Changes in funding and changing the 
focus on funding could result in changing levels of demand and cost structures for Evolve 
Education.  

 Parent fees: A key component of revenue for ECE Centres is parent fees, which are fees that 
ECE service providers can charge to parents or caregivers for child enrolment hours over 20 
Hours ECE.  In Evolve Education’s case, parent fees are forecast to contribute approximately 34% 
of its ECE Centre revenue in FY16F. Parent fees are set on a centre by centre basis having 
regard to demand, cost and occupancy.  

 Staffing Levels:  Each ECE Centre and Home-based ECE business requires appropriate levels of 
qualified or trained staff and other staff to ensure the safe and compliant operation while at the 
same time ensuring that employment costs relative to child numbers, on a daily basis, are 
controlled. A higher level of Ministry of Education funding is available for the use of qualified 
teachers. 

 Building occupancy costs: Building occupancy costs relate to lease costs and related property 
expenses. Evolve Education leases all of its buildings. The rental expenses have been set at 
market rates, with provision for periodic review to market rates.  

 ECE Centre Direct Expenses: Direct expenses of providing services represent non-employee 
and non-occupancy expenses incurred at the centre level as part of providing childcare services. 
Forecast costs include nappies, food, IT, consumables and costs associated with local marketing 
and advertising. The centre manager is responsible for the day to day management of these 
costs, with oversight from the executive management.  

 Home-based Licences and number of children:  Government funding is received according to 
the number of licensed children that are provided services by the Home-based ECE service 
provider.  Sufficient licences need to be held to ensure that appropriate funding is received for 
children under care. 

 Corporate Overheads: Corporate overheads relate to management costs, governance and costs 
incurred on behalf of the Evolve Education Group companies such as insurance. These costs will 
be managed within a budget developed for the purposes of the PFI. 
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 Other factors which will drive future performance are Evolve Education’s ability to identify and 
acquire additional businesses at an appropriate price and to successfully integrate them into 
Evolve Education. 
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7.2 Prospective Financial Information 

7.2.1  Introduction 

This section includes the prospective financial information as required by clause 11(1)(c) of Schedule 
1 of the Securities Regulations.  The prospective financial information relates to the consolidated 
group position of Evolve Education and includes: 

 The basis of preparation for the PFI of Evolve Education; 

 Prospective Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income; 

 Prospective Consolidated Statement of Movements in Equity; 

 Prospective Consolidated Statement of Financial Position; 

 Prospective Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows; 

 Notes to the Prospective Financial Information including a description of the general and specific 
assumptions on which the PFI has been prepared and an analysis of the sensitivities of the PFI to 
changes in key assumptions; and 

 A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by Evolve Education in the preparation 
of the PFI. 

The statutory auditor’s report in relation to the PFI, as required by clause 28 of Schedule 1 of the 
Securities Regulations, is included in Section 7.8. 

All amounts disclosed in the tables are presented in New Zealand dollars and, unless otherwise noted, 
are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. 

7.2.2 Basis of Preparation 

The PFI for FY15F and FY16F has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of FRS-42 
Prospective Financial Statements, as required by the Securities Regulations. 
 
The PFI has been prepared with reference to the actual historical financial information for the following 
companies being acquired: Lollipops Educare; PORSE; and the other related businesses to be 
acquired

58
.  Based on FY16F, these entities make up 30 of the ECE Centres and all the Home-Based 

ECE businesses to be acquired and 53% of Evolve Education’s revenue for that financial year. The 
Directors consider that due to the varying levels of availability and consistency of financial information 
in respect of the 55 Additional ECE Centres, and the inconsistent application of accounting policies 
across these centres, prospective investors are better informed by the use of consistent assumptions 
across all individual Additional ECE Centres and this better reflects the cost base under Evolve 
Education ownership.  This includes the level of fixed assets and working capital at each ECE Centre. 
It is in respect of the unavailability or unreliability of historical financial information for all Additional 
ECE Centres that Evolve Education received the exemption as described earlier in this Section 7 
Financial Information. 
 
The PFI, including the assumptions underlying it, is the responsibility of, and has been prepared by 
management and approved by the Directors.  It is based on the Directors’ assessment of events and 
conditions existing at the date of this Offer Document and the accounting policies and assumptions set 
out under the headings “Notes to the Prospective Financial Information” below.  These assumptions 

                                                      

58
 These being a company that operates a Home-based ECE business and a company that manages 20 ECE Centres for third 

parties. 
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should be read in conjunction with the sensitivity analysis and Evolve Education’s accounting policies 
set out further below, and the risk factors set out in Section 5 Risks.  
 
PFI by its nature involves risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond the control of Evolve 
Education. The Directors believe that the PFI has been prepared with due care and attention, and 
consider the assumptions, when taken as a whole, to be reasonable at the time of preparing this Offer 
Document.  
  
Actual results are likely to vary from the information presented as anticipated events and results may 
not occur as expected, and the variations may be material. Accordingly, neither the Directors nor any 
other person can provide any assurance that the PFI will be achieved and investors are cautioned not 
to place undue reliance on the PFI. 
 
The PFI is presented in New Zealand dollars and is rounded to the nearest thousand. 
 
The PFI FY15F will only include a maximum of three and a half months trading revenue and expenses 
as the acquisitions that comprise the Initial Portfolio are anticipated to be purchased in the December 
2014 to March 2015 period, with the majority being completed in December 2014 and January 2015. 
 
There is no present intention to update the PFI or to publish PFI in the future. Evolve Education will 
present a comparison of the PFI with actual financial results when reported in accordance with NZ 
GAAP and Regulation 44 of the Securities Regulations.  
 
The Directors are responsible for and have authorised for issue the PFI on 14 November 2014 
specifically for use in this Offer Document and not for any other purpose.  

Prospective Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

            
Period 

ending 31 
March 2015 

Year 
ending 31 

March  
2016 

$'000s           Forecast Forecast 

Revenue from continuing operations      29,028 136,221 

Share in equity accounted investee's profit      55 272 

Employee expenses           (17,492) (72,474) 

Building occupancy expenses          (3,789) (16,082) 

Direct expenses of providing services        (3,852) (16,560) 

Acquisition expenses           (4,126) - 

Other expenses           (6,137) (5,673) 

Total expenses           (35,397) (110,788) 

EARNINGS BEFORE INTEREST, TAXES, DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION (6,313) 25,705 

Depreciation           (339) (1,520) 

Amortisation           (121) (418) 

Net finance expense           (2,117) (674) 

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX         (8,891) 23,094 

Income tax expense            (607) (6,466) 

(LOSS)/PROFIT AFTER TAX         (9,498) 16,627 

Other comprehensive income         - - 

Total comprehensive income         (9,498) 16,627 
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Prospective Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

        

 
Contributed 

Equity Reserves 

Retained 
Earnings / 

(Losses) Total 

$'000s       Forecast Forecast Forecast Forecast 

Balance as at 20 May 2014     - - - - 

Profit for the Period       - - (9,498) (9,498) 

Other comprehensive income for the period  - - - - 

Total Comprehensive income   - - (9,498) (9,498) 

Dividends Paid       - - - - 

Share based payment reserve     - - - - 

Issue of share capital (net of costs)   156,945 - - 156,945 

Balance as at 31 March 2015     156,945 - (9,498) 147,447 

Profit for the Period       - - 16,627 16,627 

Other comprehensive income for the period  - - - - 

Total Comprehensive income   156,945 - 7,129 164,075 

Dividends Paid       - - (4,154) (4,154) 

Share based payment reserve     - - - - 

Issue of share capital (net of costs)   489 - - 489 

Balance as at 31 March 2016     157,434 - 2,975 160,409 
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Prospective Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

            
As at 

 31 March  
2015 

As at 
 31 March  

2016 

$'000s           Forecast Forecast 

Current assets               

Cash and cash equivalents         22,822 39,318 

Trade, receivables and other current assets     3,188 2,908 

Total current assets           26,010 42,226 

Non-current assets               

Property, plant and equipment         5,657 4,901 

Investments           1,832 2,104 

Intangibles           163,804 163,386 

Total non-current assets         171,292 170,392 

Total assets           197,302 212,618 

Current liabilities               

Trade and other payables           (8,197) (10,674) 

Funding received in advance         (12,285) (13,326) 

Employee entitlements           (5,060) (5,299) 

Lease liabilities           (589) (682) 

Other current liabilities           (2,364) (868) 

Total current liabilities           (28,495) (30,849) 

Non-current liabilities               

Deferred tax liability           (1,340) (1,340) 

Bank borrowings           (20,000) (20,000) 

Finance lease liability           (19) (19) 

Total non-current liabilities         (21,360) (21,360) 

Total liabilities           (49,855) (52,209) 

Net Assets           147,447 160,409 

Equity               

Issued share capital           156,945 157,434 

(Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings     (9,498) 2,975 

Total Equity           147,447 160,409 
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Prospective Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

            Period 
ending 31 

March 2015 

Year ending 
31 March  

2016 

$'000s           Forecast Forecast 

Cash flows from operating activities         

Receipts from customers (incl MOE funding)     33,503 137,489 

Payments to suppliers and employees        (31,921) (109,786) 

Taxes paid           (303) (4,608) 

Net cash flows from operating activities     1,279 23,095 

Cash flows from investing activities         

Payments for purchase of businesses       (115,680) (1,140) 

Payments for property, plant and equipment     (682) (764) 

Net cash flows from investing activities     (116,362) (1,904) 

Cash flows from financing activities         

Proceeds from issue of Shares         132,317 - 

Share issue costs           (12,357) - 

Financing costs           (2,056) (540) 

Bank borrowing drawn/(repaid)         20,000 - 

Pre-Listing funding received         1,798 - 

Pre-Listing funding repaid           (1,798) - 

Proposed Dividend Payment         - (4,154) 

Net cash flows from financing activities     137,905 (4,695) 

Net cash flows           22,822 16,496 

                

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period     - 22,822 

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period     22,822 39,318 

 

7.2.3 Segment analysis 

An operating segment is a component of an entity that engages in business activities from which it 
may earn and incur expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the entity’s Chief 
Operating Decision Maker to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and 
assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.  The Chief Operating 
Decision Maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the Evolve 
Education Group, has been identified as the CEO. 

It is intended that Evolve Education will operate as two reporting segments, being ECE Centres and 
Home-based ECE. The operating results are expected to be reviewed on this basis in the short to 
medium term.   

To provide further information on the split between centre-based and home-based ECE services, the 
table below has been included. 



 

 

  74 

            
Period 

ending 31 
March 2015 

Year 
ending 31 

March  
2016 

$'000s           Forecast Forecast 

Revenue               

ECE Centre based revenue           21,564 105,131 

Home-based ECE revenue            7,195 29,973 

Other revenue           269 1,117 

Total revenue           29,028 136,221 

EBITDA               

ECE Centre based EBITDA           4,048 27,460 

Home-based ECE EBITDA            696 3,042 

Total EBITDA for ECE Centres and Home-based ECE     4,744 30,502 

Corporate and Management         (3,928) (4,797) 

EBITDA before acquisition, integration and listing costs   816 25,705 

 

7.2.4 Notes to the Prospective Financial Information 

The PFI has been prepared based upon various assumptions concerning future events, including 
those set out below. In preparing the PFI, Evolve Education has undertaken an analysis of the 
historical performance of the Initial Portfolio and applied assumptions in order to forecast future 
performance for the period ending 31 March 2015 and the year ending 31 March 2016.  

The analysis of the historical performance included historical operational and financial information 
including, but not limited to, occupancy reports provided by the vendors of the businesses that 
comprise the Initial Portfolio (Vendor Occupancy Reports), reports made to the Ministry of Education 
to obtain funding and, to the extent available, financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2014 
(or 31 December 2013 where relevant) or more recent periods where information was available 
(Vendor Financial Information).  

The Vendor Financial Information was used to provide a basis for the preparation of the PFI.  Evolve 
Education judged that it was not appropriate to include all the Vendor Financial Information in this 
Offer Document because it had not been uniformly prepared in accordance with the recognition and 
measurement principles of NZ GAAP and in most cases had not been the subject of an audit or 
review.  References to Vendor Financial Information in this Offer Document have been provided to 
add context to Evolve Education’s assumptions and should be read with consideration of the 
limitations outlined above. 

The assumptions set out below should be read in conjunction with the sensitivity analysis set out 
below, the risk factors set out in Section 5 Risks and the Investigating Accountant’s Report set out in 
Section 7.7.  

7.2.5 General Assumptions 

In preparing the PFI, the following general assumptions have been adopted: 

 Other than the entry of Evolve Education, no significant change will occur in the competitive 
environment in which Evolve Education operates; 

 No material changes in the statutory, legal or regulatory environment that applies to Evolve 
Education’s business will occur, in particular the ECE regime.  This includes the continuation of 
Government support and funding for the ECE sector, and the basis of the existing funding model 
will continue with no material changes in the Prospective Period.  The PFI assumes an increase in 
Ministry of Education funding of 0.69% from 1 July 2015; 

 No material changes in general economic and business conditions will occur including levels of 
inflation, employment and interest rates; 
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 No changes in current income tax legislation will occur; 

 No material changes in NZ GAAP, other mandatory professional reporting requirements, or the 
accounting policies of Evolve Education will occur which would have a material impact on the 
financial results of Evolve Education; 

 No material impact from the loss of key personnel will occur. There is a risk that there will be a 
level of employee turnover which may become more pronounced after the change to Evolve 
Education ownership, for example with respect to centre managers. Evolve Education has 
incentivised certain key executives in order to retain the executive management team; 

 No material litigation or dispute to which Evolve Education is a party will occur; 

 The Offer proceeds in accordance with the timetable set out in Section 1.3 Key Dates of this Offer 
Document; and 

 The PFI has been compiled on the basis that general inflation will be at 1.6% per annum on all 
costs from 1 July 2015. This is based on inflation rates for the New Zealand economy. 

7.2.6 Specific Assumptions 

Offer Proceeds and acquisition  

As part of the Offer process, contributed equity will be $156.9 million representing the issue of share 
capital of $169.3 million offset by issuance costs of $12.4 million. These issuance costs relate to 
adviser costs and brokerage costs.  The issue of share capital of $169.3 million is equal to that raised 
under the Offer ($132.3 million), issued to the Lollipops Educare vendors ($36.2 million) and issued to 
employees, advisers and directors (valued at $0.775 million at grant date). The shares issued to 
employees, advisers and directors equal 1,699,438 shares.  

Acquisition of the Initial Portfolio 

The table below provides a summary of the acquisitions which are expected to occur during the period 
from December 2014 to March 2015.  The total acquisition cost is equal to $167.2 million.  The 
acquisition cost includes expected earn-out payments which will be payable to the vendors should the 
entities meet the earnings expectations as detailed in the Prospective Period. These earn-out 
payments have been discounted back to a present value estimate as at December 2014, as required 
by NZ IFRS. 

Acquisition Cost             $'m 

Additional Owned ECE Centres           77 

Lollipops             67 

Other related businesses             1 

Total ECE Centres             145 

PORSE             11 

Other related businesses             2 

Total Home-based ECE             14 

Total ECE Centres and Home-based ECE during December 2014 and January 2015 158 

Additional Owned ECE Centres to be acquired by 31 March 2015     9 

Total ECE Centres and Home-based ECE assumed to be acquired during Prospective Period (FY15F) 167 

 

The further details relating to the acquisition of the following companies are set out in Section 10 
Statutory Information under the headings “Acquisition of business or subsidiary” and “Material 
Contracts”: 

 Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited (100%); 
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 PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited (100%); 

 PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited (100%); 

 PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited (100%); and 

 FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) limited (100%). 

Revenue 

The PFI assumes Evolve Education earns revenue from two main sources: 

 Owned ECE Centre fees; and 

 Home-based ECE fees. 

Owned ECE Centre fees 

The level of childcare fees is dependent upon three drivers: 

Occupancy 

Evolve Education has forecast occupancy at a centre by centre level.  Where an ECE Centre operated 
at mature levels (long run expected occupancy levels) throughout the year ended 31 March 2014, 
Evolve Education has assumed occupancy levels in line with historical levels for FY15F and FY16F.  
This is based on management’s analysis of the centres being acquired.   

Where an ECE Centre was not at maturity for the whole of the year ended 31 March 2014, 
management has based its occupancy assumptions on the monthly occupancy rates being achieved 
prior to the Offer and those expected as the ECE Centres reach maturity.  The forecast occupancy in 
these ECE Centres during the Prospective Period has been assessed on a centre-by-centre basis, 
applying local market conditions such as competition and with reference to historical experience of 
current mature centres when at the same stage of growth. 

An allowance has been made for the seasonality in occupancy occurring over the 2014/2015 
Christmas holiday period. Management has also made an allowance for a small decline in occupancy 
over the period January 2015 and March 2015 to allow for the integration of the Additional Owned 
ECE Centres into the Evolve Education Group.  The assumed declines are -4% in January 2015, -3% 
in February 2015 and -2% in March 2015. 

Average occupancy rates for FY16F are forecast to be 87%. Occupancy is calculated relative to the 
maximum Ministry of Education’s funding hours.   

Daily rates - Ministry of Education Funding 

Management has forecast the funding is to be received from the Ministry of Education based on the 
number of children forecast to attend the Owned ECE Centres. A higher level of funding is received 
from the Ministry of Education for children under two years of age, compared to those over the age of 
two.  An increase of 0.69% received per child has been assumed from July 2015 in the PFI. This is 
based on average historical increases over the last four years. 
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Daily rates – Parent Fees 

The PFI assumes increases of between 3.0% and 1.6% for the parent fees from 1 April 2015 in 
respect of the Lollipops Educare ECE Centres and 1 July 2015 in respect of the Owned ECE 
Centres. The assessment of increase has been based on a centre by centre analysis and has regard 
to historical price increases, demand at those ECE Centres and local competition. Where 
management is less familiar with the Owned ECE Centres, an approach has been taken with little 
or no increase in the forecast.  This increase is being targeted to recover inflation expected to occur 
over the Prospective Period and the provision of a statutory holiday on a Monday when Waitangi Day 
and Anzac Day fall on the weekend. 

The PFI assumes 34% of Owned ECE Centre revenue is received from the parents in FY16F. This 
assumption is based upon Vendor Financial Information on the proportion of parent funding currently 
being achieved at each ECE Centre and assumes that there is no change in the mix of the age of 
children currently in the ECE Centres. 

Home-based ECE fees 

The majority of revenue is received from the Ministry of Education.  Reported revenue does not 
include the 20 Hours ECE subsidy which is passed on to the educators. 

The level of Home-based ECE fees is dependent upon the following drivers: 

The number and age of children 

A higher level of funding is received from the Ministry of Education for children under two years of age, 
compared to those over the age of two.   

Daily Rates – Ministry of Education Funding 

An increase in the amount received of 0.69% from July 2015 from the Ministry of Education per 
licensed child has been assumed in the PFI. This is based on the average increase received over the 
last four financial years. 

Number of Licences Held 

Forecast funding from the Ministry of Education is based on the standard of care provided and the 
number of licences held.  Up to 80 children per licence are funded. The PFI assumes an increase of 
4.0% in child numbers in the Home-based ECE business based on the movement in children between 
31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016. The Home-based ECE business holds sufficient licences to cater 
for the projected growth in child numbers.  

Expenses 

Employee expenses 

Employee expenses comprise the wages and salaries (and related expenses such as ACC levies and 
Kiwisaver contributions) of Owned ECE Centres, Home-based ECE and corporate office employees. 

Employee numbers at the ECE Centre level have been based upon staff to child ratios as required by 
the Ministry of Education and as presently operated in the ECE Centres. The Home-based ECE 
businesses budget for employee numbers based on a ratio of staff to children.  

Corporate office employee numbers have been calculated using a bottom up approach based upon 
existing numbers and the expected number of staff required to operate Evolve Education following 
completion of the Offer. The existing organisational structure of Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited 
has been used as a basis for the human resource requirements of Evolve Education with additional 
resource assumed to reflect the further businesses acquired. 

Corporate office salary assumptions are based upon existing employee agreements and market based 
remuneration for vacant roles.  
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The PFI forecasts assume an inflationary increase of 1.6% in employee expenses from July 2015 for 
ECE Centres and Home-based ECE. 

Building occupancy expenses 

Building occupancy expenses comprise primarily ECE Centre rent per the current lease, adjusted in 
line with NZ IFRS to reflect fixed future rent increases.  The lease terms and rents are at market rates.   

LEP Limited, a company of which Mark Finlay is a director and indirect shareholder (along with the 
other vendors of Lollipops Educare) is the landlord (and owner of the freehold title) of Evolve 
Education’s head office at Level 2, 54 Fort Street, Auckland and is or will be the landlord of four of the 
Lollipops Educare Owned ECE Centres and three of the Additional Owned ECE Centres. 

The PFI assumes an inflationary increase of 1.6% in building occupancy expenses from July 2015. 
This is based on inflation rates for the New Zealand economy. 

Direct expenses of providing ECE Centre services 

Direct expenses of providing ECE Centre services represent non-employee and non-occupancy 
expenses incurred at the ECE Centre level as part of providing childcare services. Forecast costs 
include cleaning, learning and development resources, nappies, food, IT, repairs and maintenance, 
consumables and costs associated with local marketing and advertising. 

These assumptions are based on a bottom up analysis, utilising Management’s experience combined 
with historical expenditure in the Vendor Financial Information as a benchmark.  

The PFI assumes an inflationary increase of 1.6% in direct expenses from July 2015.  

Other expenses 

Other expenses comprise predominantly non-employee corporate office expenses including 
governance related expenditure e.g. audit, listing and share registry fees, travel, legal and insurance. 
Other expense assumptions are based on a bottom up approach. 

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of shares are treated as costs that relate to the issue of an 
equity instrument and in accordance with NZ IFRS are recorded as a deduction of the Offer proceeds.  
All other transaction costs are recorded as part of the one-off acquisition, integration and listing costs 
in the profit and loss statement. 

The PFI assumes an inflationary increase of 1.6% in other expenses from July 2015.  

Depreciation and amortisation 

Depreciation is calculated on a basis consistent with the Accounting Policy detailed later in this 
section. 

Net finance expenses 

Net finance expenses represent interest  charged on the drawn facilities offset by interest earned on 
the cash in bank, establishment fees, interest on earn outs, plus a return amount on the loans 
provided by Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited, and Stuart and Gillian James 
as trustees of the S.B. James Superannuation Fund (as referred to in Section 10 Statutory Information 
under the heading “Material Contracts”), which will be repaid on completion of the Offer from the Offer 
proceeds.  The interest expense, being the return amount, relating to these loans is $1.798 million.  
This expense will be incurred in period ending 31 March 2015.    

Evolve Education is forecast to draw down $20 million of debt on completion of the Offer.  This debt 
will be used to fund acquisition and related costs, and ensure that the company is adequately 
capitalised to trade over the first quarter of 2015. The PFI has treated this as term debt on the basis 
that it is the intention of the company to consider further acquisitions, which are not forecast in the PFI. 
Evolve management will implement capital management strategies having regard to the liquidity 
requirements, dividend policy and future acquisitions being considered by Evolve Education. 
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Taxation 

A corporate income tax rate of 28% has been assumed in the PFI, being the current rate applicable in 
New Zealand.  The tax expense reflects the extent to which expenses incurred by Evolve Education 
are deductible.  Evolve Education is expected to be in a tax paying position during FY15F and later 
periods. 

Capital expenditure 

Capital expenditure is based on Management’s assessment of a general level of refurbishment 
required on acquisition of the Initial Portfolio, plus a specific provision in instances where this has been 
identified for a particular ECE Centre. Capital expenditure of $100,000 has been budgeted for the 
establishment of Evolve management head office.  Management is forecasting total capital 
expenditure over the Prospective Period of $1.4 million.  The allocation of this expenditure is detailed 
in the table below. 

Capital expenditure            

Period 
ending 31 

March 2015 
($’000) 

Year ending 
31 March  

2016  
($’000) 

ECE Centres           465 410 

Home-based ECE           117 354 

Other           100 - 

Total           682 764 

 

Accounts Receivable, accounts payable and other current assets and liabilities 

Accounts Receivable, accounts payable and other current assets and liabilities have been forecast on 
terms materially the same as those experienced historically. 

The pre funding of childcare by the Ministry of Education results in significant movements in the 
working capital position and cash balances of Evolve Education. The funding cycle for the Ministry of 
Education Funding is in March, July and November. Evolve Education will manage its cash position 
and term debt having regard to future working capital requirements, acquisitions, capital expenditure 
and dividends. 

Ministry of Education Liabilities and employee entitlement liabilities 

At acquisition, Evolve Education will acquire a service obligation to provide services to the Ministry of 
Education with respect to funding which has already been provided to the business.  At settlement, the 
purchase price of the entities will be adjusted to reflect the Ministry of Education liabilities acquired to 
the extent that these liabilities are unfunded by the vendors.  Likewise, provision has been made 
within the PFI forecasts for employee entitlements which are expected to be acquired at settlement. 
These adjustments will likely require modification to allow for the date of settlement with each of the 
respective vendors. 

 
Financing and Bank Facilities 

Evolve Education intends to enter into the New Financing Arrangements with ASB Bank Limited 
(ASB) during the Offer period.  Further details of the New Financing Arrangements are set out in 
Section 7.9 Description of Evolve Education Group’s Financing Arrangements. The new banking 
facilities will be available upon successful completion of the Offer (subject to customary conditions 
precedent being satisfied).  Evolve Education forecasts that it will draw down $20 million under the 
senior revolving facility on completion of the Offer. 

 

Facility  
commitment 

Drawdown at IPO 

Senior revolving facility $30 million $20 million 

Acquisition facility  $60 million   -   

Lease guarantee facility $3 million  

Total New Banking Facilities  $93 million   $20 million  
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Senior Revolving Facility 

The senior revolving facility will be used to enable the initial acquisition of childcare businesses and as 
core bank debt to support the business. This facility will expire on 30 April 2018. However, the facility 
may be extended by a further 12 months on the anniversary of the date of the facilities agreement with 
the approval of ASB. 

Acquisition Facility 

The acquisition facility will be used to fund future acquisitions of childcare ECE Centres.  This facility 
will expire on 30 April 2018. However, the facility may be extended by a further 12 months on the 
anniversary of the date of the facilities agreement with the approval of ASB.Lease guarantee Facility 

The lease guarantee facility will be used for bonding purposes for rental leases.  

Financial Undertakings 

The agreement under which the New Financing Arrangements will be made available will contain 
undertakings given by Evolve Education Group which will be usual for facilities of this nature. The 
undertakings will include financial undertakings which will be tested at regular intervals during the year 
based upon historical results. The financial undertakings are described in Section 7.9 Description of 
Evolve Education Group’s Financing Arrangements. 

The PFI does not indicate any issues in relation to this and Evolve Education expects to remain in 
compliance with these undertakings.  

Dividends 

The current intention of the Board is to pay dividends on a half yearly basis of between 40% and 60% 
of NPAT in respect of the preceding half year period, with the first dividend expected to be paid for the 
half-year period ending 30 September 2015 (which would, if declared, be paid in December 2015).  

In determining whether to declare future dividends, the Directors will have regard to Evolve 
Education's earnings, overall financial condition and requirements, the outlook for the childcare 
industry, the taxation position of Evolve Education and future capital requirements.  Further details of 
Evolve Education’s dividend policy are set out in Section 6.5 Board Policies and Procedures under the 
heading “Dividend Policy”.  

Dividends, if any, will be paid as an interim dividend prior to 31 December each year and as a final 
dividend prior to 30 June each year. Any interim dividend will be determined after taking into 
consideration all relevant matters including half year and forecast trading results. Any final dividend 
will be determined after taking into account the final trading results for the year, the interim dividend 
and other considerations. No assurance or guarantee can be given about the future dividend policy, 
the extent of future dividends or the timing or imputation credits attached to any dividend.  

Dividends, when declared, are expected to be fully imputed for New Zealand tax purposes but no 
franking credits are expected to be available for Australian tax purposes. 

In line with the Board’s current intention, the PFI assumes the proposed payment of an interim 
dividend in December 2015 of $4.2 million. The interim dividend represents 50% of the total forecast 
dividend.  The total forecast dividend is 50% of the FY16F NPAT.  This dividend is presented gross of 
any resident withholding tax payable. 

Sensitivity Analysis 

The PFI is based upon a number of estimates and assumptions as described above.  These estimates 
and assumptions are subject to business, economic and competitive uncertainties and contingencies, 
many of which are beyond the control of Evolve Education, the Directors and Management.  These 
estimates are also based on assumptions with respect to future business decisions, which are subject 
to change.  

Set out below is a summary of the key sensitivities of the forecast statement of comprehensive income 
for FY16F to changes in a number of key assumptions.  The changes in the key assumptions set out 
in the sensitivity analysis are intended to provide a guide only and are not intended to be indicative of 
the complete range of variations that may be experienced.  They are for information purposes only to 
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allow potential investors to gain an understanding of the sensitivities of financial outcomes to changes 
in these key assumptions. 

Care should be taken in interpreting these sensitivities as they consider movements in an assumption 
on an isolated basis, whereas in reality the effects of movements in an assumption may be offset or 
compounded by movements in other assumptions. Furthermore in the normal course of business, 
Management would be expected to respond to any changes in these key variables to minimise the net 
effect on financial performance. 

The four key assumptions that are considered to have a significant impact on the prospective financial 
performance are set out below.  
 

 Average Occupancy: As detailed in the key assumptions, the occupancy of the Owned ECE 
Centres is a key driver of revenue. This could be impacted by a number of different factors such as 
the extent of funding provided by the Ministry of Education and the quality of the employees at the 
Owned ECE Centres. For the purposes of the sensitivity calculation above, it is assumed that a 
1% movement occurs evenly across all the Owned ECE Centres and has nil effect on employee 
expenses. 

 Daily rate per child: The daily rate per child is calculated from the Ministry of Education and, in 
the case of ECE Centres, also parents/caregivers. This rate is a function of local market 
conditions. If there was a change in the level of competition in the areas in which Evolve Education 
operates or a perceived change in the quality of individual ECE Centres, it may impact the daily 
rate able to be recovered. This sensitivity assumes a movement in the daily rate across all ECE 
Centres with no change in cost base. 

 Employee expenses: Employee expenses are forecast based on Ministry of Education 
regulations regarding child to staff ratios and current wage levels adjusted for future wage inflation. 
The sensitivity below addresses a 1% movement in employee expenses across all the Owned 
ECE Centres and Home-based ECE. 

 Number of ECE Centres acquired: ECE Centres are forecast based on those expected to settle 
on completion of the Offer or within a period of three and a half months following completion of the 
Offer. The sensitivity below demonstrates the impact of an increase / (reduction) in the number of 
ECE Centres acquired. 

 Building occupancy expenses: Building occupancy expenses relate largely to lease costs.  The 
sensitivity below demonstrates the impact of a movement of 1% in building occupancy costs. 

 Number of children in Home Care: The movement in child numbers in the Home-based ECE 
businesses measures the sensitivity of profitability to changes in demand.  

 
Summary of key sensitivities 
 
The table below ranks the sensitivities according to significance. 
 

Assumption           
Increase/ 
decrease 

FY16F 
NPAT 

impact 

Average occupancy - ECE Centres       +/- 1% $0.9 million 

Daily rate per child - ECE Centres and Home-based ECE     +/- 1% $0.9 million 

Employee expenses - ECE Centres and Home-based 
ECE 

    +/- 1% $0.5 million 

Number of Centres Acquired         + / -1 Centre $0.2 million 

Building occupancy expenses - ECE Centres and Home-based ECE   +/- 1% $0.1 million 

Number of children - Home-based ECE       +/- 1% $0.1 million 
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7.3 Pro forma Prospective Consolidated Income Statement 

The following Non-GAAP financial information represents prospective financial information that has 
been adjusted for specific items to assist potential investors with understanding the underlying 
forecast performance of the Evolve Education business.  

Pro forma Prospective Consolidated Income Statement 

            
Period 

ending 31 
March 2015 

Year ending 
31 March  

2016 

$'000s           Forecast Forecast 

Revenue from continuing operations (3)     29,028 136,221 

Share in equity accounted investee's profit (4)     55 272 

Employee expenses (5)           (17,492) (72,474) 

Building occupancy expenses 
(6) 

        (3,789) (16,082) 

Direct expenses of providing services (7)     (3,852) (16,560) 

Other expenses (8)           (3,134) (5,673) 

Total expenses           (28,267) (110,788) 

EBITDA before acquisition, integration and listing related costs   816 25,705 

Depreciation (10)            (1,520) 

Amortisation (10)            (418) 

Net finance expense (11)            (674) 

Net Profit before Tax            23,094 

Income Tax Expense 
(12) 

           (6,466) 

Net Profit after Tax            16,627 

 

Notes: 

1. The Pro Forma Prospective Consolidated Income Statement excludes acquisition, integration and listing related costs 
as shown in 7.4 Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Information. Refer to Section 7.2 Prospective Financial 
Information for information on key assumptions used in preparing the PFI. The numbers shown have not been 
rounded. 

2. The period ending 31 March 2015 represents the financial performance of Evolve Education since 20 May 2014, 
being the date of incorporation, to 31 March 2015. The results assume completion of the Acquisition Agreements 
occurs in the period from December 2014 to March 2015, with the majority being completed during December 2014 
and January 2015. As such the period to 31 March 2015 will include a maximum of three and a half months trading. 

3. Revenue is comprised of childcare fees and government funding in respect of Owned ECE Centres and Home-based                           
ECE businesses. 

4. Share in equity accounted investee’s profits is comprised of Evolve Education’s share of earnings derived from a 
jointly controlled operation. 

5. Employee expenses comprise the wages and salaries (and related expenses such as ACC levies and Kiwisaver 
contributions) of Owned ECE Centres, Home-based ECE and corporate office employees. 

6. Building occupancy expenses is comprised of property lease expenses and related property costs. Evolve Education 
leases all of its premises. 

7. Direct expenses of providing services are those incurred in the direct provision of ECE services.  

8. Other expenses are comprised predominantly of corporate office expenses such as audit, travel and insurance. 

9. The one-off acquisition, integration and listing costs excluded are described in Section 7.4 Reconciliation of Non-
GAAP Financial Information. 
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10. Depreciation and amortisation relates to tangible and intangible assets to be acquired by Evolve Education and arising 
on acquisition of the Initial Portfolio. These assets are depreciated/amortised over their useful economic lives. The 
amortisation charge relates to software assets, customer lists and training materials acquired. 

11. Net finance expenses represent interest charged on drawn facilities offset by interest earned on the cash in bank 
(refer to Section 7.2.6 Specific Assumptions under the heading “Net finance expenses”). The interest charge includes 
a payment of $1.798 million to Stuart and Gillian James as trustees of the S.B. James Superannuation Fund, Kern 
Group NZ Limited and Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited under the Loan Agreements referred to in Section 10 
Statutory Information under the heading “Material contracts” and interest charges in relation to earn-outs agreed with 
respect to the acquisition of PORSE and other entities included in the Initial Portfolio. 

12. Income tax expense reflects a 28% company tax rate for the Prospective Periods. 

Explanation of Non-GAAP financial information 

Evolve Education’s audited financial statements to 31 August 2014 set out in Appendix 1 have been 
prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP.  They comply with New Zealand equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) as applicable for profit orientated entities.  The Prospective 
Financial Information set out in Section 7.2 also complies with NZ IFRS. 

In addition to GAAP measures of profitability, Evolve Education will also monitor its profitability using 
the Non-GAAP financial measures, such as of EBITDA. A reconciliation between EBITDA and NPAT 
is presented in Section 7.4 Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Information. 

EBITDA and EBITDA excluding one-off acquisition, integration and listing related costs 

EBITDA is not defined by NZ GAAP, IFRS or any other body of accounting standards and therefore 
Evolve Education’s calculation of this measure may differ from similarly titled measures presented by 
other companies.  This measure is intended to supplement the NZ GAAP measures presented in 
Evolve Education’s financial information, should not be considered in isolation and is not a substitute 
for those measures.  

EBITDA excluding one-off acquisition, integration and listing related costs reflects a number of 
adjustments relating to the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio and listing (see Section 7.4 Reconciliation 
of Non-GAAP Financial Information).  
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7.4 Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Information  

Set out below is a reconciliation of Non-GAAP profitability measures (as described in Section 7.3 Pro 
forma Prospective Consolidated Income Statement under the heading “Explanation of Non-GAAP 
financial information”) with the prospective financial information set out in Section 7.2, together with a 
description of the various adjustments.  EBITDA is a key metric which management monitors to 
operate the business.  The measure provides a metric which measures the operating performance of 
the business and which is often used by the analysts to assess the enterprise value of the business. 

Reconciliation of Non-GAAP Financial Information 

            

Period 
ending 31 

March 2015 
(1,2) 

Year 
ending 31 

March  
2016 

$'000s           Forecast Forecast 

Statutory NPAT           (9,498) 16,627 

Net Finance Expense           2,117 674 

Income Tax Expense           607 6,466 

EBIT           (6,774) 23,768 

Depreciation           339 1,520 

Amortisation            121 418 

EBITDA including one-off acquisition, integration and listing related costs (6,313) 25,705 

Acquisition Expenses            4,126 - 

Integration Expenses            1,430 - 

Listing Costs            1,253 - 

Other            320 - 

Total adjustments for one-off items     7,130 - 

EBITDA excluding one-off acquisition, integration and listing related costs 816 25,705 

 

Notes: 

1. Refer to Section 7.2 Prospective Financial Information for information on key assumptions used in preparing the PFI. 

2. The period ending 31 March 2015 represents the actual financial performance of Evolve Education since 20 May 2014 
and the projected financial performance to 31 March 2015. The results assume completion of the Acquisition 
Agreements occurs in the period from December 2014 to March 2015, with the majority being completed over the 
period December 2014 to January 2015.  

Explanations of adjustments made in arriving at EBITDA excluding one-off acquisition, 
integration and listing related costs 

The Non-GAAP measures of EBITDA, EBITDA excluding one-off acquisition, integration and listing 
related costs have been described under the heading “Explanation of Non-GAAP Financial 
Information” in Section 7.3 Pro forma Prospective Consolidated Income Statement under the heading 
“Explanation of Non-GAAP financial information”.  

a. Acquisition expenses: In acquiring the Initial Portfolio, Evolve Education will incur certain 
expenses directly relating to those acquisitions including agents’ commissions, legal fees, 
financing fees and financial, tax and operational due diligence fees. 

b. Integration expenses: Non-recurring costs associated with the integration of the businesses will 
be expensed.   

c. Listing costs: These relate to NZX and ASX listing costs and non-recoverable GST. All listing 
costs are expensed in the statutory forecast results. These expenses are not tax-deductible.  
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d. Other expenses: These relate to a provision for legal expenses and settlement costs that have 
been incurred by Evolve Education in connection with an employment related dispute, which has 
now been settled.  
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7.5 Pro Forma Statement of Financial Position  

The Pro Forma Statement of Financial Position set out below shows Evolve Education’s expected 
financial position immediately upon completion of the Offer and completion of the acquisition of the 
entire Initial Portfolio (on the basis that completion of the acquisition of the entire Initial Portfolio is 
shown to have occurred immediately on completion of the Offer as if these had occurred on 31 August 
2014). 
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Pro forma Statement of Financial Position 31 August 2014 

  

As at 

 31 

August  

2014  
(1) 

IPO 

Proceeds 

(2) 

Bank 

Debt 

raised at 

IPO (3) 

Acquisition, 

Integration 

and Listing 

Costs 

incurred 
since 31 

August (4) 

Acquisitions 

(5) (6) 

Pro Forma 

Balance 

Sheet as at 

31 August 
2014 (7) 

$'000s Actual         Pro-forma 

Current assets             

Cash and cash equivalents 35 120,735 20,000 (4,992) (108,422) 27,357 

Trade and other receivables 673 - - - 618 1,291 

Other current assets 2,092 - - - 542 2,634 

Total current assets 2,800 120,735 20,000 (4,992) (107,262) 31,282 

Non-current assets             

Property, plant and equipment - - - - 5,074 5,074 

Investments (8) - - - - 482 482 

Intangibles 13 - - - 153,974 153,987 

Total non-current assets 13 - - - 159,529 159,542 

Total assets 2,813 120,735 20,000 (4,992) 52,267 190,824 

Current liabilities             

Trade and other payables (3,969) - - - (4,282) (8,251) 

Funding received in advance - - - - (5,302) (5,302) 

Employee entitlements - - - - (4,291) (4,291) 

Lease liabilities - - - - (559) (559) 

Other current liabilities (1,677) - - - (1,605) (3,282) 

Total current liabilities (5,646) - - - (16,038) (21,684) 

Non-current liabilities             

Bank borrowings - - (20,000) - - (20,000) 

Other - - - - (19) (19) 

Total non-current liabilities - - (20,000) - (19) (20,019) 

Total liabilities (5,646) - (20,000) - (16,057) (41,703) 

Net Assets (2,833) 120,735 - (4,992) 36,210 149,121 

Equity             

Issued share capital - 120,735 - - 36,210 156,945 

Retained earnings (2,833) - - (4,992) - (7,825) 

Total equity (2,833) 120,735 - (4,992) 36,210 149,121 

              

Parent Shareholder Equity (2,833) 120,735 - (4,992) 36,210 149,121 

Non-controlling Interests - - - - - - 

Total Equity (2,833) 120,735 - (4,992) 36,210 149,121 
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Basis of preparation 

1. Sourced from the audited statement of financial position for Evolve Education as at 31 August 2014 (set out in full in 
Appendix 1 – Historical Financial Information). Evolve Education was established for the purpose of acquiring the Initial 
Portfolio. 

2. The net proceeds raised will be used to acquire the Initial Portfolio.  These proceeds are reflected net of issuance costs 
incurred by Evolve Education. Issuance costs are forecast to be $12.4 million. 

3. Evolve Education intends to draw down $20 million of revolving debt on completion of the Offer to partially fund the 
acquisition of the Initial Portfolio and ensure that Evolve Education has adequate liquidity.  The high cash position on 
Completion of the Offer is required to fund the business over the period to March 2015, when Evolve Education will receive 
its first payment from the Ministry of Education. The Ministry of Education part funds the provision of services in advance.    

4. Acquisition and Listing costs are incurred over the period leading up to and including the completion of the Offer. Expenses 
incurred in acquiring the Initial Portfolio will be expensed through the profit and loss account. 

5. The acquisitions comprising the Initial Portfolio will be concluded during the period from December 2014 to March 2015 
following completion of the Offer.  The PFI assumes that on average the acquisitions will occur on 31 December.  The 
purchase price for these acquisitions has been allocated based on an estimate of the split between tangible and intangible 
assets.  The fair value of the tangible assets to be acquired is estimated to be approximately $40,000 per ECE Centre. The 
intangible assets are expected to include brands, customer contracts and software assets in Lollipops and the PORSE 
Group.  No separately identifiable intangible assets have been identified for the Owned ECE Centres.  The final allocation 
of the purchase price between these elements will occur following completion of the Offer.  As part of the settlement 
process on acquisitions, Evolve Education will acquire Ministry of Education service obligations. The purchase price for the 
acquisitions will be reduced to the extent that these liabilities are not funded in the target companies and businesses. The 
Pro-forma balance sheet contains an estimate of the liabilities expected to be acquired, based on assumptions as to 
revenue and timing of the transactions.  The net tangible assets acquired are based on Lollipops at 31 March 2014, the 
PORSE Group at 31 August 2014, and the other related businesses that Evolve Education has contracted to acquire at 31 
March 2014

59
.  Due to the lack of GAAP historical financial information available in respect of the 55 Additional ECE 

Centres, assumptions on the net assets have been applied consistently across these centres for inclusion in the Pro Forma 
Statement of Financial Position based on underlying financial metrics and supporting analysis.  The Pro Forma Statement 
of Financial Position has been prepared assuming that these transactions occurred on 31 August 2014. 

6. The intangible asset balance of $153.99 million is comprised of goodwill, brands, software, customer lists and training 
material assets to be acquired.  The brands acquired relate to Lollipops Educare and PORSE. 

7. The Pro Forma balance sheet presents an estimate of the opening balance sheet following the acquisitions of the Initial 
Portfolio, as if the transactions and Offer had been completed on 31 August 2014. 

8.  This relates to an equity accounted investee held by Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited. 

  

                                                      

59
 These being a company that operates a Home-based ECE business and a company that manages 20 ECE Centres for third 

parties. 
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7.6 Accounting Policies 

The PFI has been prepared based on the significant accounting policies adopted by Evolve Education 
which are in accordance with NZ IFRS.  Significant accounting policies are summarised below.   

The preparation of financial information requires the application of accounting policies. The selection 
of accounting policies requires judgement and application of policies requires estimates and 
assumptions to be applied. Actual results may differ to those derived from the application of 
accounting policies where actual outcomes vary to assumptions and estimates made. 

Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in the PFI and have been applied consistently across all Evolve Education entities. 
 

a. Basis of consolidation 

i. Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the 
acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred to Evolve 
Education. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of 
an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, Evolve 
Education takes into consideration potential voting rights that currently are 
exercisable.  

 
Evolve Education measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

 The fair value of the consideration transferred; less 

 The net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed.  

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Consideration transferred does not 
include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts generally re recognised in profit and loss.  

ii. Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by Evolve Education. The financial statements 
of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that control commences until the date that control ceases.  
 

iii. Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities (equity accounted 

investees) 

Associates are those entities in which Evolve Education has significant influence, 
but not control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is 
presumed to exist when Evolve Education holds between 20% and 50% of the 
voting power of another entity. Joint ventures are those entities over whose 
activities the Group has joint control, established by contractual agreement and 
requiring unanimous consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. 
Investments in associates and jointly controlled entities are accounted for using 
the equity method and are recognised initially at cost. The cost of the investment 
includes transaction costs.  
 
The consolidated financial statements include Evolve Education’s share of the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of equity accounted investees, 
after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the Group, from 
the date that significant influence or joint control commences until the date that 
significant influence or joint control ceases. 
When Evolve Education’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity 
accounted investee, the carrying amount of the investment, including any long-
term investments that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the recognition of 
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that Evolve Education has an 
obligation or has made payments on behalf of the investee. 
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iv. Loss of control 

On the loss of control, Evolve Education derecognises the assets and liabilities of 
the subsidiary, any non-controlling interests and the other components of equity 
related to the subsidiary. Any surplus or deficit arising on the loss of control is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. If Evolve Education 
retains any interest in the previous subsidiary, then such interest is measured at 
fair value at the date that control is lost.  
 
Subsequently it is accounted for as an equity-accounted investee or as an 
available-for-sale financial asset depending on the level of influence retained. 
 

v. Transactions eliminated on consolidation 

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses 
arising from intra-group transactions, are eliminated in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. 

  

b. Revenue 

Revenues are recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is 
probable that the future economic benefits will flow to the entity, and specific criteria 
have been met for each of Evolve Education’s activities as described below: 
 
Ministry of Education funding 
Ministry of Education funding is recognised initially as income received in advance 
and is then recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a systematic 
basis over the period to which the funding relates. Income receivable from the Ministry 
of Education by way of a wash-up payment is recognised as an asset, and is netted 
off against the income received in advance. 
 
Childcare fees 
Fees paid by government (childcare benefit) or parents are recognised as and when a 
child attends, or was scheduled to attend, a childcare facility or receives home-based 
care.  
 
Education income 
Revenue from the provision of tertiary education is recognised when the service has 
been rendered or when a contractual right to the income arises, whichever is earlier. 
 
Interest income 
Interest income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income using the 
effective interest method.  

 
c. Income tax 

Tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current tax and deferred tax is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income except to the extent that it 
relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in other 
comprehensive income.  
 
Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date, and 
any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. Current tax also includes 
any tax liability arising from the declaration of dividends.  
 
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts 
used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognised for:  
 

 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a 

transaction that is not a  business combination and that affects neither accounting 

nor taxable profit or loss,  

 temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill; and  
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 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled 

entities to the extent that it is probable that they will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. 

 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date.  

In determining the amount of current and deferred tax Evolve Education takes into 
account the impact of uncertain tax positions and whether additional taxes and 
interest may be due. Evolve Education believes that its accruals for tax liabilities are 
adequate for all open tax years based on its assessment of many factors, including 
interpretations of tax law and prior experience.  This assessment relies on estimates 
and assumptions and may involve a series of judgements about future events. New 
information may become available that causes Evolve Education to change its 
judgement regarding the adequacy of existing tax liabilities; such changes to tax 
liabilities will impact tax expense in the period that such a determination is made.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to income taxes levied by the 
same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they 
intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and 
liabilities will be realised simultaneously.  

A deferred tax asset is recognised for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be 
available against which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the 
related tax benefit will be realised. 

d. Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of 
property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds 
from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
 
Property, plant and equipment expenses with individual values under $500 are not 
capitalised, they are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive 
income.  
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged based on the cost of an asset less its residual value. 
Depreciation is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive income on a straight line 
basis over the estimated useful lives of each component of an item of property, plant 
and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated over a shorter of the lease term and 
their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that Evolve Education will obtain 
ownership by the end of the lease term. The following depreciation rates ranges have 
been used: 
 
Plant and equipment 4 years 
Office furniture & fittings 4 years 
Leasehold improvements 4 years 
Motor vehicles 5 years 
 
The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at reporting 
date and adjusted if appropriate.  
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e. Intangible assets 

Goodwill 
Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of a business and is the difference 
between the cost of acquisition and the fair value of the net identifiable assets 
acquired. 
 
Subsequent measurement 
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is 
allocated to cash-generating units and is not amortised but is reviewed at each 
balance date to determine whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. 
 
Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets that are acquired by Evolve Education and have finite and 
indefinite useful lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Other intangible assets have been amortised over 
their estimated useful lives:  
 
Software 4 years 
Training Syllabus 4 years 
Customer lists 4 years 
Brand names Indefinite life 
 
Subsequent expenditure 
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic 
benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates.  All other expenditure, 
including expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands, is recognised in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income as incurred. 
 
Amortisation 
Except for goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite lives or are not yet 
available for use, intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income over their estimated useful lives, from the date 
that they are available for use. 
 
Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting 
date and adjusted if appropriate. 
 

f. Leased assets 

Leases in terms of which Evolve Education assumes substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Upon initial recognition the 
leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the 
present value of the minimum lease payments.  Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that 
asset.  
 
Other leases are operating leases and are not recognised in Evolve Education's 
statement of financial position. 
 

g. Financial instruments 

i. Non-derivative financial assets 

Non-derivative financial assets 
Evolve Education classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following 
category: loans and receivables. Evolve Education initially recognises loans and 
receivables on the date that they are originated.  
Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs.  Subsequent to initial 
recognition loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.  
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Loans and receivables comprise cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables and loans to subsidiaries and other related parties.  
 
Evolve Education derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to 
the cash flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the 
contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in 
transferred financial assets that is created or retained by Evolve Education is 
recognised as a separate asset or liability.  
 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position when, and only when, Evolve Education has a 
legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis or to 
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  
 

ii. Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Evolve Education initially recognises financial liabilities on the date that they are 
originated.  
 
Evolve Education derecognises a financial liability when its contractual 
obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire.  
 
Evolve Education classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other 
financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.  
 
Other financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, bank overdrafts, and 
trade and other payables.  
 
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of 
Evolve Education's cash management are included as a component of cash and 
cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows. 
 

iii. Share capital 

Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to 
the issue of ordinary shares and share options are recognised as a deduction 
from equity, net of any tax effects. 
 

h. Impairment 

i. Non-derivative financial assets 

A financial asset not carried at fair value through the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if there 
is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event(s) had an 
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated 
reliably.  
 
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or 
delinquency by a debtor, restructuring of an amount due to Evolve Education on 
terms that Evolve Education would not consider otherwise, indications that a 
debtor will enter bankruptcy and adverse changes in the payment status of 
debtors.  
 

ii. Financial assets measured at amortised cost 

Evolve Education considers evidence of impairment for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost (loans and receivables) at both a specific asset and 
collective level. All individually significant assets are assessed for specific 
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impairment.  Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively 
assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified. Assets 
that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by 
grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.  
 
In assessing collective impairment Evolve Education uses historical trends of the 
probability of default, the timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, 
adjusted for management's judgement as to whether current economic and credit 
conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than 
suggested by historical trends.  
 
Any impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and reflected in an allowance account against loans and receivables or 
held-to-maturity investment securities. Interest on the impaired asset continues to 
be recognised. When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised 
causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment 
loss is reversed through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

iii. Non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of Evolve Education's non-financial assets, other than 
deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the 
asset's recoverable amount is estimated. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible 
assets are tested annually for impairment.  An impairment loss is recognised if 
the carrying amount of an asset or its related cash-generating unit (CGU) 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.  
 
The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and 
its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset or CGU. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that 
cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the smallest group of 
assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs. Subject to an operating 
segment ceiling test, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are aggregated 
so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level 
at which goodwill is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired 
in a business combination is allocated to groups of CGUs that are expected to 
benefit from the synergies of the combination.  
 
Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU (group of CGUs), and then 
to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) 
on a pro rata basis. 
 
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For other assets, an 
impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. 
 

i. Determination of fair values 

A number of the Group's accounting policies and disclosures require the 
determination of fair value, for both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
Fair values have been determined for business combinations and / or disclosure 
purposes based on the following methods. When applicable, further information about 
the assumptions made in determining fair values is disclosed in the notes specific to 
that asset or liability. 
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Property, plant and equipment 
The fair value of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business 
combination is based on the market approach and cost approaches using quoted 
market prices for similar items when available and depreciated replacement cost 
when appropriate. Depreciated replacement cost reflects adjustments for physical 
deterioration as well as functional and economic obsolescence. 
 

j. Employee benefits 

Provision is made for the Company's liability for employee benefits arising from 
services rendered by employees to balance date. Employee benefits that are 
expected to be settled within one year have been measured at the amounts expected 
to be paid when the liability is settled, plus related on-costs are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 
 

k. Provisions 

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, Evolve Education has a 
present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is 
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost. 
 

l. Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Evolve 
Education prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other 
payables are initially recognised at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 

 
m. Expenses 

Operating lease payments 
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income over 
the lease term as an integral part of the total lease expense. 
 
Determining whether an arrangement contains a lease 
At inception of an arrangement, Evolve Education determines whether such an 
arrangement is or contains a lease. This will be the case if the following two criteria 
are met:  

 the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 

assets; and  

 the arrangement contains a right to use the asset(s).  

 
At inception or upon reassessment of the arrangement, Evolve Education separates 
payments and other consideration required by such an arrangement into those for the 
lease and those for other elements on the basis of their relative fair values. If Evolve 
Education concludes for a finance lease that it is impracticable to separate the 
payments reliably, an asset and a liability are recognised at an amount equal to the 
fair value of the underlying asset. Subsequently the liability is reduced as payments 
are made and an imputed finance charge on the liability is recognised using Evolve 
Education's incremental borrowing rate. 
 
Finance expenses 
 
Finance expenses comprise interest expense on borrowings, seed capital, 
establishment fees and earn outs agreed upon the acquisition of certain entities within 
the Initial Portfolio. All borrowing costs are recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income using the effective interest method. 
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n. Goods and services tax 

All amounts are shown exclusive of Goods and Services Tax (GST), except for trade 
receivables and trade payables that are stated inclusive of GST. 

It is assumed that there will be no unanticipated changes to Accounting Standards, the Companies Act 
1993 or other financial reporting requirements that may have a material effect on Evolve Education’s 
accounting policies during the Prospective Period. 
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7.7 Investigating Accountant’s Report 
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The Directors 

Evolve Education Group Limited 

Level 2, 54 Fort Street 

Auckland 1010 

New Zealand 

 

 

14 November 2014 

  

 

Investigating Accountant's Limited Assurance Report on Prospective 
Financial Information 

 
We have prepared this investigating accountant's limited assurance report (Report) in accordance 
with the terms of our engagement letter dated 21 August 2014, on certain prospective financial 
information of Evolve Education Group Limited (“Evolve”) and its subsidiaries (together “Evolve 
Group”), for inclusion in a prospectus to be dated 14 November 2014 (the Prospectus) relating to 
the Initial Public Offering of ordinary shares in Evolve Education Group Limited (the Offer).  
Expressions defined in the Prospectus have the same meaning in this Report.  This Report is an 
independent limited assurance report, the scope of which is set out below.  

 

Directors' responsibilities for the Prospective Financial Information 

The Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Prospective Financial 

Information, including the assumptions based on best information that are reasonable and 

supportable (as required in FRS-42 Prospective Financial Information issued in New Zealand), on 

which the Prospective Financial Information is based. 

Our responsibility 

You have requested PricewaterhouseCoopers to prepare this Report which covers the prospective 

financial information of the Evolve Group for the period ending 31 March 2015 and the year ending 31 

March 2016, including notes and assumptions thereto, on pages 69 to 81, referred to as the 

"Prospective Financial Information". 

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion as a result of our limited assurance engagement on the 

Prospective Financial Information in accordance with International Standard on Assurance 

Engagements (New Zealand) 3000, issued in New Zealand, applicable to assurance engagements other 

than audits or reviews of historical financial information. 

Our procedures consisted primarily of enquiry, discussion and comparison and other such analytical 

review procedures we considered necessary so as to form an opinion as to whether anything has come 

to our attention which causes us to believe that in all material respects: 

a) the Directors' assumptions based on best information do not provide a reasonable and 

supportable basis (as defined by FRS-42)  for the Prospective Financial Information; 

b) the Prospective Financial Information was not properly prepared on the basis of the 

assumptions based on our understanding; and
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c) the Prospective Financial Information is not presented fairly in accordance with the recognition 

and measurement principles prescribed in New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial 

Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS) and the accounting policies adopted by Evolve Group disclosed 

on pages 89 to 96 of this prospectus. 

The Prospective Financial Information has been prepared by the Directors to provide investors with a 

guide to Evolve Group's potential future financial performance based upon the achievement of certain 

economic, operating, development and trading assumptions about future events and actions that have 

not yet occurred and may not necessarily occur.  There is a considerable degree of subjective 

judgement involved in the preparation of the Prospective Financial Information.  Actual results may 

vary materially from the Prospective Financial Information and the variation may be materially 

positive or negative.  Accordingly, investors should have regard to the risk factors set out in Section 5 - 

Risks. 

The scope of this engagement has not extended to performing any procedures by way of audit, review 

or verification of the underlying records or other sources from which the amounts included in the 

Prospective Financial Information were extracted. The procedures performed do not provide all the 

evidence that would be required in an audit, thus the level of assurance provided is less than that given 

in an audit. We have not performed an audit and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on 

the Prospective Financial Information. 

Conclusion on the Prospective Financial Information 

Based on our limited assurance procedures on the Prospective Financial Information and the 

Director’s assumptions, which is not an audit, nothing has come to our attention which causes us to 

believe that, in any material respect: 

a) the Directors' assumptions based on best information set out in the Prospective Financial 

Information section of the Prospectus, and subject to the risks set out elsewhere in the 

Prospectus, do not provide a reasonable and supportable basis (as defined by FRS-42) for the 

Prospective Financial Information; 

b) the Prospective Financial Information was not properly prepared on the basis of the 

assumptions based on best information; and 

c) the Prospective Financial Information is not presented fairly in accordance with the recognition 

and measurement principles prescribed in NZ IFRS and other mandatory professional reporting 

requirements in New Zealand, and the accounting policies adopted by the Evolve Group 

disclosed on pages 89 to 96 of this prospectus. 

The assumptions set out in the Prospective Financial Information section of the Prospectus which 

form the basis of the Prospective Financial Information are subject to significant uncertainties and 

contingencies, which are often outside the control of Evolve Group.  If events do not occur as assumed, 

actual results and distributions achieved by Evolve Group may vary significantly from the Prospective 

Financial Information.  Accordingly, we do not confirm or guarantee the achievement of the 

Prospective Financial Information, as future events, by their very nature, are not capable of 

independent substantiation. 

Independence or disclosure of interest 

PricewaterhouseCoopers does not have any interest in the outcome of the Offer other than the 

preparation of this Report and participation in due diligence in connection with the Prospectus and 
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integration advisory services being performed in respect of the Evolve Group businesses, for which 

normal professional fees will be received.  We have no relationship with or interests in any member 

of the Evolve Group other than in our capacities as auditor, investigating accountant, tax adviser 

and providers of other advisory and assurance services. These services have not impaired our 

independence as investigating accountant of Evolve Group. 

Restrictions on Use of our Report 

This report is made solely to the directors of Evolve for inclusion in the Prospectus. We disclaim 

any assumption of responsibility for any reliance on this Report or on the Prospective Financial 

Information to which this Report relates for any purpose other than the purpose for which it was 

prepared. This Report should be read in conjunction with the Prospectus.  However, we take no 

responsibility for, nor do we report on, any part of the Prospectus not specifically mentioned in this 

report.  To the fullest extent permitted by law we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone 

other than the directors of Evolve for the conclusions that we have formed. 

 

Yours faithfully 

 

 

 

 

 

Chartered Accountants Auckland 
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7.8 Statutory Audit Report 
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The Directors 
Evolve Education Group Limited 
Level 2, 54 Fort Street 
Auckland 1010 
New Zealand 

 
14 November 2014 

 

 

Report of the Independent Auditor for inclusion in the Prospectus  

 

Dear Directors 

 

As auditor of Evolve Education Group Limited (“Evolve”) we have prepared this report pursuant to 
clause 28 of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009 (the “Regulations”) for inclusion in the 
Prospectus to be dated 14 November 2014 (the “Prospectus”). 

The Prospectus includes: 

a) the financial statements of Evolve and its subsidiaries (together the “Evolve Group”) which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 August 2014, the statement of comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the period then 
ended, and the notes to the financial statements that include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information for both Evolve and the Evolve Group, as required by 
clause 23(3) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009; 

b) summary financial statements of the Evolve Group which comprise the summary statement of 
financial position as at 31 August 2014, the summary statement of comprehensive income, the 
summary statement of changes in equity and the summary statement of cash flows for the period 
then ended, as required by clause 9(1) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009; 

c) summary financial statements of Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited, PORSE In-Home Childcare 
(NZ) Limited, PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited, PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited and 
FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited (businesses to be acquired by Evolve) (the “Material 
Acquisitions”) as required by clause 12(3)(d) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009, as 
amended by the Securities Act (Evolve Education Group Limited) Exemption Notice 2014 (the 
“Exemption Notice”). These summary financial statements comprise summary statements of 
financial position, summary statements of comprehensive income, summary statements of 
changes in equity and summary statements of the cash flows as at and for the periods required by 
clause 12(3)(d) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009, as amended by the Exemption 
Notice; and 

d) the prospective financial statements of the Evolve Group, which comprise the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016, the statements of comprehensive 
income, the statements of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows for the periods then 
ending, including the assumptions on which they are based, as required by clause 11 of Schedule 1 
of the Securities Regulations 2009. 

The summary financial statements do not contain all the disclosures required for full financial 
statements under generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. Reading the summary 
financial statements therefore is not a substitute for reading the full financial statements of Evolve 
Group or the Material Acquisitions. 
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This report is made solely to the Directors, for the purpose of clause 28 of Schedule 1 of the Securities 
Regulations 2009. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state those matters we are required 
to state to the Directors in a report from the auditor and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law and subject to the Securities Act 1978 and Securities Regulations 2009, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Directors for this report.  In addition, we take 
no responsibility for, nor do we report on, any part of the prospectus not specifically mentioned in this 
report. 

Directors’ Responsibilities 
Evolve’s Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of: 

a) the financial statements of the Evolve Group as required under clause 23(3) of Schedule 1 of the 
Securities Regulations 2009, that comply with the Financial Reporting Act 1993, and which 
comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand and which give a true and fair 
view of the matters to which they relate and for such internal controls as the Directors’ determine 
are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 

b) the summary financial statements of the Evolve Group for the period ended 31 August 2014 as 
required under clause 9(1) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009; 

c) the summary financial statements of the Material Acquisitions as required by clause 12(3)(d) of 
Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009, as amended by the Exemption; and 

d) the prospective financial statements of the Evolve Group, for the period ending 31 March 2015 and 
the year ending 31 March 2016 including the assumptions on which they are based, as required by 
clause 11 of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Evolve Group’s financial statements based on our 
audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (New Zealand) 
and International Standards on Auditing.  These standards require that we comply with relevant 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error.  In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal controls relevant to Evolve 
and the Evolve Group’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view of the matters 
to which they relate, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Evolve and the Evolve Group’s 
internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

We are also responsible for reporting, in accordance with clause 28 of Schedule 1 of the Securities 
Regulations 2009, on: 

a) the amounts included in the summary financial statements of the Evolve Group for the period 
ended 31 August 2014; 

b) the amounts included in the summary financial statements of the Material Acquisitions; and 
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c) the prospective financial statements of the Evolve Group, for the period ending 31 March 2015 and 
the year ending 31 March 2016. 

In respect of the summary financial statements of the Evolve Group and the Material Acquisitions we 
have undertaken reasonable procedures pursuant to clause 28(1)(h) of Schedule 1 of the Securities 
Regulations 2009.  Our engagement was conducted to obtain reasonable assurance that, in all material 
respects, the amounts set out in the summary financial statements and presented in accordance with 
clause 9(1) and 12(3) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009, as amended by the Exemption 
Notice, included in the Prospectus have been correctly taken from the audited and unaudited financial 
statements of the Evolve Group and the Material Acquisitions. 

In respect of the prospective financial statements for the period ending 31 March 2015 and the year 
ending 31 March 2016 we have undertaken procedures pursuant to clause 28(2) of Schedule 1 of the 
Securities Regulations 2009. Our engagement was conducted in accordance with International 
Standard on Assurance Engagements (New Zealand) 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits 
or Reviews of Historical Financial Information issued in New Zealand. The standard requires that we 
comply with ethical requirements, including independence requirements, and plan and perform our 
procedures to obtain reasonable assurance that, in all material respects, so far as the accounting 
policies and calculations are concerned, the prospective financial statements and pro forma 
prospective financial information have been properly compiled on the footing of the assumptions 
made or adopted by the Directors and are presented on a basis consistent with the accounting policies 
which are intended to be adopted by the Evolve Group. 

The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the prospective financial information for the Evolve Group, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In making those risks assessments, we have considered internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and presentation of the prospective financial information in order to design assurance procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purposes of expressing a conclusion as to the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control over the preparation and presentation of the 
prospective financial information. 

Other than in our capacity as auditor, we have provided other assurance services, taxation advice and 
advisory services.  Appropriate safeguards were applied to reduce the threats from the provision of 
these other services to an acceptable level. The provision of these other services has not impaired our 
independence as auditor of Evolve and the Evolve Group. 

Opinion on the Evolve Group’s Financial Statements  
In our opinion, the Evolve Education Group Limited full financial statements for the period ended 31 
August 2014 in Appendix 1 of the Prospectus: 

(i) comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 

(ii) comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and 

(iii) give a true and fair view of the financial position of Evolve and the Evolve Group as at 31 
August 2014, and their financial performance and cash flows for the period then ended. 

We also report in accordance with clauses 28(1)(d) and (e) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations. 
In relation to our audit of the financial statements for the period ended 31 August 2014: 

(i) we have obtained all the information and explanations that we have required; and 

(ii) in our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by Evolve as far as appears from 
an examination of those records.
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Opinion on the Evolve Group’s Summary Financial Statements 
In our opinion, and pursuant to clause 28(1)(h) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009, the 
summary financial statements and applicable disclosures on pages 145 to 147 of the Prospectus and 
taken from the audited financial statements of the Evolve Group for the period ended 31 August 2014: 

(i) are consistent, in all material respects, with those audited financial statements; and 

(ii) have been correctly taken from the audited financial statements of the Evolve Group for 
that period from which they were extracted. 

Opinion on Material Acquisitions Summary Financial Statements 
In our opinion, and pursuant to clause 28(1)(h) of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations 2009, the 
summary financial statements and applicable disclosures on pages 145 and 148 to 164 of the 
Prospectus and taken from the audited and unaudited financial statements of the Material 
Acquisitions for the relevant periods: 

(i) are consistent, in all material respects, with those audited and unaudited financial 
statements; and 

(ii) have been correctly taken from the audited and unaudited financial statements of the 
Material Acquisitions for those periods from which they were extracted. 

Opinion on the Evolve Group’s Prospective Financial Statements  
In our opinion, the prospective financial statements for the period ending 31 March 2015 and the year 
ending 31 March 2016 on pages 69 to 74 of the Prospectus, so far as the accounting policies and 
calculations are concerned, have been properly compiled on the footing of the assumptions made or 
adopted by the Directors of Evolve as set out in Section 7.2 of the Prospectus and are presented on a 
basis consistent with the accounting policies which are intended to be adopted by the Evolve Group as 
set out in Section 7.6 of the Prospectus.  

Actual results are likely to be different from the prospective financial statements since anticipated 
events frequently do not occur as expected and the variation could be material. Accordingly, we 
express no opinion as to whether the results reported in the prospective financial statements will be 
achieved. 

Other Matters 
Where the financial statements of the Material Acquisitions included within the Prospectus have been 
audited this has been done by another auditor, who expressed unmodified opinions on those financial 
statements. 

Restriction on Use of our Report 
This report has been prepared for inclusion in the Prospectus for the purpose of clause 28 of 
Schedule 1 to the Securities Regulations 2009. We disclaim any responsibility for reliance on this 
report or the amounts included in the financial statements, the summary financial statements and the 
prospective financial statements for any purpose other than that for which they were prepared.  In 
addition, we take no responsibility for, nor do we report on, any part of the Prospectus not specifically 
mentioned in this report. 
 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
 
Chartered Accountants   Auckland 
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7.9 Description of the Evolve Education Group’s Financing 
Arrangements 

Evolve Education Group has negotiated New Financing Arrangements and entered into a committed 

terms sheet with ASB on 13 November 2014.  It is intended that Evolve Education will sign the 

finalised New Financing Arrangements documents sign during the offer period. The New Financing 

Arrangements will be available as soon as practicable on completion of the Offer, after all of the 

conditions precedent are satisfied.  

Financing Structure 

It is intended that Evolve Education will borrow funds ASB under the New Financing Arrangements 

and lend those funds to its subsidiaries as required.  The New Financing Arrangements will be 

guaranteed by Evolve Education Group and the parties within that group will grant security in favour of 

ASB in relation to that guarantee. 

Facilities 

The New Financing Arrangements will comprise the following facilities:  

Facility Amount Purpose Expiry Date 

Senior revolving facility 
provided by ASB 

$30 million For general corporate and 
working capital purposes. It is 
intended this will be used to 
fund part of the consideration 
for the Initial Portfolio 

30 April 2018 (but able to be 
extended by 12 months on 
each anniversary of the New 
Financing Arrangements with 
ASB’s consent) 

Acquisition facility 
provided by ASB 

$60 million To provide funding for future 
acquisitions 

30 April 2018 (but able to be 
extended by 12 months on 
each anniversary of the New 
Financing Arrangements with 
ASB’s consent) 

Lease guarantee facility 
provided by ASB 

$3 million For bonds required for certain 
leasehold properties 

Various 

ASB will require that Evolve Education Group satisfy certain customary conditions before it can draw 

down funds under the New Financing Arrangements. If the conditions are not met, the New Financing 

Arrangements will not be available and the Offer will not proceed. 

On listing, the intention of Evolve Education is to draw approximately $20 million under the revolving 

facility provided under the New Financing Arrangements and retain sufficient cash at bank to meet 

working capital requirements over the following financial quarter.  

Security 

It is intended that ASB will take security from Evolve Education Group in relation to the New Financing 

Arrangements by way of a general security agreement over all present and future shares and assets 

and undertakings of Evolve Education Group, together with an all obligations cross guarantee and 

indemnity.  

ASB’s intended security will mean that if Evolve Education Group does not pay principal and interest 

when due or does not comply with their other obligations under the New Financing Arrangements 

once entered into, then ASB will be able to enforce that security, for example, by appointing a 

receiver, or selling assets to repay the debt.  
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This security is intended to be “first ranking” meaning that, after the parties the law requires to be paid 

first, ASB will be the first party to be repaid in the event of an insolvency. In an insolvency, ASB would 

need to be fully repaid before Shareholders receive anything. 

Undertakings and Financial Covenants 

The New Financing Arrangements will contain a number of legally binding undertakings given by 

Evolve Education Group, which will be usual for facilities of this nature and include a negative pledge, 

restrictions as to disposals of assets and restrictions on the provision of financial accommodation (in 

each case, subject to exceptions usual for credits and facilities of this nature). Important among these 

will be the financial undertakings, and the New Financing Arrangements will contain the following 

financial covenant ratios: 

 Gearing Ratio: the ratio of net debt to EBITDA is to be less than 3.50:1.00
60

.  However, if the 

ratio of net debt to EBITDA exceeds 3:00:1, the Borrower will use its best endeavours to raise 

additional equity capital and apply the proceeds in repayment of drawings sufficient to ensure 

that the ratio does not exceed 1.50:1.00. 

 

 Fixed Charges Cover Ratio: the ratio of EBIT plus lease expenses to net interest expense 

plus lease expenses is to be greater than 1.25:1.00 for the first calculation period from 1 April 

2015 to 30 June 2015, and is to be greater than 1.50:1.00 for each quarterly calculation dates 

on or after 30 September 2015. 

 

 Total Assets Ratio: the Total Assets of the subsidiaries of Evolve Education which have 

given guarantees in favour of ASB is not to be less than 95% of the Total Assets / EBITDA of 

Evolve Education Group. 

 

 EBITDA Ratio: the EBITDA of the subsidiaries of Evolve Education which have given 

guarantees in favour of ASB is not less than 95% of the EBITDA of Evolve Education Group. 

 

Failure to meet any covenant will be an event of default.  

The financial covenants under the New Financing Arrangements have been set at levels which reflect 

Evolve Education Group’s capital structure and the fact that Evolve Education will be a listed 

company. Based on the assumptions in the Prospective Financial Information, the new financial 

covenants are expected to be fully complied with during the period to which the Prospective Financial 

Information relates.  The first covenant test date will be 30 June 2015. 

Events of Default 

The events of default under the New Financing Arrangements will include any non-payment, breach of 

any representation, undertaking or financial covenant, non-notification of event of default, potential 

event of default or event of review, cross-default, material adverse change, insolvency related events, 

cessation of business, enforcement of security, and breach or invalidity of certain important 

documents relating to the New Financing Arrangements. If an event of default occurs ASB will be able 

(among other things) to require that Evolve Education Group pays back all of the money it has 

borrowed from ASB and enforce its guarantees and security, including by appointing a receiver.  

Events of Review 

Under the New Financing Arrangements an event of review will be triggered if a change of control of 

Evolve Education Group occurs. If an event of review occurs and a satisfactory solution has not been 

reached, then ASB will be able to, after discussing the issue with Evolve Education Group for an 

                                                      

60
 For the purposes of the New Financing Arrangements, net debt means the gross amount of all financing liabilities (calculated 

in accordance with NZ GAAP) less any cash or cash equivalents which are freely available to meet the obligations. 
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agreed period, accelerate the facilities on an agreed period of notice. Any failure to pay could result in 

ASB enforcing its security. 

Finance Cost 

Evolve Education Group will pay interest on, and fees in relation to, the facilities under the New 

Financing Arrangements. Interest will be calculated as a floating base rate plus a margin. Interest rate 

risk will be managed in accordance with parameters to be set out in a formal Treasury Policy to be 

developed and approved by the Board.  

Restrictions on making distributions and borrowing 

Evolve Education will not be able to make distributions to Shareholders other than from profits after 
tax plus retained earnings and where no event of default, potential event of default, or event of review 
has occurred or would result from making the distribution. On or before 30 September 2015, Evolve 
Education must also comply with a fixed charges cover ratio (outlined above) of 1.50:1 before a 
distribution may be made.  
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8.   Details of the Offer 

8.1 The Offer 

The Offer is an offer of 132.3 million ordinary shares to be issued by Evolve Education (Offer Shares).  
The Offer Shares will be offered to Institutional Investors and to retail investors through the Broker 
Firm Offer, at the Offer Price of $1.00 per Offer Share.  On allotment, all Offer Shares will be fully-paid 
ordinary shares which rank equally with each other and all existing Shares. 

The Offer is made on the terms, and is subject to the conditions, set out in this Offer Document and 
the Investment Statement.  

The Offer is conditional on the Lollipops Educare Acquisition and PORSE Acquisition 
becoming unconditional 

You will not be allotted Shares unless, prior to allotment, the conditions to completion of each of the 
Lollipops Educare Acquisition and PORSE Acquisition (other than the finance conditions, discussed 
below) have been satisfied or waived and the documents necessary to complete the Lollipops 
Educare Acquisition and PORSE Acquisition are being held in escrow, such that the Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition and PORSE Acquisition will each automatically be completed upon payment of the 
relevant purchase price by Evolve Education.  One of the conditions of the Underwriting Agreement 
between Evolve Education and the Joint Lead Managers is that settlement of the Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition and PORSE Acquisition occur immediately after the allotment of Shares under the Offer. 

The principal conditions of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition that have not been satisfied or waived as 
of the date of this Offer Document are: 

 Finance:  The Lollipops Educare Acquisition is conditional on Evolve Education arranging 
sufficient debt and/or equity finance on terms and conditions satisfactory to Evolve Education 
to enable Evolve Education to complete the transaction.  The Offer, if successful, will allow 
Evolve Education to satisfy this condition. 
 

 Lease change of control consents:  The Lollipops Educare Acquisition constitutes a “change of 
control” event under most of Lollipops Educare’s leases, requiring landlord consent.  Landlord 
consents are being progressively obtained.  Evolve Education does not regard the need for 
landlord consent to be a material issue, based on the terms of the relevant leases. 
 

 Material adverse change: The Lollipops Educare Acquisition is conditional on no material 
adverse change (as defined in the sale and purchase agreement) occurring prior to 
completion. 

Evolve Education expects that the Lollipops Educare Acquisition will complete immediately prior to 
listing. 

The principal condition of the PORSE Acquisition that has not been satisfied or waived as of the date 
of this Offer Document is: 

 Finance:  The PORSE Acquisition is conditional on Evolve Education arranging sufficient debt 
and/or equity finance on terms and conditions satisfactory to Evolve Education to enable 
Evolve Education to complete the transaction.  The Offer, if successful, will allow Evolve 
Education to satisfy this condition. 

Evolve Education expects that the PORSE Acquisition will complete immediately prior to listing. 

If the Lollipops Educare Acquisition or PORSE Acquisition has not become unconditional (but for the 
finance condition) by 4 December 2014 or such later date as is agreed by the parties and the 
Underwriter, the Offer will be cancelled.  This could occur, for example, because a condition to 
completion was not satisfied or waived by that date.  In that circumstance Application monies will be 
refunded to Applicants within five Business Days, without interest. 



 

 

 
  

 110 

As at the date of this Offer Document the Evolve Education Group has entered into contracts to 
acquire all of the Additional Owned ECE Centres, which comprise 55 ECE Centres.  

The principal conditions of the Acquisition Agreements for the Additional Owned ECE Centres that 
have not been satisfied or waived as of the date of this Offer Document are: 

 Finance:  The Acquisition Agreements are conditional on Evolve Education arranging 
sufficient debt and/or equity finance on terms and conditions satisfactory to Evolve Education 
to enable Evolve Education to complete the transaction.  The Offer, if successful, will allow 
Evolve Education to satisfy this condition. 

 Transfer of ECE Centre Licence:  The Acquisition Agreements are conditional on Evolve 
Education obtaining a transfer of the ECE Centre licence (to take effect on the completion 
date) from the vendor to Evolve Education or Evolve Education obtaining a new ECE Centre 
licence on terms acceptable to Evolve Education.  Evolve Education is currently working with 
the Ministry of Education to arrange for the transfer of these licences and expects that 
arrangements will be in place at completion to allow these transfers to occur either on 
completion of the acquisition or shortly thereafter; and 

 Landlord consent or entry into a new lease:  The Acquisition Agreements are, to the extent 
required, conditional on either: (i) Evolve Education obtaining the written consent of the 
landlord to the transfer of the lease from the vendor to Evolve Education and to the charging, 
mortgaging or granting of a security interest over Evolve Education’s interest in the lease, on 
terms acceptable to Evolve Education.  Evolve Education does not regard the need for 
landlord consent to be a material issue, based on the terms of the relevant leases; or (ii) 
where the freehold owner of the land is the vendor or a related party of the vendor, the vendor 
providing to Evolve Education a new deed of lease in respect of the premises in favour of 
Evolve Education (as tenant) executed by the freehold owner of the premises on terms 
acceptable to Evolve Education. 

The Acquisition Agreements in relation to 13 of the Additional Owned ECE Centres are also still 
conditional upon Evolve Education being satisfied with the results of its due diligence investigations 
regarding the assets, business and all other relevant matters relating to the ECE Centre.  Based on its 
preliminary assessment of these ECE Centres, Evolve Education expects that the due diligence 
condition will be satisfied for all the centres.  

Evolve Education expects that completion under most of Acquisition Agreements will occur during 
December 2014 and January 2015 with the acquisitions that are still subject to due diligence (as noted 
above) and certain others that have elected to have completion in 2015, completing prior to 31 March 
2015.   

There is a risk that some of the Additional Acquisition Agreements may not settle or that settlement 
may be delayed, due to circumstances beyond Evolve Education’s control.  If Evolve Education 
becomes aware of this prior to allotment then Evolve Education expects that it would still allot the 
Shares under the Offer and, to the extent Acquisition Agreements did not settle, Evolve Education 
would look to acquire additional ECE Centres to replace those that did not settle.  To the extent 
settlement is delayed or Evolve Education is unable to acquire additional ECE Centres in a timely 
manner to replace those that did not settle then this could reduce the profitability of Evolve Education 
in the Prospective Period.   

Capital structure  

The ownership structure of Evolve Education as at the date of this Offer Document, and the indicative 
ownership structure upon completion of the Offer (following allotment of the Offer Shares and 
completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition) is illustrated in the table below.  No Current 
Shareholder is selling any Shares under the Offer. 
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Shareholder 
Ownership of Evolve Education as 
at the date of this Offer Document 

Indicative Ownership of Evolve 
Education following completion of 

the Offer and completion of the 
Lollipops Educare Acquisition 

Ordinary Shares % Ordinary Shares  % 

Current Shareholders 

Kern Group NZ Limited 2,285,369 28.19% 2,285,369 1.29% 

Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited 2,285,369 28.19% 2,285,369 1.29% 

Stuart and Gillian James as trustees of 
the S.B. James Superannuation Fund 

2,285,369 28.19% 2,285,369 1.29% 

Alan Wham 550,000 6.79% 550,000 0.31% 

Vivek Singh 300,000 3.70% 300,000 0.17% 

Norah Barlow 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Alistair Ryan 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

David Smith 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Beverley Gordon 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Paula Hawkings 80,000 0.99% 80,000 0.05% 

Other Shares issued 

Vendors under the Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition 

- - 36,209,901 20.45% 

Hayes Knight  Business Services (QLD) 
Pty Ltd (or nominees) 

- - 449,438 0.25% 

New Shareholders pursuant to the Offer - - 132,317,278 74.72% 

Total 8,106,107 100% 177,082,724 100% 

No Current Shareholder of Evolve Education guarantees or undertakes any liability in respect of the 
Offer Shares.  

Sources and uses of funds 

The Offer will raise $132.3 million (before costs) and will be applied to partially fund the acquisition of 
the Initial Portfolio. The remainder of the acquisition price of the Initial Portfolio will be funded by 
Evolve Education drawing down approximately $20 million under the New Financing Arrangements.  
All costs associated with the Offer and the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio will be borne by Evolve 
Education.  All acquisitions that form part of the Initial Portfolio are subject to working capital and/or 
other adjustments.  A table setting out the sources and uses of funds is set out in Section 1.1 What is 
this Offer? 

Key cash payments to be made by Evolve Education from the Offer proceeds following completion of 
the Offer include (subject to working capital and/or other adjustments and excluding any earnout 
payments): 

 $30,500,000 as part of the consideration for the Lollipops Educare Acquisition; 
 

 $10,000,000 as part of the consideration for the PORSE Acquisition; 
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 $88,376,943 as consideration for the acquisition of the remainder of the Initial Portfolio;  
 

 $12,356,531 in respect of issue expenses relating to the Offer (including brokerage and 
commission fees, joint lead management fees, underwriting fees, share registry expenses, 
legal fees, accounting fees, fees payable to Kern Group (Paddington) Pty Limited, advertising 
costs, listing and administrative fees, printing costs and postage and courier costs); and 

 $7,129,662 in respect of expenses incurred by Evolve Education relating to the acquisition of 
the Initial Portfolio including the fees payable to Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited. 

Structure of the Offer 

The Offer is an offer of $132.3 million of Shares (being 132.3 million Shares based on the Offer Price 
of $1.00) which are to be issued by Evolve Education on the Allotment Date. 

The Offer includes: 

 the Broker Firm Offer, which is available to New Zealand resident clients of selected NZX Firms 
that have received a firm allocation from that NZX Firm and to Australian resident investors who 
have received a firm allocation from a Broker that has received an allocation; and  

 the Institutional Offer, which consists of an invitation to bid for Shares made to selected 
Institutional Investors in New Zealand, Australia and certain other jurisdictions.  

There is no general public offer.  Members of the public wishing to subscribe for Shares must be 
allocated Shares by an NZX Firm or Broker; there is no public pool under which you may subscribe for 
Shares.  You should contact an NZX Firm or Broker to determine whether you may be offered Shares 
under the Broker Firm Offer.   

The allocation of Offer Shares between the Broker Firm Offer and the Institutional Offer has been 
determined by Evolve Education in agreement with Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited (Goldman 
Sachs) as sole bookrunner and underwriter having regard to the allocation policies outlined under the 
headings “Allocation” below. 

Pricing of the Offer 

You will pay the Offer Price in full, being $1.00 per Offer Share.  All Offer Shares allotted under the 
Offer will be allotted at the Offer Price. 

The Application Form requires that you apply for a specified number of Offer Shares at the Offer Price. 

Institutional Offer 

The Institutional Offer consisted of an invitation prior to the date of this Offer Document to selected 
Institutional Investors in New Zealand, Australia and certain other jurisdictions to apply for Offer 
Shares.  Goldman Sachs as sole bookrunner has separately advised Institutional Investors of the 
additional terms and conditions, and the Application procedures for the Institutional Offer.  

Allocation  

Evolve Education, in agreement with Goldman Sachs as the sole bookrunner and underwriter, has 
determined the allocation of Offer Shares among Institutional Investors and NZX Firms and Brokers 
that bid for Offer Shares in the Bookbuild.  The number of Offer Shares offered under the Institutional 
Offer, and the allocation of Offer Shares among participants in the Institutional Offer, has been 
determined by Evolve Education in agreement with Goldman Sachs.  The allocation policy was 
influenced by a number of factors which may include: 

 the number and price of Offer Shares bid for by particular bidders; 

 the timeliness of the bid received by particular bidders; 

 Evolve Education’s desire for an informed and active trading market for the Shares on the NZX 
Main Board and ASX; 
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 Evolve Education’s desire to have a wide spread of institutional Shareholders on its share 
register; 

 the overall level of demand for Offer Shares in the Institutional Offer and the Broker Firm Offer; 

 the size and type of funds under management of particular bidders; 

 an assessment of whether particular bidders will be long term Shareholders; and 

 any other factors that Evolve Education and Goldman Sachs deem relevant. 

Broker Firm Offer 

The Broker Firm Offer is available to New Zealand resident clients of selected NZX Firms who have 
received a firm allocation from that NZX Firm and to Australian resident investors that have received a 
firm allocation from a Broker that has received an allocation.  Applications under the Broker Firm Offer 
must be for a minimum amount of 2,000 Offer Shares, which equates to a minimum aggregate 
subscription amount of $2,000.   

You can contact an NZX Firm or Broker to determine whether you may be offered Shares by them 
under the Broker Firm Offer.  

The Broker Firm Offer will close at 12:00pm on 3 December 2014 (being the Closing Date).  
Applicants should remember that the Closing Date may be changed at the sole discretion of Evolve 
Education.  Changes will be advised by NZX announcement.  Evolve Education reserves the right to 
refuse to accept Applications received by the Share Registrar after the Closing Date.  Applications 
must be received with payment, by the NZX Firm or Broker who granted the Applicant a firm 
allocation, with sufficient time as to enable the NZX Firm or Broker to forward the Application and 
payment to the Share Registrar by 12:00pm on the Closing Date. 

Detailed instructions on how to apply are contained in the Application Form. 

Investors applying for Shares under the Broker Firm Offer are encouraged to submit their Application 
Form and Application Monies as early as possible in advance of the Closing Date and to allow a 
sufficient period for mail processing time.  

If you wish to apply under the Broker Firm Offer you should contact your NZX Firm if you require 
further instructions.   

Allocation  

Allocations by NZX Firms and Brokers under the Broker Firm Offer to their Applicant clients will be 
determined by those NZX Firms and Brokers.  It will be a matter for the NZX Firms and Brokers to 
ensure that Applicant clients who have received an allocation from them receive the relevant Shares.  
Applicants should contact their NZX Firm or Broker from whom they received their allocation to find out 
if their Application was successful. 

Refunds and Scaling 

The Offer may be withdrawn by Evolve Education at any time before the allotment of Shares, at 
Evolve Education’s sole discretion.  If the Offer or any part of it is withdrawn, then the relevant 
Application amounts will be refunded without interest no later than five Business Days after the 
decision to withdraw the Offer is announced.   

If you apply for a total Application amount that is not a multiple of the Offer Price, your Application will 
be rounded down to the nearest multiple of the Offer Price and any difference will be retained by 
Evolve Education.  Refunds will be paid in the manner you elect any future dividend payments to be 
paid. 

Applications  

An Application is an offer by you to subscribe for Offer Shares having the value specified in the 
Application Form, at the Offer Price, on the terms and conditions set out in this Offer Document 
(including any replacement of it), the Investment Statement and the Application Form.  By submitting 
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an Application Form, you irrevocably agree to purchase the Offer Shares on the terms set out in this 
Offer Document, the Investment Statement and the Application Form, notwithstanding any variations 
or extensions to the Closing Date or other dates which Evolve Education and the Joint Lead Managers 
are entitled to so vary or extend. 

Evolve Education and the Joint Lead Managers may, at their sole discretion, treat any Application 
Form as valid, notwithstanding that it does not comply with the requirements above or is irregular.  
Evolve Education and the Joint Lead Managers may also, at their sole discretion, rectify any errors in, 
or omissions from, any Application Form to enable that form to constitute a valid acceptance of the 
Offer and to facilitate registration of the Applicant as a Shareholder, including inserting or correcting 
details and filling in any blanks.  An Application Form may be treated by Evolve Education and the 
Joint Lead Managers as a valid Application whether or not it is received before the applicable Closing 
Date, and may be accepted in respect of the full dollar amount specified in the Application Form or a 
lesser amount, without further notice to the Applicant.  If the amount of your cheque(s) for Application 
Monies is less than the amount specified on your Application Form, you may be taken to have applied 
for such lower dollar amount for Shares as for which your clear Application Monies will pay, or your 
Application Form may be rejected at the discretion of Evolve Education in consultation with the Joint 
Lead Managers.  Acceptance of your Application will give rise to a binding contract. 

Evolve Education and the Joint Lead Managers reserve the right to refuse all or any part of any 
Application without giving a reason. 

Money received in respect of Applications which are declined in whole or in part will be refunded in 
whole or in part (as the case may be).  Refunds will be posted to unsuccessful Applicants within five 
Business Days after allocation of Offer Shares or after an Application has been declined (as 
applicable).  Interest will not be paid on any Application Monies refunded to Applicants. 

Until the allotment of Offer Shares, Application Monies received will be held in a separate account for 
the benefit of the Applicants according to their respective entitlements and for Evolve Education.  Any 
interest on Application Monies will be paid to Evolve Education to offset against their issue costs.  If 
you apply for Offer Shares, you should ensure that sufficient funds are held in your account(s) to cover 
the amount of your Application.  

The banking of Application Monies does not constitute confirmation of allotment of any Offer Shares or 
the acceptance of an Application.  If your cheque does not clear, your Application may be rejected.   

Allotment 

The allotment of Offer Shares to successful Applicants is scheduled to take place on 4 December 
2014.  You should ascertain your allocation (if any) before trading in the Offer Shares.  You can do this 
by phoning the NZX Firm or Broker from whom you received an allocation of Offer Shares. 

If you wish to sell your Shares on the NZX Main Board after confirming your allocation you must have 
a Common Shareholder Number (CSN) and an Authorisation Code (FIN).  New Zealand residents with 
a CSN will have their Offer Shares allotted under their CSN, if the CSN was provided on the 
Application Form.  If a CSN is not provided on the Application Form, or the Application details do not 
match the CSN details, a new CSN and FIN will be allocated to the Applicant.  Allotment statements 
with your allotment details and CSN will be despatched within five Business Days after Allotment.  
Where an email address is provided on the Application Form, the Allotment statement will be 
despatched electronically to you.  The associated FIN will be sent by the Share Registrar as a 
separate communication by mail.   

If you have a CSN and FIN, you may access your holding information on the Share Registrar’s 
website: www.linkmarketservices.co.nz. 

If you sell Offer Shares prior to receiving your Security Transaction Statement you will do so at your 
own risk.  None of Evolve Education, the Promoters, the Joint Lead Managers, the Share Registrar, 
nor any of their respective officers, employees or advisers accepts any liability or responsibility should 
you or any person attempt to sell or otherwise deal with Offer Shares before you receive a statement 
showing the number of Offer Shares allocated to you (if any).  

Evolve Education expects that trading of the Shares on the NZX Main Board and ASX will commence 
on 5 December 2014.  If admission to list on the NZX Main Board is denied, or the Offer does not 
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proceed for any other reason, all Application Monies will be refunded in full without interest no later 
than five Business Days after announcement of the decision not to proceed.  Failure to achieve 
admission to list on ASX will not, of itself, prevent the Offer from proceeding. 

Escrow Arrangements  

Each of the Current Shareholders has entered into an escrow arrangement with Evolve Education 
under which the Current Shareholders have agreed not to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of their 
Shares until at least the day that is two years after the date of commencement of quotation and trading 
of Shares on the NZX Main Board.  

The vendors under the Lollipops Educare Acquisition will enter into an escrow arrangement with 
Evolve Education on completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition, and Hayes Knight Business 
Services (QLD) Pty Ltd (or its nominees) will enter into an escrow arrangement with Evolve Education 
prior to being issued Shares on completion of the Offer.  Under these escrow arrangements the 
vendors under the Lollipops Acquisition have agreed and Hayes Knight Business Services (QLD) Pty 
Ltd (or its nominees) will agree not to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of their Shares until at least 
the day that is two years after the date of commencement of quotation and trading of Shares on the 
NZX Main Board.  

The total percentage of Shares to be subject to the escrow arrangements post listing is 25.28% of the 
total number of Shares in Evolve Education.   

These restrictions do not apply (and therefore Shares can be sold) if a partial or full takeover offer is 
made under the Takeovers Code for Shares or if an amalgamation or scheme of arrangement with 
respect to the Shares is proposed.  Each of the Current Shareholders is also permitted to create a 
security interest over their shareholding in favour of a recognised bank or other similar recognised 
lending institution, or to transfer all of their shareholding to an ‘associated person’ with the prior written 
approval of the non-interested Directors (provided that the lender/associated person (as applicable) 
enters into an escrow arrangement with Evolve Education).  Further information about the Escrow 
Deeds that are material contracts is set out in Section 10 Statutory Information under the heading 

“Material Contracts”. 

None of the Current Shareholders guarantees or undertakes any liability in respect of the Offer 
Shares. 

8.2 Listing on NZX Main Board 

Application has been made to NZX for permission to list Evolve Education, and to quote the Shares on 
the NZX Main Board.  All of NZX’s requirements relating to that application that can be complied with 
on or before the date of this Offer Document have been duly complied with.  However, NZX accepts 
no responsibility for any statement in this Offer Document.   

NZX has authorised NZX Firms to act on the Offer.  The NZX Main Board is a registered market 
operated by NZX, which is a registered exchange regulated under the Securities Markets Act 1988.  
Initial quotation of the Shares on the NZX Main Board is expected to occur on 5 December 2014 under 
the stock code “EVO”. 

8.3 Listing on the ASX   

Application will be made to ASX after this Offer Document and the Investment Statement 
(accompanied by the Additional Australian Information) are lodged with the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission for Evolve Education to be admitted to the official list of ASX and for the 
Shares to be granted official quotation on the financial market operated by ASX.  The ASX is not a 
registered market under the Securities Markets Act 1988. 

ASX takes no responsibility for the contents of this Offer Document and the Additional Australian 
Information or for the merits of the investment to which this Offer Document and the Additional 
Australian Information relate.  Admission to the official list of ASX and quotation of the Shares on the 
ASX are not to be taken as an indication of the merits, or as an endorsement by ASX, of Evolve 
Education or the Shares.  
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Subject to certain conditions (including any waivers obtained by Evolve Education from time to time), 
Evolve Education will be required to comply with the ASX Listing Rules.  

Initial quotation of the Shares on ASX is expected to occur on or about 5 December 2014 under the 
stock code “EVO”. 

8.4 Selling restrictions 

Overseas Investors  

The Offer is being made to members of the public in New Zealand and Australia, and Institutional 
Investors in New Zealand, Australia and certain other jurisdictions only (excluding the United States).  
This Offer Document is intended for use only in connection with the Offer and does not constitute an 
offer or invitation in any place in which, or to any person to whom, it would not be lawful to make such 
an offer or invitation.  No action has been, or will be, taken to register this Offer Document in any 
jurisdictions other than New Zealand and Australia or otherwise permit a public offering of the Shares 
outside of New Zealand and Australia.    

No person may offer, sell (including resell), distribute or deliver any Shares or distribute any 
documents (including this Offer Document) to any person outside New Zealand or Australia except in 
accordance with all of the legal requirements of the relevant jurisdiction.  

In particular, this Offer Document (including an electronic copy) may not be distributed to, or relied 
upon by, persons in the United States.  In particular, Evolve Education’s securities have not been, and 
will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (US Securities 
Act) or the securities laws of any state of the United States and may not be offered or sold in the 
United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, any person in the United States unless such 
securities are registered under the US Securities Act, or an exemption from the registration 
requirements of the US Securities Act and applicable US state securities laws is available.  

Unless otherwise agreed with Evolve Education, any person or entity subscribing for Offer Shares 
under the Offer shall, by virtue of such subscription, be deemed to represent that he, she or it is not in 
a jurisdiction which does not permit the making to him, her or it of an offer or invitation of the kind 
described in this Offer Document, and is not acting for the account or benefit of a person within such a 
jurisdiction. 

None of Evolve Education, the Promoters, the Joint Lead Managers nor any of their respective 
directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, partners or advisers accepts any liability or 
responsibility to determine whether a person is able to participate in the Offer. 

Overseas selling restrictions 

This Offer Document does not constitute an offer of Shares of the Company in any jurisdiction in which 
it would be unlawful.  In particular, this document may not be distributed to any person, and the Offer 
Shares may not be offered or sold, in any country outside Australia and New Zealand except to the 
extent permitted below. 

European Economic Area -Austria, Germany  and Netherlands  

The information in this Offer Document has been prepared on the basis that all offers of Offer Shares 
will be made pursuant to an exemption under the Directive 2003/71/EC ("Prospectus Directive"), as 
amended and implemented in Member States of the European Economic Area (each, a "Relevant 
Member State"), from the requirement to produce a prospectus for offers of securities.  

An offer to the public of Offer Shares has not been made, and may not be made, in a Relevant 
Member State except pursuant to one of the following exemptions under the Prospectus Directive as 
implemented in that Relevant Member State: 

 to any legal entity that is authorized or regulated to operate in the financial markets or whose 
main business is to invest in financial instruments;  
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 to any legal entity that satisfies two of the following three criteria: (i) balance sheet total of at 
least €20,000,000; (ii) annual net turnover of at least €40,000,000 and (iii) own funds of at least 
€2,000,000 (as shown on its last annual unconsolidated or consolidated financial statements);  

 to any person or entity who has requested to be treated as a professional client in accordance 
with the EU Markets in Financial Instruments Directive (Directive 2004/39/EC, "MiFID"); or 

 to any person or entity who is recognised as an eligible counterparty in accordance with Article 
24 of the MiFID. 

France 

This Offer Document is not being distributed in the context of a public offering of financial securities 
(offre au public de titres financiers) in France within the meaning of Article L.411-1 of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code (Code monétaire et financier) and Articles 211-1 et seq. of the General 
Regulation of the French Autorité des marchés financiers ("AMF").  The Offer Shares have not been 
offered or sold and will not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, to the public in France. 

This Offer Document and any other offering material relating to the Offer Shares have not been, and 
will not be, submitted to the AMF for approval in France and, accordingly, may not be distributed 
(directly or indirectly) to the public in France. Such offers, sales and distributions have been and shall 
only be made in France to qualified investors (investisseurs qualifiés) acting for their own account, as 
defined in and in accordance with Articles L.411-2-II-2, D.411-1, L.533-16, L.533-20, D.533-11, D.533-
13, D.744-1, D.754-1 and D.764-1 of the French Monetary and Financial Code and any implementing 
regulation.   

Pursuant to Article 211-3 of the General Regulation of the AMF, investors in France are informed that 
the Offer Shares cannot be distributed (directly or indirectly) to the public by the investors otherwise 
than in accordance with Articles L.411-1, L.411-2, L.412-1 and L.621-8 to L.621-8-3 of the French 
Monetary and Financial Code.  

Hong Kong 

WARNING: This Offer Document has not been, and will not be, registered as a prospectus under the 
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong, nor has it 
been authorised by the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong pursuant to the Securities 
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of the Laws of Hong Kong (the "SFO").  No action has been taken 
in Hong Kong to authorise or register this Offer Document or to permit the distribution of this Offer 
Document or any documents issued in connection with it. Accordingly, the Offer Shares have not been 
and will not be offered or sold in Hong Kong other than to "professional investors" (as defined in the 
SFO). 

No advertisement, invitation or Offer Document relating to the Offer Shares has been or will be issued, 
or has been or will be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue, in Hong Kong or 
elsewhere that is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public 
of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with 
respect to Offer Shares that are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong 
or only to professional investors (as defined in the SFO and any rules made under that ordinance).  No 
person allotted Offer Shares may sell, or offer to sell, such securities in circumstances that amount to 
an offer to the public in Hong Kong within six months following the date of issue of such securities. 

The contents of this Offer Document have not been reviewed by any Hong Kong regulatory authority.  
You are advised to exercise caution in relation to the offer. If you are in doubt about any contents of 
this Offer Document, you should obtain independent professional advice.      

Japan 

The Offer Shares have not been and will not be registered under Article 4, paragraph 1 of the 
Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan (Law No. 25 of 1948), as amended (the "FIEL") 
pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements applicable to a private placement of 
securities to Qualified Institutional Investors (as defined in and in accordance with Article 2, paragraph 
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3 of the FIEL and the regulations promulgated thereunder). Accordingly, the Offer Shares may not be 
offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan other 
than Qualified Institutional Investors. Any Qualified Institutional Investor who acquires Offer Shares 
may not resell them to any person in Japan that is not a Qualified Institutional Investor, and acquisition 
by any such person of Offer Shares is conditional upon the execution of an agreement to that effect. 

Norway 

This Offer Document has not been approved by, or registered with, any Norwegian securities regulator 
under the Norwegian Securities Trading Act of 29 June 2007. Accordingly, this Offer Document shall 
not be deemed to constitute an offer to the public in Norway within the meaning of the Norwegian 
Securities Trading Act of 2007.  

The Offer Shares may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Norway except to "professional 
clients" (as defined in Norwegian Securities Regulation of 29 June 2007 no. 876 and including non-
professional clients having met the criteria for being deemed to be professional and for which an 
investment firm has waived the protection as non-professional in accordance with the procedures in 
this regulation). 

Singapore 

This Offer Document and any other materials relating to the Offer Shares have not been, and will not 
be, lodged or registered as a prospectus in Singapore with the Monetary Authority of Singapore.  
Accordingly, this Offer Document and any other document or materials in connection with the offer or 
sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of Offer Shares, may not be issued, circulated or 
distributed, nor may the Offer Shares be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for 
subscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore except pursuant to 
and in accordance with exemptions in Subdivision (4) Division 1, Part XIII of the Securities and 
Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore (the "SFA"), or as otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance 
with the conditions of any other applicable provisions of the SFA.   

This Offer Document has been given to you on the basis that you are (i) an existing holder of the 
Company’s shares, (ii) an "institutional investor" (as defined in the SFA) or (iii) a "relevant person" (as 
defined in section 275(2) of the SFA). In the event that you are not an investor falling within any of the 
categories set out above, please return this Offer Document immediately. You may not forward or 
circulate this Offer Document to any other person in Singapore. 

Any offer is not made to you with a view to the Offer Shares being subsequently offered for sale to any 
other party. There are on-sale restrictions in Singapore that may be applicable to investors who 
acquire Offer Shares. As such, investors are advised to acquaint themselves with the SFA provisions 
relating to resale restrictions in Singapore and comply accordingly.   

Switzerland 

The Offer Shares may not be publicly offered in Switzerland and will not be listed on the SIX Swiss 
Exchange ("SIX") or on any other stock exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland. This 
Offer Document has been prepared without regard to the disclosure standards for issuance 
prospectuses under art. 652a or art. 1156 of the Swiss Code of Obligations or the disclosure 
standards for listing prospectuses under art. 27 ff. of the SIX Listing Rules or the listing rules of any 
other stock exchange or regulated trading facility in Switzerland. Neither this Offer Document nor any 
other offering or marketing material relating to the Offer Shares may be publicly distributed or 
otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland. The Offer Shares will only be offered to regulated 
financial intermediaries such as banks, securities dealers, insurance institutions and fund 
management companies as well as institutional investors with professional treasury operations. 

Neither this Offer Document nor any other offering or marketing material relating to the Offer Shares 
have been or will be filed with or approved by any Swiss regulatory authority. In particular, this Offer 
Document will not be filed with, and the offer of Offer Shares will not be supervised by, the Swiss 
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA). 

This Offer Document is personal to the recipient only and not for general circulation in Switzerland. 
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United Arab Emirates 

Neither this Offer Document nor the Offer Shares have been approved, disapproved or passed on in 
any way by the Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates, the Emirates Securities and Commodities 
Authority or any other governmental authority in the United Arab Emirates, nor has the Company 
received authorization or licensing from the Central Bank of the United Arab Emirates, the Emirates 
Securities and Commodities Authority or any other governmental authority in the United Arab Emirates 
to market or sell the Offer Shares within the United Arab Emirates. No marketing of any financial 
products or services may be made from within the United Arab Emirates and no subscription to any 
financial products or services may be consummated within the United Arab Emirates. This Offer 
Document does not constitute and may not be used for the purpose of an offer or invitation. No 
services relating to the Offer Shares, including the receipt of applications and/or the allotment or 
redemption of Offer Shares, may be rendered within the United Arab Emirates by the Company.  

No offer or invitation to subscribe for Offer Shares is valid in, or permitted from any person in, the 
Dubai International Financial Centre. 

United Kingdom 

Neither the information in this Offer Document nor any other document relating to the offer has been 
delivered for approval to the Financial Conduct Authority in the United Kingdom and no prospectus 
(within the meaning of section 85 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended 
("FSMA")) has been published or is intended to be published in respect of the Offer Shares. This Offer 
Document is issued on a confidential basis to "qualified investors" (within the meaning of section 86(7) 
of FSMA) in the United Kingdom, and the Offer Shares may not be offered or sold in the United 
Kingdom by means of this Offer Document, any accompanying letter or any other document, except in 
circumstances which do not require the publication of a prospectus pursuant to section 86(1) FSMA.  
This Offer Document should not be distributed, published or reproduced, in whole or in part, nor may 
its contents be disclosed by recipients to any other person in the United Kingdom. 

Any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of 
FSMA) received in connection with the issue or sale of the Offer Shares has only been communicated 
or caused to be communicated and will only be communicated or caused to be communicated in the 
United Kingdom in circumstances in which section 21(1) of FSMA does not apply to the Company. 

In the United Kingdom, this Offer Document is being distributed only to, and is directed at, persons (i) 
who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within Article 19(5) 
(investment professionals) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotions) 
Order 2005 ("FPO"), (ii) who fall within the categories of persons referred to in Article 49(2)(a) to (d) 
(high net worth companies, unincorporated associations, etc.) of the FPO or (iii) to whom it may 
otherwise be lawfully communicated (together "relevant persons").  The investments to which this 
Offer Document relates are available only to, and any invitation, offer or agreement to purchase will be 
engaged in only with, relevant persons. Any person who is not a relevant person should not act or rely 
on this Offer Document or any of its contents.     

Overseas Investment Act 

Any person who is an “overseas person” for the purposes of the Overseas Investment Act 2005 and 
who intends to acquire 25% or more of the Offer Shares (or make any other acquisition regulated by 
that Act) will be required to obtain any necessary consent under the Overseas Investment Act 2005. 

Takeovers Code 

Once the Shares are quoted on the NZX Main Board (expected to occur on 5 December 2014), Evolve 
Education will be a “Code Company” under the Takeovers Code.  The Takeovers Code prohibits, 
amongst other things, any person (together with their associates (as defined in the Takeovers Code)) 
from becoming the holder or controller of 20% or more of the voting rights in Evolve Education other 
than in compliance with the requirements of the Takeovers Code.  You should seek legal advice in 
relation to any act, omission or circumstance which may result in you breaching any provision of the 
Takeovers Code.   
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9. Taxation Summary 
New Zealand taxes may affect the returns to investors.  The following taxation summary addresses the 
general tax implications for investors and is based on New Zealand tax laws and their interpretation as 
at the date of this Offer Document.  Tax legislation, its interpretation and the rates and basis of 
taxation, are subject to change. 

This summary is not intended to be an authoritative or complete statement of applicable law and does 
not constitute tax advice on which you can rely.  It does not necessarily deal with your specific 
circumstances.  Prospective investors are advised to obtain independent professional advice relevant 
to their own particular circumstances before investing. 

Tax Residence 

The tax rules that apply to your investment in Shares will differ depending on whether you are a New 
Zealand tax resident or a non-tax resident.  If you are a natural person you will be tax resident in New 
Zealand if you: 

 have a permanent place of abode in New Zealand; and/or 

 have been personally present in New Zealand for more than 183 days in a 12 month period, and 
have not subsequently been absent from New Zealand for more than 325 days in a 12 month 
period. 

A company will be a New Zealand tax resident if it: is incorporated in New Zealand, has its head office 
in New Zealand, has its centre of administrative management in New Zealand or its directors exercise 
control of the company from New Zealand. 

In some cases a person may be a tax resident in New Zealand and another country simultaneously.  If 
you are in this position, you should obtain tax advice to confirm how this affects the New Zealand tax 
treatment of your investment in Shares. 

Taxation implications for New Zealand tax resident investors 

If you are a New Zealand tax resident the tax implications of investing in Shares should be as follows: 

Acquisition and transfers of Shares:  No stamp duty or other form of transfer or transaction tax, 
including New Zealand GST, will apply in relation to the initial issue of shares to you under this Offer 
Document or to any subsequent Share transfers you make.  No notice of Share transfers is required to 
be given by a Shareholder to the New Zealand Inland Revenue. 

Disposal of Shares:  New Zealand does not have a comprehensive capital gains tax regime.  
Consequently, where the disposal of Shares does not form part of your business, amounts derived 
from the disposal of Shares will generally not be subject to New Zealand income tax.  However, there 
are exceptions to this where the Shares were purchased for the dominant purpose of sale, or if the 
Shares were acquired as part of a profit-making undertaking or scheme, or if you are in the business 
of dealing in shares.  Where one of these exceptions applies, or the Shares are otherwise acquired as 
part of your business, the taxable gain (or deductible loss) for you will be the difference between the 
cost of acquiring the Shares and the consideration you receive for their disposal. 

Dividends:  Distributions you receive from Evolve Education in respect of Shares, including any cash 
dividend payment, will be taxable dividends.  Shareholders will be liable to pay tax on such dividends 
at their personal tax rates as prescribed by current enactments at the time the dividend is paid but will 
be able to use any imputation credits attached to the dividend (representing income tax paid by Evolve 
Education) and any RWT deducted by Evolve Education (discussed below) to offset that tax in whole 
or in part.  Some distributions you receive from Evolve Education will not be taxable dividends 
(including any non-taxable bonus issues of Shares or a return of capital in certain circumstances).   

Resident withholding tax:  Evolve Education will be required to deduct RWT from any dividends Evolve 
Education pays you at a 33% withholding rate, to the extent applicable.  This will be the case even 
where the dividends have the maximum allowable imputation credits attached, as a fully-imputed 
dividend does not entirely eliminate the requirement to deduct RWT.  However, Evolve Education will 
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not withhold RWT from dividends you receive if you hold, at the time of the applicable dividend, a 
current RWT exemption certificate that you have provided to Evolve Education before a dividend is 
paid to you. 

Income tax returns:  If you are not currently required to file an income tax return, the receipt of 
dividends from Evolve Education should not affect that.  However, if your personal tax rate is less than 
33% you may be able to reduce your tax liabilities, or seek a refund of RWT on dividends, by filing an 
income tax return.   

Taxation implications for non-tax resident investors 

If you are a non-resident for New Zealand tax purposes the tax implications of investing in Shares 
should be as follows: 

Acquisition and transfers of Shares:  No stamp duty or other form of transfer or transaction tax, 
including New Zealand GST, will apply in relation to the initial issue of shares to you under this Offer 
Document or to any subsequent Share transfers you make.  No notice of Share transfers is required to 
be given by a Shareholder to the New Zealand Inland Revenue. 

Dividends:  Evolve Education will withhold NRWT from dividends paid to you.  The standard NRWT 
deduction rate is 30%.  However, a deduction rate of 15% will apply where you are paid a dividend 
that is fully imputed (being a dividend with imputation credits attached to it at the maximum rate 
allowable by law) or are entitled to a 15% rate under a DTA New Zealand has concluded with your 
country of residence.  Some distributions you receive from Evolve Education will not be taxable 
dividends (including any non-taxable bonus issues of Shares or a return of capital in certain 
circumstances).  If a non-resident Shareholder with a 10% or greater shareholding receives a fully 
imputed dividend from Evolve Education the NRWT deduction rate in respect of that dividend will be 
0%.  

Supplementary dividend:  If a non-resident Shareholder has a less than 10% shareholding and the 
DTA between New Zealand and their country of residence applies a 15% or greater tax rate to the 
payment of dividends, Evolve Education may pay those Shareholders a supplementary dividend under 
the foreign investor tax credit regime (where imputation credits are available).  The supplementary 
dividend (if paid) is designed to offset the economic burden associated with the NRWT that is payable 
on the non-resident Shareholder’s dividend payments.  Evolve Education should get a tax credit for 
any supplementary dividends it makes, so there will be no disadvantage to Shareholders generally.    

Tax credit:  Your country of residence may allow you to claim a tax credit for any NRWT deducted 
from dividend payments you receive from us.  However, this will depend on the tax laws that apply in 
your country of residence. 

Disposal of Shares:  If you are a resident of a country with which New Zealand has concluded a DTA, 
New Zealand will generally not have the right to impose New Zealand tax on any income you derive 
from disposing of Shares unless you hold your Shares through a New Zealand “permanent 
establishment”.  If a DTA does not give you relief from New Zealand taxation, your New Zealand tax 
position will be determined using the same rules that apply to disposals of shares by New Zealand 
residents.  Consequently, where the disposal of Shares does not form part of your business, amounts 
derived from the disposal of Shares will generally not be subject to New Zealand income tax.  
However, there are exceptions to this where the Shares were purchased for the dominant purpose of 
sale, or if the Shares were acquired as part of a profit making undertaking or scheme, or if you are in 
the business of dealing in shares.  Where one of these exceptions applies, or the Shares are 
otherwise acquired as part of your business, the taxable gain (or deductible loss) for you will be the 
difference between the cost of acquiring the Shares and the consideration that you receive for their 
disposal. 
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10. Statutory Information 
This section contains the information required by Schedule 1 to the Securities Regulations.  

1. Main terms of the offer 

The issuer of the Offer Shares is Evolve Education Group Limited.  Evolve Education’s registered 
office is set out in the Directory. 

The securities being offered under this Offer are fully paid ordinary shares in Evolve Education.  A 
description of the securities is set out in Section 8 Details of the Offer. 

The maximum number of Offer Shares being offered under the Offer is 132,317,278. 

The consideration to be paid for each Offer Share is the Offer Price of $1.00.   

2. Name and address of offeror 

The issuer is the sole offeror of Offer Shares under the Offer.  

3. Details of incorporation of issuer 

Evolve Education (Company Number 5236543) was incorporated in New Zealand under the 
Companies Act on 20 May 2014.  You can inspect the public file relating to Evolve Education 
maintained by the Companies Office of the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment on its 
website at www.business.govt.nz/companies.    

4. Principal subsidiaries of issuer 

As at the date of this Offer Document, the subsidiaries of Evolve Education are Evolve Group 1 
Limited, Evolve Group 2 Limited, Evolve Group 3 Limited, Evolve Group 4 Limited, Evolve Group 5 
Limited, Evolve Management Group Limited and Evolve Home Day Care Limited.  

Each of Evolve Group 1 Limited, Evolve Group 2 Limited, Evolve Group 3 Limited, Evolve Group 4 
Limited, Evolve Group 5 Limited, Evolve Management Group Limited and Evolve Home Day Care 
Limited are 100% owned by Evolve Education. 

None of these subsidiaries has acquired any assets as at the date of this Offer Document. 

5. Names, addresses and other information 

Directors 

The names of the Directors and the city, town or district in which their principal residence is based as 
at the date of this Offer Document are: Norah Barlow (Wellington, New Zealand), Mark Finlay 
(Auckland, New Zealand), Greg Kern (Brisbane, Australia), Alistair Ryan (Auckland, New Zealand), 
Alan Wham (Auckland, New Zealand). 

You can contact the Directors at Evolve Education’s registered office as set out in the Directory. 

Alan Wham is the Chief Executive Officer of Evolve Education. 

http://www.business.govt.nz/companies
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Promoters 

Kern Group NZ Limited and Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited are promoters of the Offer.  The 
registered office of Kern Group NZ Limited is Level 18, PricewaterhouseCoopers Tower, 188 Quay 
Street, Auckland Central, Auckland, 1010, New Zealand.  The registered office of Wraith Capital 
Group NZ Limited is Level 18, PricewaterhouseCoopers Tower, 188 Quay Street, Auckland Central, 
Auckland, 1010, New Zealand.  

Samuel (Chris) Giufre (Queensland, Australia) being a director of Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited 
who is not also a director of Evolve Education, is deemed to be a promoter of the Offer. 

Auditor  

Evolve Education’s auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers. 

Share Registrar  

Evolve Education’s share registrar is Link Market Services Limited. 

Advisers  

The names of Evolve Education’s financial advisers, and the solicitors and the professional advisers 
who have been involved in preparing this Offer Document are set out in the Directory.  

Experts 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Chartered Accountants, of 188 Quay Street, Auckland 1010, has given and 
not withdrawn its consent before delivery of this Offer Document for registration under section 41 of 
the Securities Act to the distribution of this Offer Document with the inclusion of the Investigating 
Accountant’s Report in this Offer Document in the form and context in which it is included.  The 
address of PricewaterhouseCoopers is set out in the Directory. 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers is also Evolve Education’s auditor, and has provided the audit report in 
relation to Evolve Education that is set out in this Offer Document. 

Neither PricewaterhouseCoopers, nor any director, officer or employee of it, is or is intended to be, a 
director, officer or employee of Evolve Education.  However, PricewaterhouseCoopers has provided, 
and may in the future provide, professional advisory services to the Evolve Education Group.  

Underwriter  

Evolve Education’s underwriter is Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited.  The Offer of the Offer 
Shares is underwritten by the Underwriter in accordance with the terms of the Underwriting 
Agreement. The address of Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited is set out in the Directory. 

6. Restrictions on directors’ powers 

Constitution 

The Constitution incorporates by reference the requirements of the NZX Listing Rules and the ASX 
Listing Rules, and requires Evolve Education to comply with the NZX Listing Rules and the ASX 
Listing Rules for so long as it is listed.  The principal restrictions on the powers of the Board which will 
be imposed by the Constitution (either expressly or by importing certain of the NZX Listing Rules and 
the ASX Listing Rules), the NZX Listing Rules and the ASX Listing Rules (both of which will apply 
once Evolve Education is listed) are as follows:   

 the Directors may not allow Evolve Education to issue or acquire any of its equity securities 
except in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution, the Companies Act, the NZX Listing 
Rules and the ASX Listing Rules; 

 the Directors may not allow Evolve Education to give financial assistance for the purpose of, or in 
connection with, the acquisition of equity securities issued or to be issued by it, except in limited 
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circumstances and in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution, the Companies Act, the 
NZX Listing Rules and the ASX Listing Rules; 

 a Director may not vote at a meeting of the Board of Evolve Education on a matter in which he or 
she is interested unless required by the Companies Act to sign a certificate in respect of the 
matter, or unless the matter relates to the grant of an indemnity under section 162 of the 
Companies Act; 

 the Directors may not allow Evolve Education to enter into any transaction or series of linked or 
related transactions to acquire, sell, lease, exchange or otherwise dispose of (otherwise than by 
way of charge) assets of Evolve Education, which would change the essential nature of the 
business of Evolve Education, or in respect of which the gross value is in excess of 50% of the 
average market capitalisation of Evolve Education, without the prior approval of an ordinary 
resolution of Shareholders;  

 the Directors may not enter into certain material transactions with related parties if that related 
party is, or is likely to become, a direct or indirect party to the material transaction or at least one 
of a related series of transactions of which the material transaction forms part or, in the case of a 
guarantee or similar material transaction, a direct or indirect beneficiary of such guarantee or 
other transaction, without the prior approval of an ordinary resolution of Shareholders;  

 the Directors may not allow Evolve Education to pay remuneration to a Director in his or her 
capacity as a Director except in accordance with the provisions of the Constitution, the NZX 
Listing Rules and the ASX Listing Rules; and 

 the Directors may not allow Evolve Education to cancel, reduce or defer an obligation to pay any 
amount which is unpaid on any equity security without the prior approval of an ordinary resolution 
of Shareholders. 

In addition, the existing Constitution of Evolve Education as at the date of registration of this Offer 
Document contains certain restrictions on the powers of Directors, including that the Board may not 
issue shares or register the transfer of shares otherwise than in accordance with the provisions of the 
Constitution.  This Constitution will cease to apply when the new Constitution comes into effect 
immediately prior to listing.  

Companies Act 

The Companies Act contains a number of other provisions that could have the effect, in certain 
circumstances, of imposing restrictions on the powers of the Directors.  For example, the Directors 
may not allow Evolve Education to enter into any major transaction (as that term is defined in the 
Companies Act) without the prior approval of a special resolution of Shareholders, and the Directors 
may not allow Evolve Education to take any action which affects the rights or privileges attached to 
Shares, without the sanction of a special resolution of any interest group (being a group of 
Shareholders with similar or identical rights). 

These provisions apply to any company registered under the Companies Act. 

7. Substantial equity security holders of issuer 

The table below sets out the 10 largest registered holdings of equity securities of Evolve Education as 
at the date of this Offer Document.  
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Shareholder Number of equity securities % 

Kern Group NZ Limited 2,285,369  28.19% 

Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited  2,285,369 28.19% 

Stuart and Gillian James as trustees of the S.B. James 
Superannuation Fund 

2,285,369 28.19% 

Alan Wham 550,000 6.79% 

Vivek Singh 300,000 3.70% 

Norah Barlow 80,000 0.99% 

Alistair Ryan 80,000 0.99% 

David Smith 80,000 0.99% 

Beverley Gordon 80,000 0.99% 

Paula Hawkings 80,000 0.99% 

 

The persons named in the table above do not guarantee or undertake any liability in respect of the 
Offer Shares.  

8. Description of activities of issuing group 

Evolve Education was incorporated on 20 May 2014 to be a leading provider in the New Zealand 
market of high quality education and care to children.  
 
The principal activities of the Evolve Education Group since Evolve Education was incorporated have 
been to negotiate and enter into contracts for the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio and to prepare for 
the Offer.  You can read a full description of the business of the Evolve Education Group in Section 
4.2 Business Description. 

After listing, the Evolve Education Group’s principal assets are expected to be all the shares in 
Lollipops Educare (which owns and operates the Lollipops Educare Owned ECE Centres), the 55 
Additional Owned ECE Centres and all the shares in the PORSE Group.  All Owned ECE Centres will 
be owned by members of the Evolve Education Group.  

At the date of this Offer Document the Evolve Education Group does not own or lease any principal 
assets. 

The principal assets of the Evolve Education Group will not be subject to obligations in favour of 
another person that modify or restrict Evolve Education’s ability to deal with the assets, except for 
restrictions provided for in Evolve Education’s Financing Arrangements (described in more detail in 
Section 7.9 Description of the Evolve Education Group’s Financing Arrangements). 

9. Summary financial statements 

Summary financial statements for the Evolve Education Group for the accounting period ended 31 
August 2014 are set out in Appendix 1 – Historical Financial Information. 

10. Prospects and forecasts 

Information as to the trading prospects of the Evolve Education Group, together with any material 
information that may be relevant to those prospects, is described generally in Section 4 About Evolve 

Education and Section 7.2 Prospective Financial Information.  

Any special trade factors and risks which could materially affect the prospects of the Evolve Education 
Group and which are not likely to be known or anticipated by the general public are set out in Section 
5 Risks.  
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11. Provisions relating to initial flotations and minimum 
subscription 

Plans of Directors 

The Directors’ plans in respect of the Evolve Education Group for the year commencing on the date of 
this Offer Document are to undertake the Offer, acquire the Initial Portfolio (as described further in 
Section 8 Details of the Offer), and to undertake the business and trading activities of the Evolve 
Education Group as described in Section 4.2 Business Description.  

The source of finance required for these plans will be the capital raised by Evolve Education pursuant 
to the Offer, operating cash flows and other financial accommodation considered appropriate by 
Evolve Education, including the New Financing Arrangements. 

Notwithstanding the plans of the Directors, the proceeds of the Offer may be applied towards any 
other purpose or undertaking in which Evolve Education may lawfully engage.  

Prospective financial statements 

A prospective statement of financial position, a prospective statement of financial performance, and a 
prospective statement of cashflows for the Evolve Education Group in relation to the accounting 
periods ending 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2016 are set out in Section 7.2 Prospective Financial 
Information.  

Minimum amount 

For the purposes of section 37(2) of the Securities Act, the minimum amount that, in the opinion of the 
Directors of Evolve Education must be raised by the issue of the Offer Shares in order to provide the 
sums required to be provided in respect of: 

 the purchase price of any property purchased or to be purchased that is to be met in whole or in 
part out of the proceeds of the Offer; 

 any preliminary expenses or commission payable by Evolve Education; 

 working capital; and 

 the repayment of any money borrowed by Evolve Education in respect of any of the above, 

 is $132,317,278.  

12. Acquisition of business or subsidiary 

Lollipops Educare Acquisition 

Evolve Education has entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement (Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition Agreement) to acquire 100% of the shares in Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited.   

The consideration payable by Evolve Education for the shares will be satisfied by cash payments 
totalling $30,500,000, subject to working capital and other adjustments, and the issue of 36,209,901 
fully paid Shares. 

The business carried on by Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited in the five year period prior to the date 
of this Offer Document was owning (whether wholly or as part of a joint venture), operating and 
franchising ECE Centres (both itself and through its subsidiaries). 

Summary financial statements in tabular form based on special purpose audited financial statements 
for Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited in respect of the financial years ended 31 March 2014 and 31 
March 2013 are set out in Appendix 1 – Historical Financial Information.   

Special purpose audited financial statements for Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2014, with 31 March 2013 comparatives are set out in Appendix 1 – Historical 
Financial Information. 
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PORSE Acquisition 

Evolve Home Day Care Limited (being a member of the ‘issuing group’ for the purposes of the 
Securities Regulations), has entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement (PORSE 
Acquisition Agreement) to acquire 100% of the shares in PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, 
PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited, PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited, and FOR Life Education 
& Training (NZ) Limited.  

The amount of consideration payable by Evolve Home Day Care Limited for the shares is 
$10,000,000, subject to working capital and other adjustments, plus an earn out of an amount equal to 
4.75 multiplied by an amount equal to the consolidated earnings before interest and tax of PORSE In-
Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited, PORSE Education & Training (NZ) 
Limited, and FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31 
December 2015 less $1,850,000, subject to any adjustments in accordance with the PORSE 
Acquisition Agreement.   

The business carried on by PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited in the five year period prior to the 
date of this Offer Document was the provision of Home-based ECE and training. 

The business carried on by PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited, in the five year period prior to the date 
of this Offer Document was as a franchisor of the PORSE ECE network. 

The business carried on by PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited in the five year period prior to 
the date of this Offer Document was a registered private training establishment accredited to offer 
training with a focus on early childhood education and care. 

The business carried on by FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited in the period from 21 July 
2011 (being its date of incorporation) until the date of this Offer Document was as a provider of 
education and training focussed on parenting, self growth and personal effectiveness skills. 

Summary financial statements in tabular form for PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, PORSE 
Franchising (NZ) Limited and PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited in respect of the financial 
years ended 31 December 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are set out in Appendix 1 – Historical 
Financial Information.  Summary financial statements in tabular form for FOR Life Education & 
Training (NZ) Limited in respect of the financial years ended 31 December 2013, 2012 and 2011 are 
set out in Appendix 1 – Historical Financial Information.   

Audited financial statements for PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, PORSE Franchising (NZ) 
Limited, PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited, and FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 are set out in Appendix 1 – Historical Financial 
Information. 

Other Acquisitions 

Evolve Education Group has entered into Additional Acquisition Agreements to acquire the Additional 
Owned ECE Centres and other related businesses for a total purchase price of approximately 
$88,376,943, subject to earnout, working capital and other adjustments. 

The Additional Acquisition Agreements are on substantially the same terms for all Additional Owned 
ECE Centres and they provide for: 

 one of the wholly owned subsidiaries of Evolve Education (or its nominee) to acquire the 
business and assets and assume certain liabilities of the vendor of the Additional Owned ECE 
Centre.  For the purposes of this summary, we refer to the purchasing subsidiary as Evolve 
Education. 

 certain condition precedents that must be satisfied, including:  

o Due Diligence (Evolve Education being satisfied with the results of its due diligence 
investigations regarding the assets, business and all other relevant matters); 

o Finance (Evolve Education arranging for the provision to it of sufficient debt and/or 
equity finance on terms and conditions satisfactory to Evolve Education and satisfying 
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all conditions precedent to drawdown or use the debt and/or equity funds arranged in 
relation to the acquisition of the business and assets); 

o Transfer of ECE Centre licence (Evolve Education obtaining a transfer of the ECE 
Centre licence (to take effect on the completion date) from the vendor to Evolve 
Education or Evolve Education obtaining a new ECE Centre licence on terms 
acceptable to Evolve Education); and 

o Landlord consent (Evolve Education obtaining the written consent of the landlord to 
the transfer of the lease from the vendor to Evolve Education and to the charging, 
mortgaging or granting of a security interest over Evolve Education’s interest in the 
lease, on terms acceptable to Evolve Education); 

 Evolve Education to have certain access and information rights from signing until completion 
in order to undertake due diligence and prepare for transition to Evolve Education’s working 
procedures; 

 payment of the purchase price at completion, by Evolve Education being the agreed purchase 
price for the Additional Owned ECE Centre less (in most cases) a retention amount (generally 
$15,000) and transferring employees’ annual leave entitlements and adjusted for advance 
payments, arrears payments, outgoings, and liabilities.  Evolve Education may deduct from 
the retention amount any amounts owed by the vendor to Evolve Education in respect of 
outgoings and incomings of the business that were not correctly apportioned at completion, 
where Evolve Education assumes responsibility for satisfying payables and where there is a 
breach of the Additional Acquisition Agreement by the vendor.  The remaining part of the 
retention amount must be released by Evolve Education after the end of the retention period 
(being several months after completion); 

 the vendor to give a reasonably comprehensive set of warranties in respect of the business 
and assets being acquired, including that the assets are unencumbered.  There is an 
exclusion for warranty claims where the relevant matters were fully and fairly disclosed in the 
due diligence materials provided to Evolve Education.  In most cases, there is the ability for 
Evolve Education to terminate for breach of warranty prior to completion; 

 in some cases, other limitations on the vendor’s liability under warranty claims, so that no 
claim can be made beyond a particular time period for claims (varying between 12 and 24 
months) and a capped liability amount, generally being the purchase price); 

 other provisions regarding limitations on conduct during the period between signing and 
completion, and mechanical provisions around completion and the transfer of employees; 

 a restraint of trade, whereby the vendor and its directors agree that they and other certain 
restricted persons will not undertake any restricted business or participate in any other 
activities relating to any restricted business for a period of three years after the completion 
date within a five kilometre radius of the relevant ECE Centre.  Some specific carve outs have 
been agreed for certain Additional Owned ECE Centres; and 

 a guarantee of the vendor’s obligations by the directors and/or shareholders of the vendor. 

13.  Securities paid up otherwise than in cash 

Other than as set out below, no securities have been allotted by a member of the Evolve Education 
Group to a person who is not a member of the Evolve Education Group, and no securities have been 
subscribed for and are to be allotted, as fully or partly paid up otherwise than in cash: 

 Evolve Education has agreed to issue 449,438 fully paid ordinary Shares to Hayes Knight 
Business Services (QLD) Pty Ltd (or its nominees) on completion of the Offer in consideration for 
the provision by Hayes Knight Business Services (QLD) Pty Ltd of management assistance in 
connection with the acquisition of the Additional Owned ECE Centres.  The fixed fee agreed by 
Hayes Knight Business Services (QLD) Pty Ltd for this management assistance was 
AUD$200,000 (exclusive of GST).  The Shares will be issued fully paid up otherwise than in cash.  
All Shares issued to Hayes Knight Business Services (QLD) Pty Ltd (or its nominees) will be 
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subject to escrow arrangements as further described under the heading “Escrow Arrangements” 
in Section 8 Details of the Offer. 

14. Options to subscribe for securities of the Evolve Education 
Group 

As at the date of this Offer Document, there are no options to subscribe for securities in any member 
of the Evolve Education Group.  

15.  Appointment and removal of directors 

Evolve Education has signed a listing agreement with NZX (a registered exchange) and expects to be 
party to a listing agreement with ASX, and the method by which Directors of Evolve Education may be 
appointed to or removed from, or otherwise vacate, office is the same as that contained in the NZX 
Listing Rules and the ASX Listing Rules.  No person (other than the Shareholders of Evolve Education 
in a general meeting, or the Directors acting as a Board to fill a casual vacancy), has the right to 
appoint any Director.  

Each Director has the power to appoint any person as an alternate director, who may be any person 
not disqualified by the Companies Act from holding the position of a director of a company and who is 
approved by a majority of the other Directors.  

16. Interested persons 

In relation to the information set out in this section, ‘specified person’ means:   

 a Director or proposed Director of Evolve Education or an associated person of any of them; and 

 Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited and Samuel (Chris) Giufre, or an 
associated person of any of them. 

Remuneration for services or recovery of expenses 

Other than as set out below, no specified person is entitled to remuneration for services (other than 
Directors’ fees), or to recover expenses, in respect of the Evolve Education Group: 

 Directors of Evolve Education are entitled to be reimbursed by Evolve Education for reasonable 
travelling, accommodation and other expenses incurred in the course of performing duties or 
exercising powers as directors.  There is no prescribed limit on the expenses that can be 
reimbursed to Directors.  

 Kern Group (Paddington) Pty Ltd (a company of which Greg Kern is a director and shareholder) 
has entered into an agreement with Evolve Education under which Kern Group (Paddington) Pty 
Ltd agreed to act as financial advisers to Evolve Education in relation to the Offer. On completion 
of the Offer, Kern Group (Paddington) Pty Ltd will be paid a fee of AUD$1,000,000 (plus GST) for 
those services.  Evolve Education has also agreed to reimburse Kern Group (Paddington) Pty Ltd 
for out-of-pocket expenses reasonably incurred or paid in connection with the services.  There is 
no prescribed limit on the expenses that can be reimbursed to Kern Group (Paddington) Pty Ltd. 

 Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited (a company of which Samuel (Chris) Giufre is a director and 
shareholder) has entered into a consultancy agreement with Evolve Education under which 
Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited agreed to provide consultancy services to Evolve Education in 
connection with the acquisition of the Initial Portfolio.  On completion of the Offer, Wraith Capital 
Group NZ Limited will be paid a fee of AUD$300,000 (plus GST) for those services.  Evolve 
Education has also agreed to reimburse Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited for reasonable 
expenses incurred in carrying out the services.  There is no prescribed limit on the expenses that 
can be reimbursed to Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited. 

 Evolve Education has entered into an employment agreement with Alan Wham in relation to his 
employment with Evolve Education as Chief Executive Officer.  The Chief Executive Officer will 
receive $450,000 per annum (gross) and is entitled to the use of a mobile telephone, laptop and 
car park.  Evolve Education will also reimburse the Chief Executive Officer for any expenses 
reasonably incurred by him in the performance of his duties under his employment agreement.  
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There is no prescribed limit on the expenses that can be reimbursed to the Chief Executive 
Officer, but all expenses must be incurred in accordance with expense policies authorised by the 
Board.  Alan Wham has also been issued 550,000 Shares in Evolve Education. 

 Under the Lollipops Educare Acquisition agreement, Evolve Education has agreed that it will 
reimburse the shareholders of Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited (as vendors) for costs incurred 
by them in seeking any exemption required under the Takeovers Code to allow them to acquire 
20% or more of the voting rights in Evolve Education.  Evolve Education’s obligation to reimburse 
the shareholders is limited to $10,000 (plus GST). 

 Evolve Education has granted indemnities, to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Act 
and the Securities Act, in favour of past, present and future Directors (and those of related 
companies of Evolve Education) and certain employees (and those of related companies of 
Evolve Education).  Evolve Education also maintains insurance for its Directors and officers to 
support such indemnities to the extent permitted by the Companies Act and the Securities Act. 

Material interests 

Other than the contracts described above or as set out below, no specified person has, or has had at 
any time during the five years preceding the date of this Offer Document, any direct or indirect material 
interest in the Evolve Education Group, or in any contract or arrangement entered into on behalf of or 
in respect of the Evolve Education Group, that is material to either or both of the person who has the 
interest and the Evolve Education Group: 

 Mark Finlay and other associated persons of him are parties to the Lollipops Educare Acquisition 
Agreement as vendors.  Following completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition, LEP Limited, 
a company of which Mark Finlay is a director and indirect shareholder (along with the other 
vendors of Lollipops Educare) and certain of its related companies, will be party to a licence 
agreement under which Lollipops Educare licenses to LEP Limited and certain of its related 
companies the right to use the Lollipops Educare brand and other intellectual property rights in 
relation to any ECE Centres that are developed by LEP Limited or any of its related companies.  
Under that licence agreement LEP Limited and certain of its related companies also grant to 
Evolve Education a right of first refusal to acquire (on certain agreed dates) any ECE Centres that 
are developed by LEP Limited or any of its related companies.  A copy of the licence agreement 
is attached to the Lollipops Educare Acquisition Agreement referred to below under the heading 
“Material Contracts”. 

 Following completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition, Evolve Education will be a party to a 
centre management agreement whereby Evolve Education will initially manage five ECE Centres 
for LEP Limited and its related companies.  A copy of the centre management agreement is 
attached to the Lollipops Educare Acquisition Agreement referred to below under the heading 
“Material Contracts”. 

 LEP Limited is also the landlord (and owner of the freehold title) of Evolve Education’s head office 
at Level 2, 54 Fort Street, Auckland and is or will be the landlord of four of the Lollipops Educare 
Owned ECE Centres. 

 LEP Limited has also entered into agreements to acquire the freehold property of three of the 
Additional Owned ECE Centres from the owners of the freehold property. 

 Greg Kern and Samuel (Chris) Giufre have entered into a deed of covenant with Evolve 
Education where they undertake that they will not until 31 December 2016 engage in any 
business that involves the acquisition of any existing ECE Centres or Home-based ECE services 
in New Zealand. The deed of covenant does not prevent them from establishing or developing 
any new ECE Centres or Home-based ECE services. 

 Kern Group NZ Limited and Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited are party to certain of the Loan 
Agreements referred to in paragraph 17 below. 

 The table below sets out details of any security holdings in Evolve Education that specified 
persons have, or have had, at any time during the five years preceding the date of this Offer 
Document.  Evolve Education has granted to each of Norah Barlow, Alistair Ryan and Alan 
Wham the number of shares specified in the table below, and to members of management the 
number of shares detailed in the table in Section 8 Details of the Offer under the heading “Capital 
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structure”, for nominal consideration in recognition of their considerable efforts in the period 
leading up to the Offer.  

 

Specified person 
Number of 
securities held 

Kern Group NZ Limited
61

  2,285,369  

Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited
62

  2,285,369  

Alan Wham  550,000 

Norah Barlow 80,000 

Alistair Ryan 80,000 

 

17. Material Contracts 

The Evolve Education Group has entered into the following material contracts during the two year 
period preceding the date of registration of this Offer Document (not being contracts entered into in the 
ordinary course of business): 

Lollipops Educare Acquisition Agreement 

On 14 November 2014, Evolve Education entered into an “Amended and restated agreement for the 
sale and purchase of shares in Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited” with the shareholders of Lollipops 
Educare Holdings Limited (as vendors), being Mark Finlay and Geoffrey Hosking as trustees of the 
Mark Finlay Investment No.2 Trust, Russell Thompson and Geoffrey Hosking as trustees of the 111 
Investment Trust, ScottFin ECE Limited, and Mark Finlay and Mark Dobson Trustee Company Limited 
as trustees of the HR Finlay Family Trust.   

Pursuant to this agreement, Evolve Education has agreed to purchase all of the shares in Lollipops 
Educare Holdings Limited, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions precedent. 

PORSE Acquisition Agreement 

On 22 September 2014, Evolve Home Day Care Limited entered into a “Share sale agreement relating 
to shares in PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited; PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited; PORSE 
Education & Training (NZ) Limited; and FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited” with the 
shareholders of PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited, PORSE 
Education & Training (NZ) Limited, and FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited (being, in each 
case, Jenny Yule, David Yule and Andrew Wares) (as vendors).   

Pursuant to this agreement, Evolve Education agreed to purchase all of the shares in PORSE In-
Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited, PORSE Education & Training (NZ) 
Limited, and FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited, subject to the satisfaction of certain 
conditions precedent. 

Loan Agreements  

Evolve Education has entered into three Loan Agreements with Stuart Bruce James and Gillian 
Doreen James as trustees of the S.B. James Superannuation Fund dated 24 June 2014, 27 October 
2014 and 10 November 2014 respectively.  Evolve Education has entered into two Loan Agreements 
with Kern Group NZ Limited dated 23 October 2014 and 7 November 2014 respectively.  Evolve 
Education has entered into two Loan Agreements with Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited dated 28 
October 2014 and 11 November 2014 respectively.  Under these agreements the lenders agreed to 

                                                      

61
 400 Shares in Evolve Education were initially issued to Kern Group (Licensing) Pty Ltd.  These shares were transferred on 17 

June 2014 to Kern Group NZ Limited, and were split into 1,666,800 Shares on 31 October 2014.  618,569 further Shares were 
issued by Evolve Education on 14 November 2014.  

62
 320 Shares in Evolve Education were initially issued to Era Education Group Pty Limited and 80 Shares in Evolve Education 

were initially issued to GG Super Investments Pty Ltd.  These 400 Shares were transferred on 15 July 2014 to Wraith Capital 
Group NZ Limited, and were split into 1,666,800 Shares on 31 October 2014.  618,569 further Shares were issued by Evolve 
Education on 14 November 2014. 
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provide unsecured loans to Evolve Education of AUD$1,600,000 in aggregate (being AUD$1,200,000 
from Stuart Bruce James and Gillian Doreen James as trustees of the S.B. James Superannuation 
Fund, AUD$200,000 from Kern Group NZ Limited and AUD$200,000 from Wraith Capital Group NZ 
Limited).  The loans are repayable on the date that is two business days following the listing of Evolve 
Education on the NZX Main Board, NZAX or ASX.   

In addition to the obligation to repay the loans, Evolve Education must pay an additional 
AUD$1,600,000 in aggregate (Return Amount) pro rata to the amount lent if Evolve Education 
undertakes a listing prior to 31 March 2015.  If the loan is repayable due to a listing then Evolve 
Education, at its option, must pay the Return Amount by either issuing to the lenders shares at the 
price shares are valued at under the IPO that are equivalent to the loan amount, or paying the Return 
Amount in cash.    In the event that Evolve Education does not undertake a listing before 31 March 
2015, then the lenders waive repayment of the loans, the loans vest absolutely in Evolve Education, 
and Evolve Education is released and discharged from all obligations and liability in connection with 
the repayment of the loans.  It is Evolve Education’s intention to repay the Return Amount in cash. 

Escrow Deed – Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited, Stuart and Gillian 
James as trustees of the S.B. James Superannuation Fund 

Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited, and Stuart James and Gillian James as 
trustees of the S.B. James Superannuation Fund have entered into an Escrow Deed dated 14 
November 2014 that provides that, for the period from the date of the Escrow Deed to 8am on the date 
that is two years after the date of commencement of quotation and trading of the Offer Shares on the 
NZX Main Board, Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited and Stuart and Gillian 
James will not agree to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of their Shares, other than: 

 in connection with a partial or full takeover offer under the Takeovers Code or if an amalgamation 
or scheme of arrangement with respect to the Shares is proposed; or 

 where they hold shares in their capacity as a trustee of a trust, to a new or replacement trustee of 
that trust (provided that the trustee enters into an escrow deed with Evolve Education); or  

 to an ‘associated person’ with the prior written approval of the non-interested Directors (provided 
that the associated person enters into an escrow deed with Evolve Education). 

Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited and Stuart and Gillian James are also each 
permitted to create a security interest over their shareholding in favour of a recognised bank or other 
similar recognised lending institution (provided that the lender enters into an escrow deed with Evolve 
Education). 

Escrow Deed – Norah Barlow, Alistair Ryan, Alan Wham, Vivek Singh, David Smith, Beverley 
Gordon and Paula Hawkings 

Norah Barlow, Alistair Ryan, Alan Wham, Vivek Singh, David Smith, Beverley Gordon and Paula 
Hawkings have entered into an Escrow Deed dated 14 November 2014 that provides that, for the 
period from the date of the Escrow Deed to 8am on the date that is two years after the date of 
commencement of quotation and trading of the Shares on the NZX Main Board, none of them will 
agree to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of their Shares, other than: 

 in connection with a partial or full takeover offer under the Takeovers Code or if an amalgamation 
or scheme of arrangement with respect to the Shares is proposed; or 

 where they hold shares in their capacity as a trustee of a trust, to a new or replacement trustee of 
that trust (provided that the trustee enters into an escrow deed with Evolve Education); or 

 to an ‘associated person’ with the prior written approval of the non-interested Directors (provided 
that the associated person enters into an escrow deed with Evolve Education).  
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Norah Barlow, Alistair Ryan, Alan Wham, Vivek Singh, David Smith, Beverley Gordon and Paula 
Hawkings are also each permitted to create a security interest over their shareholding in favour of a 
recognised bank or other similar recognised lending institution (provided that the lender enters into an 
escrow deed with Evolve Education). 

Deed of indemnity 

Evolve Education has entered into a deed of indemnity and access by deed poll (Indemnity) dated 14 
November 2014.  Under the Indemnity, Evolve Education must indemnify its present and future 
directors (and those of related companies of Evolve Education) and certain employees (and those of 
related companies of Evolve Education) (each an Indemnified Person), against: 

 the Indemnified Person’s reasonable costs incurred in any proceeding that relates to liability 
as a director or employee of Evolve Education (or a related company of Evolve Education), 
but only if judgment is given in the Indemnified Person’s favour, or in which the Indemnified 
Person is acquitted, or if the proceeding is discontinued; and 

 liability (other than criminal liability or liability in respect of a breach, in the case of a director, of 
the duty specified in section 131 of the Companies Act or, in the case of an employee, of any 
fiduciary duty owed to Evolve Education (or a related company of Evolve Education) under 
section 131 of the Companies Act) to any third party for acts or omissions as a Director or 
employee of Evolve Education (or a related company of Evolve Education), and against the 
Indemnified Person’s reasonable costs in defending or settling any related claim.    

Evolve Education must also effect directors and officers liability insurance of specified minimum 
amounts for usual perils related to the activities of the Indemnified Persons in relation to Evolve 
Education.  The insurance must provide a “run-off cover” such that the Indemnified Person, after he or 
she ceases to be a Director or employee of Evolve Education (or a related company of Evolve 
Education), remains insured for events that occurred during the time that the Indemnified Person held 
office for at least seven years after he or she ceased to be a director or employee of Evolve Education 
(or a related company of Evolve Education).  If the Indemnified Person has an insurance policy that 
expressly covers his or her liability as a director or employee of Evolve Education (or a related 
company of Evolve Education), the Indemnified Person must make a claim under that policy for any 
liability that the Indemnified Person may be able to claim under the Indemnity.  The Indemnified 
Person must reimburse Evolve Education using any relevant proceeds the Indemnified Person 
receives under that policy. 

The Indemnity excludes certain claims, such as claims resulting from liability for which an indemnity is 
prohibited by law.  Evolve Education must also not effect insurance for liability and costs not permitted 
by the Companies Act and Securities Act. 

Underwriting Agreement 

Evolve Education and the Joint Lead Managers have entered into the Underwriting Agreement dated 
14 November 2014 in connection with the Offer.  Pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting 
Agreement: 

 Evolve Education has agreed, subject to certain conditions, to allot and issue of the Offer 
Shares; 

 the Underwriter has agreed, subject to certain conditions (including that share transfers in 
respect of the Lollipops Acquisition and the PORSE Acquisition are held in escrow and the 
Company (or its nominee) has the right to be registered in the share registers of the relevant 
entities being acquired, receipt of various regulatory rulings/approvals, registration of this Offer 
Document and the receipt by the Underwriter of various due diligence reports, opinions and 
sign-offs), to underwrite the Offer; 

 Evolve Education has given certain customary contractual protections to the Underwriter and 
Joint Lead Managers in connection with the Underwriting Agreement, including warranties and 
indemnities.  Each Joint Lead Manager has also provided a limited number of representations 
and warranties to Evolve Education. 
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 Evolve Education undertakes not to make any allotments of Shares or other equity securities 
for a period of 180 days following completion of the Offer, other than pursuant to the Offer, 
certain limited exceptions or with the Underwriter’s consent; 

 the Underwriter may terminate the Underwriting Agreement and its underwriting obligations in 
certain circumstances, including where on or before allotment of the Offer Shares: 

o the Offer is withdrawn by Evolve Education; 

o any information or statement in this Offer Document or the Investment Statement is or 
becomes untrue, inaccurate, misleading or deceptive or likely to mislead or deceive in any 
material respect or a material matter is omitted; 

o NZX or ASX listing approval is withdrawn; 

o the NZX 50 index or S&P/ASX 200 index declines below relevant specified levels; 

o a material adverse change in Evolve Education, any member of the Lollipops Educare 
Group or PORSE or the Evolve Education Group (including the Initial Portfolio) occurs; 

o particular disruptions occur in certain major financial markets*; 

o a representation or warranty provided by Evolve Education contained in the Underwriting 
Agreement is not true or correct*; 

o any breach of any obligations occurs under the Underwriting Agreement by Evolve 
Education*. 

Where certain termination circumstances, including those above marked with an asterisk, occur the 
Underwriter cannot terminate the Underwriting Agreement unless, in the reasonable opinion of the 
Underwriter: 

 that event has, or could reasonably be expected to have, a material adverse effect on: 

o the likely price that the Offer Shares will trade once quoted on the NZX Main Board; 

o the willingness or ability of Institutional Investors to comply with their settlement 
obligations; 

o the outcome or settlement of the Offer; 

o the ability of the Joint Lead Managers to market or settle the Offer; or 

o the ability of the Underwriter to perform its settlement and underwriting obligations in 
respect of the Offer or to enforce contracts to purchase the Offer Shares; or 

 the event has, or is likely to give rise to, a contravention by a Joint Lead Manager or any of its 
affiliates, or a Joint Lead Manager or any of its affiliates being involved in a contravention of, 
any applicable law. 

The Underwriter will be paid the fees and expenses detailed under the heading “Preliminary and issue 
expenses” in this Section 10 Statutory Information. 

Committed Terms Sheet in relation to the New Financing Arrangements 

On 13 November 2014 Evolve Education entered into a committed terms sheet with ASB Bank Limited 
in relation to the provision of the New Financing Arrangements, further details of which are set out in 
Section 7.9 Description of the Evolve Education Group’s Financing Arrangements.   

18. Pending proceedings 

There are no legal proceedings or arbitrations pending at the date of registration of this Offer 
Document that may have a material adverse effect on the Evolve Education Group. 

19. Preliminary and issue expenses 

Preliminary and issue expenses (including regulatory fees, brokerage, commissions, management 
fees, share registry expenses, legal fees, investment advisory fees, accounting fees, advertising costs, 
printing costs and postage and courier costs relating to this Offer) are estimated to amount to an 
aggregate of $19,486,193.  Of these expenses $12,356,531 relates to the Offer and $7,129,662 
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relates to preliminary expenses incurred by Evolve Education, including costs and expenses relating 
primarily to the acquisition and integration of the Initial Portfolio.   

Brokerage 

NZX Firms and Brokers will be paid a brokerage fee of up to 1.75% of the gross proceeds in respect of 
Offer Shares allotted pursuant to valid Applications for a firm allocation in the Broker Firm Offer.  This 
brokerage fee will be payable by the Joint Lead Managers out of proceeds of the fees detailed below. 
No brokerage will be payable on Applications received under the Broker Firm Offer that do not bear an 
NZX Firm or Broker stamp. 

Underwriter and Joint Lead Managers 

Evolve Education has agreed to pay the Underwriter and Joint Lead Managers in aggregate the 
following commissions: 

 arranger, lead manager, underwriter and brokerage fees totalling 4.15% of the gross proceeds 
of all Offer Shares issued under the Offer; 
 

 an incentive fee of 0.94% of the gross proceeds of all Offer Shares issued under the Offer. 
 

20. Restrictions on issuing group 

The only restrictions on the ability of the Evolve Education Group to make a distribution or to borrow 
are those resulting from its financing arrangements, details of which are set out in Section 7.9 
Description of the Evolve Education Group’s Financing Arrangements. 

21. Other terms of Offer and securities 

All terms of the Offer, and all terms of the Offer Shares, are set out in this Offer Document, other than 
any terms implied by law or which are set out in a document that has been registered with a public 
official, is available for public inspection and is referred to in this Offer Document. 

22-23.   Financial statements 

Audited financial statements for the Evolve Education Group for the period commencing on 20 May 
2014 (being the date of incorporation of Evolve Education) and ending 31 August 2014 are set out in 
Appendix 1 – Historical Financial Information.  These were prepared and audited as if they were to be 

registered under the Financial Reporting Act 1993. 

24. Additional interim financial statements 

Not applicable. 

25. Places of inspection of documents 

The constitution of Evolve Education, copies of the material contracts referred to above under the 
heading “Material Contracts” and copies of the financial statements referred to above under the 
headings “Financial statements”, may be inspected free of charge during normal business hours at 
Evolve Education’s registered office at Level 2, 54 Fort Street, Auckland.  Copies of those documents 
(except the financial statements referred to under the headings “Financial statements” are also 
available for public inspection on the Companies Office website at www.business.govt.nz/companies. 

Copies of the financial statements referred to under the headings “Financial statements” above can 
also be obtained free of charge at www.evolveeducation.co.nz.  

You can also obtain a copy of Evolve Education’s new Constitution (that will be adopted on listing) free 
of charge during normal business hours at Evolve Education’s registered office at Level 2, 54 Fort 
Street, Auckland or at www.evolveeducation.co.nz. 

http://www.business.govt.nz/companies
http://www.evolveeducation.co.nz/
http://www.evolveeducation.co.nz/
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26. Other material matters 

ASX Listing Rule waivers and confirmations 

Evolve Education will apply for waivers and confirmations from ASX which are standard for a New 
Zealand company listed on both the NZX Main Board and ASX (including confirmation that Evolve 
Education may prepare and publish its financial information in accordance with New Zealand 
accounting standards).  

Australian Securities and Investments Commission Relief 

ASIC has granted a declaration that the Offer is a recognised offer within the meaning of subsection 
1200B(1) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), notwithstanding that Evolve Education may not give the 
notice and lodge the documents referred to in section 1200C(5) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 14 
days before the Offer is made in Australia, and to allow Evolve Education to satisfy the requirements 
of section 1200C(5) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) seven days before the Offer is first made in 
Australia to align with the requirements in New Zealand. 

There are no other material matters relating to the Offer, other than those set out in this Offer 
Document, the financial statements or in contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business of 
the Evolve Education Group. 

27. Directors’ statement 

The Directors of Evolve Education, after due enquiry by them, are of the opinion that there has been 
no material and adverse change during the period between 31 August 2014 and the date of this Offer 
Document in respect of any of the following:  

(a) the trading or profitability of the Evolve Education Group; 

(b) the value of the assets of the Evolve Education Group; or 

(c)  the ability of the Evolve Education Group to pay its liabilities due within the next 12 months. 

28. Auditor’s report  

The current appointed auditor of Evolve Education is PricewaterhouseCoopers.  As at the date of this 
Offer Document PricewaterhouseCoopers has current registration and all its audit partners have 
obtained full licences under the Auditor Regulation Act 2011.  There are no restrictions or limitations 
on PricewaterhouseCoopers’ registration.   

A copy of the auditor’s report required by clause 28 of Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations is set 
out in Section 7.8 Statutory Audit Report.  PricewaterhouseCoopers has given and has not withdrawn 
its consent to be named in this Offer Document as auditor of Evolve Education and to the issue of the 
Offer Document with its audit report included in the form and context in which it appears.  Other than 
in its capacities as auditor of Evolve Education, investigating accountants and providers of tax, 
advisory and other assurance services, PricewaterhouseCoopers has no relationship with, or interest 
in, the Evolve Education Group and neither PricewaterhouseCoopers nor any officer or employee of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers is intended to be a director, officer, or employee of Evolve Education or any 
of its subsidiaries.   

PricewaterhouseCoopers are the Investigating Accountants in relation to the Prospective Financial 
Information set out in this Offer Document (and have provided the Investigating Accountant’s Report in 
Section 7.7 Investigating Accountant’s Report).   

PricewaterhouseCoopers takes no responsibility for, nor has it authorised the issue of, any part of this 
Offer Document, except for the Investigating Accountant’s Report and independent auditor’s report.  
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29. Signatures required by the Securities Act 1978 

A copy of this Offer Document has been signed by each Director of Evolve Education Group Limited 
(or his or her agent in writing) as issuer, and by Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ 
Limited and Samuel (Chris) Giufre as promoters. 
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11. Glossary 
20 Hours ECE A programme fully funded by the Government that enables children 

to attend ECE services for up to six hours per day and up to 20 
hours per week free of charge. All children three years and above 
are entitled to receive this funding until they attend school 

Acquisition Agreements The Lollipops Educare Acquisition Agreement, the PORSE 
Acquisition Agreement and the Additional Acquisition Agreements 

Additional Acquisition 
Agreements 

The various agreements between Evolve Education and vendors of 
the Additional Owned ECE Centres and the other related 
businesses to be acquired by Evolve Education 

Additional Australian 
Information 

 

 

 

 

Additional information containing disclosure relevant to Australian 
investors in the Institutional Offer and to comply with requirements 
for a recognised offer under Chapter 8 of the Australian 
Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and the Australian Corporations 
Regulations 2001 (Cth), which accompanies or is attached to this 
Offer Document for the purposes of the Institutional Offer made in 
Australia 

Additional Owned ECE 
Centres 

The 55 ECE Centres owned and operated by third parties that 
Evolve Education has contracted to acquire (other than the 
Lollipops Educare Owned ECE Centres) 

Allotment Date 4 December 2014, unless brought forward or extended by Evolve 
Education 

Applicant An investor whose Application Form has been received by the 
Share Registrar prior to the Closing Date 

Application An application to subscribe for Offer Shares  

Application Form The Application Form attached to or circulated with the Investment 
Statement to subscribe for Offer Shares under the Broker Firm 
Offer 

Application Monies The monies payable on Application 

ASX 

 

ASX Limited (ABN 98 008 624 691), or the financial market 
operated by ASX Limited, as the context requires 

ASX Listing Rules The listing rules of ASX and ASX Listing Rule means a rule 
contained in the ASX Listing Rules 

Board or Board of Directors The board of directors of Evolve Education 

Bookbuild The process by which the Offer Price was set, as described in 
Section 8 Details of the Offer 

Broker Any company, firm, organisation or corporation designated as  

a market participant by ASX 

Broker Firm Offer The offer available to New Zealand resident clients of selected NZX 
Firms who have received an allocation from that NZX Firm and to 
Australian resident investors to apply for an allocation of Offer 
Shares from a Broker that has received an allocation 

Business Day A day on which the NZX Main Board is open for trading 

CAGR Compound annual growth rate 

Closing Date 12:00pm, 3 December 2014, or such later date as set by Evolve 
Education 

Companies Act Companies Act 1993 
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Constitution The new constitution of Evolve Education which will be adopted on 
listing 

CSN Common Shareholder Number  

Current Shareholders Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited, Stuart 
and Gillian James, Norah Barlow, Alistair Ryan, Alan Wham, Vivek 
Singh, David Smith, Beverley Gordon and Paula Hawkings 

Director A director of Evolve Education 

Directory The directory set out in this Offer Document  

DPS Dividend per Share 

DTA Double tax agreement 

EBIT Earnings before interest and income tax 

EBITDA Earnings before interest, income tax, depreciation and amortisation  

ECE Early childhood education 

ECE Centre Early childhood education centre 

Educator A person over 17 years of age who holds a first aid qualification 
and has the designated role of providing Home-based ECE directly 
to children in his or her care, and attends to the health and safety of 
those children 

EV Enterprise value 

Evolve Education As the context requires, either Evolve Education Group Limited or 
the “Evolve Education” business carried on by the Evolve 
Education Group 

Evolve Education Group As the context requires, either Evolve Education, its subsidiaries, or 
Evolve Education and its subsidiaries 

F The inclusion of F after a reference to a financial period is an 
indication that it is a forecast period.  For example, “FY16F” means 
the year ending on 31 March 2016, which is a forecast period 

FY A financial year 

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

GDP Gross Domestic Product 

Glossary This glossary of key terms 

GST Goods and services tax chargeable under the Goods and Services 
Tax Act 1985 (NZ) or a New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) 
Act 1999 (Cth) 

Home-based ECE Early childhood education services provided to a small group of 
children in a home setting 

Home-based Licence The licence required by a Home-based ECE service provider to 
provide ECE services to a specified number of children.  Typically, 
one Home-based Licence would be for 80 licensed places 

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards 

Initial Portfolio All the shares in Lollipops Educare (which owns and operates the 
Lollipops Educare Owned ECE Centres), the 55 Additional Owned 
ECE Centres, all the shares in the PORSE group, and the other 
related businesses to be acquired by Evolve Education (being a 
company that operates a Home-based ECE business and a 
company that manages 20 ECE Centres for third parties) 
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Institutional Investors Investors who the Joint Lead Managers determine are persons to 
whom an offer or invitation in respect of Shares may be made 
without the need for a registered prospectus under the Securities 
Act 

Institutional Offer The offer available to selected Institutional Investors in New 
Zealand, Australia and certain other jurisdictions 

Investment Statement The Investment Statement for the Offer dated 14 November 2014 

Joint Lead Managers Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited and Forsyth Barr Limited 

Licensed Child Places The maximum number of child places specified in a Home-based 
Licence or in the Ministry of Education licence for an ECE Centre 

Loan Agreements The loan agreements referred to in subsection 17 “Material 
Contracts” of Section 10 Statutory Information, under which those 
parties provided advances to Evolve Education to fund Evolve 
Education’s pre-Offer costs 

Lollipops Educare Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited 

Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition 

The acquisition by Evolve Education of all the shares in Lollipops 
Educare 

Lollipops Educare 
Acquisition Agreement 

The amended and restated agreement for sale and purchase of 
shares in Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited between Evolve 
Education (or nominee) (as purchaser) and the shareholders of 
Lollipops Educare (as vendors) dated 14 November 2014 

Lollipops Educare Group Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries as at completion of the Lollipops Educare Acquisition  

Lollipops Educare Owned 
ECE Centres 

30 ECE Centres owned and operated by the Lollipops Educare 
Group, which includes three ECE Centres that are currently 
operated by Lollipops Educare as joint ventures with third parties.   
Lollipops Educare has contracted to acquire the third parties’ 
interests in two of the joint ventures following completion of the 
Lollipops Educare Acquisition Agreement 

MOE Occupancy 
Percentage 

The total Ministry of Education funded child hours attended, as a 
percentage of the maximum funded hours available (licensed 
capacity x 30 hours/week)  

Net Debt The value of borrowings, finance leases, and the balance sheet 

liability for Ministry of Education funding received in advance, less 
cash and cash equivalents 

New Financing 
Arrangements 

The new financing arrangements to be entered into by Evolve 
Education and each member of the Evolve Education Group, as 
described in Section 7.9 Description of the Evolve Education 
Group’s Financing Arrangements 

NPAT Net Profit After Tax 

NRWT Non-resident withholding tax 

NZD or NZ$ or $ New Zealand Dollar 

NZ GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand 

NZ IFRS New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards 

NZX NZX Limited 

NZX Firm  A shareholding firm authorised to trade shares on the NZX Main 
Board 

NZX Listing Rules The Listing Rules of the NZX Main Board in force from time to time 

NZX Main Board The main board equity securities market operated by NZX 
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Offer  The offer of Shares under this Offer Document  

Offer Document This prospectus dated 14 November 2014 

Offer Price $1.00 per Offer Share 

Offer Shares Shares offered for subscription by Evolve Education under the 
Offer 

Opening Date 24 November 2014 

Owned ECE Centres The Lollipops Educare Owned ECE Centres and the Additional 
Owned ECE Centres 

PORSE PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited, PORSE Franchising (NZ) 
Limited, PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited, and FOR Life 
Education & Training (NZ) Limited 

PORSE Acquisition The acquisition by Evolve Education of all the shares in each entity 
that constitutes PORSE 

PORSE Acquisition 
Agreement 

The share sale agreement relating to shares in PORSE In-Home 
Childcare (NZ) Limited, PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited, PORSE 
Education & Training (NZ) Limited, and FOR Life Education & 
Training (NZ) Limited between Evolve Home Day Care Limited (as 
purchaser) and the shareholders of the PORSE companies (as 
vendors) dated 22 September 2014 

Promoters Kern Group NZ Limited, Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited and 
Samuel (Chris) Giufre  

Prospective Financial 

Information or PFI 

Financial information for Evolve Education for the period 
commencing on incorporation of Evolve Education and ending 31 
March 2016 

Prospective Period The period commencing on incorporation of Evolve Education and 
ending 31 March 2016 

Qualified teacher ratio Number of qualified teachers as a percentage of total teachers and 
educators 

RWT Resident withholding tax 

Securities Act Securities Act 1978 

Securities Regulations Securities Regulations 2009 

Shareholder A shareholder of Evolve Education  

Share Registrar Link Market Services Limited 

Shares Ordinary shares in Evolve Education 

Takeovers Code Takeovers Code Approval Order 2000 

Underwriter Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited 

Underwriting Agreement The underwriting agreement between Evolve Education and the 
Joint Lead Managers dated 14 November 2014, as more fully 
described in subsection 17 “Material Contracts” of Section 10 
Statutory Information  

 

Additional definitions for the key offer statistics and investment metrics 

Gross yield Total cash dividend forecast to be payable in respect of the 
prospective financial year ending 31 March 2016 plus imputation 
credits assumed to be attached to the dividend, divided by the 
Indicative Market Capitalisation. The Directors have assumed that 
the dividend in respect of the prospective financial year ending 31 
March 2016 will be fully imputed 
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Indicative EV / EBIT multiple 

 

EV divided by EBIT for the respective forecast financial year. This is 
a valuation metric that enables comparison with stock market peers 

Indicative EV / EBITDA 
multiple 

 

EV divided by EBITDA for the respective forecast financial year. 
This is a valuation metric that enables comparison with stock 
market peers 

Indicative market 
capitalisation 

The number of Shares on issue following the Offer multiplied by the 
Offer Price 

Offer Price / Earnings ratio 

 

Indicative market capitalisation divided by NPAT for the respective 
forecast financial year. This is a valuation metric that enables 
comparison with industry competitors and stock market peers 

Prospective Net Debt Net Debt is defined as the value of borrowings, finance leases, and 

the balance sheet liability for Ministry of Education funding received 
in advance, less cash and cash equivalents. Prospective Net Debt 
is calculated as Net Debt as at 31 March 2015, reflecting (i) Evolve 
Education’s capital structure as a result of the Offer; and (ii) the 
unearned income liability on the balance sheet at that point in time 

Net yield Cash dividend forecast to be payable in respect of the prospective 
financial year ending 31 March 2016 divided by the Indicative 
Market Capitalisation 
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12. Directory 
EVOLVE EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED PROMOTERS 

 

Level 2 
54 Fort Street 
Auckland 1010 

Kern Group NZ Limited 
Wraith Capital Group NZ Limited 
Samuel (Chris) Giufre 
 

DIRECTORS OF EVOLVE EDUCATION 
 

SOLICITORS 

Norah Barlow (Chairperson) 
Mark Finlay 
Greg Kern 
Alistair Ryan 
Alan Wham 
 

Minter Ellison Rudd Watts 
Level 20, Lumley Centre 
88 Shortland Street 
Auckland 1010 
Phone: +64 (9) 353 9700 
 

AUDITOR AND INVESTIGATING 
ACCOUNTANT 
 

SOLE BOOKRUNNER AND ARRANGER, 
JOINT LEAD MANAGER AND 
UNDERWRITER 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
188 Quay Street 
Auckland 1142 
Phone: +64 (9) 355 8000 

Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited 
Level 39, Vero Centre 
48 Shortland Street, 
Auckland 1010 
Phone: +64 (9) 362 7300 
 

ACCOUNTING ADVISER JOINT LEAD MANAGER 

KPMG 
18 Viaduct Harbour Avenue 
Auckland 1140 
Phone +64 (9) 367 5800 

Forsyth Barr Limited 
Level 13, Forsyth Barr Tower 
55 Shortland Street 
Auckland 1010 
Phone: +64 800 367 227 
 

FINANCIAL ADVISER 
 

SHARE REGISTRAR 

Kern Group (Paddington) Pty Ltd 
Level 2/67 St Pauls Terrace 
Spring Hill 
Queensland 
Australia 4004 

Link Market Services Limited 
Level 7, Zurich House 
21 Queen Street 
Auckland 1010 
Phone: +64 (9) 375 5998 
 

BANKER AND LENDER  

ASB Bank Limited 
12 Jellicoe Street,  
Auckland 1140 
Phone:  +64 (9) 337 4819    
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Appendix 1 – Historical Financial Information 
 

Summary Historical Financial Statements 

The following summary historical financial statements are presented in accordance with clause 9 of 
Schedule 1 of the Securities Regulations for Evolve Education and clause 12(3) of Schedule 1 of the 
Securities Regulations for the acquisitions of Lollipops Educare and the PORSE Group, subject to the 
terms of the Securities Act (Evolve Education Group Limited) Exemption Notice 2014.  

All financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars (NZ$). The amounts within the financial 
statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand.  

The summary financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Financial 
Reporting Standard No. 43, subject to the requirement of clause 9(4) of Schedule 1 of the Securities 
Regulations. The summary financial statements have been extracted from the relevant full financial 
statements.  

The summary financial statements cannot be expected to provide as complete an understanding as 
provided by the full financial statements. Copies of the full financial statements can be requested from 
Evolve Education. 
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Evolve Education Group Limited 

 

 

 
 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

$000s

For the period ended 31 August 2014

Revenue                        - 

Expenditure               2,238 

Depreciation and amortisation                        - 

Non-operating costs                        - 

Net finance cost                  595 

Profit/(loss)before income tax (2,833)            

Income tax (expense)/benefit                        - 

Profit/(loss) attributable to the shareholders of the company (2,833)            

Other comprehensive income                        - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period (2,833)            

Statement of Financial Position

$000s

As at 31 August 2014

Current assets               2,800 

Non-current assets                     13 

Total Assets 2,813             

Current liabilities               5,646 

Non-current liabilities                        - 

Total Liabilities 5,646             

NET ASSETS (2,833)            

Share capital                        - 

Accumulated losses             (2,833)

Total equity             (2,833)

Statement of Changes in Equity

$000s

For the period ended 31 August

Balance as at 20 May 2014                     -                        - -                

Loss for the period                     -             (2,833) (2,833)      

Other comprehensive income                     -                        - -                

Balance as at 31 Aug 2014 -                    (2,833)            (2,833)      

Share 

Capital 

Accumulated 

losses

Total 

Equity
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The summary financial statements are those of Evolve Education Group Limited and its subsidiaries.  
There are no consolidated historical financial statements for Evolve Education Group Limited (except 
those prepared for the period ended 31 August 2014) as it was incorporated on 20 May 2014. 

The financial statements of Evolve Education Group Limited for the period to 31 August 2014 have 
been prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in New Zealand.  They 
comply with New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards and other 
applicable Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for profit-oriented entities. The consolidated 
financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards and International 
Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee interpretations. 

The Evolve Education Group has recognised a net loss after tax of $2,833,000 for the period ended 31 
August 2014 and, as at that date, the Evolve Education Group has negative equity with current 
liabilities exceeding current assets by $2,846,000. These financial statements have been prepared on 
a going concern basis. 

A key consideration in adopting the going concern principles as a basis for the preparation of these 
financial statements is the expectation that the Evolve Education will list on the NZX and ASX in 
December 2014. The Directors expect an Underwriting Agreement to be signed on 14 November 2014 
between Goldman Sachs New Zealand Limited, Forsyth Barr Limited and Evolve Education Group 
Limited (Underwriting Agreement) in respect of the intended listing. The Directors consider that the 
execution of this Underwriting Agreement supports the intention to list the company in December 
2014. Assuming a successful IPO, and based on current and forecast transactions, sufficient profits 
and cash flows are expected to enable the Evolve Education Group to continue operations for the 
foreseeable future. Whilst the Directors believe the intention is to list and the expected signing of the 
Underwriting Agreement provides a basis to prepare the financial statements on going concern basis it 
is important to note that there a number of conditions within the Underwriting Agreement that at the 
date of signing these financial statements are not yet satisfied. The Directors acknowledge that there 
remains a material uncertainty surrounding Evolve Education Group’s ability to raise additional capital 
should the IPO not proceed. As such, whilst this uncertainty exists, alternative options are being 
considered including other private equity capital raising options. 

The full financial statements to 31 August 2014 are attached to this Offer Document. 

The table below summarises the following for the historical financial statements: 

 Auditor name 

 Nature of Auditor’s opinion 

 Date authorised for issue 
 

Period Auditor name Nature of Auditor’s 
opinion 

Authorised for issue 
by Directors 

31 August 2014 PricewaterhouseCoopers 
 

Unmodified with an 
emphasis of matter in 
respect of material 
uncertainty around going 
concern 

12/11/14 

 

Statement of Cash Flows

$000s

For the period ended 31 August 2014

Net cash flows used in operating activities                   (15)

Net cash flows from investing activities                        - 

Net cash flows from financing activities                     50 

Net increase in cash held                     35 
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Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited  

  

 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

$000s

For the period ended 31 March 2013 2014

Revenue             25,413             32,865 

Share of profit of associates using equity method                     71                        - 

Share of profit of joint arrangements using equity method                  303                  285 

Expenditure             22,715             26,691 

Depreciation and amortisation                  856                  835 

Non-operating costs                        -                        - 

Net finance cost               1,045               1,119 

Profit before income tax 1,171             4,505             

Income tax expense                   (76)                 (328)

Profit attributable to the shareholders of the company 1,095             4,177             

Other comprehensive income                        -                        - 

Total comprehensive income for the period 1,095             4,177             

Comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:

Equity holders of the parent               1,039               4,117 

Non-controlling interest                     56                     59 

Total 1,095             4,177             

Statement of Financial Position

$000s

As at 31 March 2013 2014

Current assets                    10,478             16,065 

Non-current assets                    12,088             14,902 

Total Assets 22,566                  30,967           

Current liabilities                    14,354             17,016 

Non-current liabilities                      3,859               5,114 

Total Liabilities 18,213                  22,130           

NET ASSETS 4,353                     8,837             

Share capital                      5,261               5,109 

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings                        (995)               2,814 

Reserves                            15                  879 

Non-controlling interest                            72                     35 

Total shareholders’ equity                      4,353               8,837 

Equity attributable to owner of the parent                      4,281               8,802 

Non-controlling interest                            72                     35 

Total equity                      4,353               8,837 
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Evolve Education is exempted from the requirement to include summary financial statements for 

Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited for the accounting periods ended 31 March 2010, 31 March 2011, 

31 March 2012, 31 March 2013 and 31 March 2014, as required under the Securities Regulations, by 

virtue of the Securities Act (Evolve Education Group Limited) Exemption Notice 2014 (Exemption 

Notice).   

This exemption is subject to the condition that summary financial statements in tabular form based on 

special purpose audited financial statements for Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited in respect of the 

financial year ended 31 March 2014 (which include 31 March 2013 comparatives) are included. 

The special purpose audited financial statements of Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited for the year 

ended 31 March 2014 (which include 31 March 2013 comparatives) have been prepared in 

accordance with the Statement of Compliance as detailed below and Lollipops Educare Holdings 

Limited’s accounting policies, and reflect the fact that LEP Limited and other subsidiaries of Lollipops 

Statement of Changes in Equity

$000s

For the period ended 31 March

Balance as at 01 Apr 2013            5,261            (995)                 15                         72 4,353       

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the Parent for the period, net of tax                     -          4,117                    -                            -         4,117 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the Non-controlling interest for the 

period, net of tax
                    -                   -                    -                         59              59 

Transactions with owners:

Movement in treasury shares held                (75)                   -                    -                            -             (75)

Share buyback                (78)                   -                    -                            -             (78)

Dividends                     - (309)                             -                       (96)          (405)

Movement in special purpose reserve                     - -                               864                            -            864 

Balance as at 31 Mar 2014 5,109           2,814        879             35                       8,837       

Share 

Capital 

Retained 

Earnings 

Translation 

Reserve

Total 

Equity

Non-controlling 

interest

Statement of Changes in Equity

$000s

For the period ended 31 March

Balance as at 01 Apr 2012            5,464        (2,034)             (293)                         16 3,153       

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the Parent for the period, net of tax                     -          1,039                    -                            -         1,039 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the Non-controlling interest for the 

period, net of tax
                    -                   -                    -                         56              56 

Transactions with owners:

Movement in treasury shares held              (203)                   -                    -                            -          (203)

Movement in special purpose reserve                     - -                               308                            -            308 

Balance as at 31 Mar 2013 5,261           (995)          15               72                       4,353       

Share 

Capital 

Retained 

Earnings 

Translation 

Reserve

Non-controlling 

interest

Total 

Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

$000s

For the period ended 31 March FY 2013 FY 2014

Net cash flows from operating activities               1,494               5,487 

Net cash flows used in investing activities                 (953)             (2,554)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities                  639             (3,184)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held               1,180                 (251)
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Educare Holdings Limited will be excluded from Lollipop Educare Holdings Limited prior to it being 

acquired by Evolve Education.  The special purpose audited financial statements have therefore been 

prepared to better illustrate Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited as it will be acquired by Evolve 

Education.   

Statement of Compliance 

 

Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited is a profit-oriented entity incorporated and domiciled in New 

Zealand. Its principal activities are running quality early childhood care and education services for 

children and infants. 

The special purpose financial statements of Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited include the following 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and centres: 

 

Subsidiaries 

Lollipops Educare Limited Lollipops Educare Centres Limited (LECL) * 

Lollipops Educare (Hastings) Limited                                          Lollipops Educare (Wellington) Limited 

Lollipops Educare (Napier Port) Limited ***                                     Bambino Investments Limited *** 

Lollipops Educare (Blighs Road) Limited ***                                    Lollipops Educare (Ellerslie) Ltd *** 

Lollipops Educare (Te Rapa) Limited ***                                          Lollipops Educare Investors Limited ("LEIL") 

Lollipops Educare (Patten Street) Limited ***                              Lollipops Educare (Waikato Hospital) Limited *** 

 

Joint Ventures 

Lollipops Educare (Ellerslie) Limited **** 

Lollipops Educare (Half Moon Bay) Limited 

Lollipops Educare (Birkenhead) Limited 

 

Centres 

Remuera** 

Wonderwise** 

* One of the centres, Mairangi Bay Centre, has been excluded from the special purpose financial 

statements because the Centre was sold in April 2013 and is not included in the sale and purchase 

agreement. 

** The Remuera and Wonderwise centres were owned by LEDC Limited during the 2013 and 2014 

financial years. Subsequent to 31 March 2014 these two centres were transferred into Lollipops 

Educare Centre Limited. Therefore, the special purpose financial statements include the Remuera and 

Wonderwise centres. LEDC Limited and its remaining centres are excluded from the special purpose 

financial statements. 

*** On 31/03/2014 these companies were amalgamated into Lollipops Educare Centres Limited. 

**** Lollipops Educare (Ellerslie) Ltd is shown as a joint venture in 2013 and a subsidiary in 2014 as 

the remaining 50% ownership was acquired during the period. It trades as Lollipops Educare 

Millennium. 



 

 

 
  

 151 

The special purpose carve out financial statements of Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited (referred 

herein as special purpose) are consolidated financial statements including the above subsidiaries, joint 

ventures and centres. The financial statements do not comply with New Zealand generally accepted 

accounting practice (NZ GAAP) or New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting 

Standards (NZ IFRS) using the differential reporting framework because certain subsidiaries (and 

portions of one of its subsidiaries) and a joint venture of Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited have 

been excluded. NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements requires a parent entity to present 

consolidated financial statements in which it consolidates its investments in subsidiaries in accordance 

with the standard. These financial statements do not comply with NZ IFRS 10 because they exclude 

some subsidiaries and portions of one of the subsidiaries as listed below. NZ IFRS 11 Joint 

Arrangements and NZ IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures require joint ventures to 

be accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial statements of the investor. 

These financial statements do not comply with NZ IFRS 11 and NZ IAS 28 because they exclude one 

of the joint ventures as listed below. 

The special purpose financial statements include only Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited and those 

subsidiaries, joint ventures and centres of Lollipops that will be part of the Lollipops Group at 

completion of the purchase of Lollipops Educare Holdings Limited by Evolve Education. Therefore the 

following subsidiaries and joint ventures have been excluded: 

Subsidiaries  

Lollipops Educare Properties Limited  

LEDC Limited *  

Lollipops Educare (Mt Maunganui) Limited  

Lollipops Educare (Addington) Limited  

 

Joint Venture 

Lollipops Birkenhead Properties Limited 

* This company has been excluded from the Special Purpose Financial Statements except that two of 

its centres, Remuera and Wonderwise, have been included because those two centres are included in 

the sale and purchase agreement. 

Special Purpose reserve 

The special purpose reserve arises as a consequence of the basis of preparation whereby the special 

purpose financial statements exclude the accounting impact of the disposal of Mairangi Bay and 

Waiuku Centres. 

Other than as described above, and as further detailed within the audited special purpose financial 

statements themselves, the special purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the recognition, measurement, and disclosure requirements of New Zealand Equivalents to 

International Financial Reporting Standards applying the framework for differential reporting. All 

disclosure exemptions under the framework for differential reporting have been applied except for: 

 The exemption under NZ IAS 18 Revenue allowing the recording of revenue and expense 

inclusive of GST; and  

 The exemption under NZ IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows allowing the reporting entity not to 

prepare a Statement of Cash Flows. 
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The table below summarises the following for the special purpose financial statements: 

 Auditor name 

 Nature of Auditor’s opinion 

 Date authorised for issue 

 

Period Auditor name Nature of Auditor’s 
opinion 

Authorised for issue 
by Directors 

31 March 2014 Deloitte Unmodified and refers 
to the basis of which 
these special purpose 
financial statements 
have been prepared. 

12/11/14 
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PORSE In-Home Childcare (NZ) Limited 

 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

$000s

For the period ended 31 December 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Revenue       16,405       19,717       23,009       23,910       23,320 

Expenditure       14,736       17,825       20,841       22,802       22,933 

Depreciation and amortisation            552            532            638            610            648 

Non-operating costs                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Net finance income            221            274            373            319            175 

Profit/(loss) before income tax 1,338       1,634       1,903       817           (86)            

Income tax expense           (402)           (554)           (543)           (238)             (38)

Profit/(loss) attributable to the shareholders of 

the company 936           1,080       1,360       579           (124)         

Other comprehensive income                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 

period 936           1,080       1,360       579           (124)         

Statement of Financial Position

$000s

As at 31 December 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Current assets         7,299         8,622         9,010         7,210         4,703 

Non-current assets         1,219         1,586         1,888         1,957         1,728 

Total Assets 8,518       10,208     10,898     9,167       6,431       

Current liabilities         7,100         8,385         7,933         7,537         5,225 

Non-current liabilities            100            100               82               82               82 

Total Liabilities 7,200       8,485       8,015       7,619       5,307       

NET ASSETS 1,318       1,723       2,883       1,548       1,124       

Share capital            500            500            500            500            500 

Retained earnings            818         1,223         2,383         1,048            624 

Total shareholders’ equity 1,318       1,723       2,883       1,548       1,124       
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Statement of Changes in Equity

$000s

Balance as at 31 Dec 2008            500                108 608         

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -                936 

936         

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                499 499         

Dividend                  -              (725) (725)        

Balance as at 31 Dec 2009            500                818 1,318      

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 - 1,080                 1,080 

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                      - -               

Dividend                  -              (675) (675)        

Balance as at 31 Dec 2010            500             1,223       1,723 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -             1,360 

1,360      

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                      - -               

Dividend                  -              (200) (200)        

Balance as at 21 July 2011            500             2,383       2,883 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -                579           579 

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                      - -               

Dividend                  -           (1,914) (1,914)    

Balance as at 31 Dec 2012            500             1,048       1,548 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -              (124) (124)        

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                      - -               

Dividend                  -              (300) (300)        

Balance as at 31 Dec 2013            500                624       1,124 

Share 

Capital 

Retained 

Earnings 

Total 

Equity
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The financial statements of PORSE In-Home Childcare Limited for the years ended 31 December 
2009, 31 December 2010, 31 December 2011, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 have been 
prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP.  They comply with approved Financial Reporting Standards 
(FRSs) and Statements of Standard Accounting Practices (SSAPs) as appropriate for entities that 
qualify for and apply differential reporting concessions.  

PORSE In-Home Childcare Limited qualifies for differential reporting exemptions as it has no public 
accountability and is not large in terms of the criteria set out in the Differential Reporting Framework.  
All available exemptions allowed under the Framework for Differential Reporting have been adopted 
except for NZ IAS7 Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended 31 December 2009, 31 December 
2010, 31 December 2011, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013. 

The table below summarises the following for the historical financial statements: 

 Auditor name 

 Nature of Auditor’s opinion 

 Date authorised for issue 
 

Period Auditor name Nature of Auditor’s 
opinion 

Authorised for issue by 
Directors 

31 December 2009 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 23/3/10 

31 December 2010 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 21/3/11 

31 December 2011 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 18/4/12 

31 December 2012 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 28/3/13 

31 December 2013 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 30/4/14 

 
  

Statement of Cash Flows

$000s

For the period ended 31 December  2009  2010  2011  2012  2013

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating 

activities
        2,219         3,124         2,013            152       (1,707)

Net cash flows (used in)/from investing 

activities
      (2,735)       (2,727)         4,773       (3,662)         5,080 

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing 

activities
        1,333           (359)           (484)       (2,012)       (4,393)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held            817               38         6,302       (5,522)       (1,020)
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PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited 
 

 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

$000s

For the period ended 31 December 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Revenue         1,509            1,911         1,444         1,340         1,184 

Expenditure            701                883         1,074            471            165 

Depreciation and amortisation                 8                    2                 2                  -                  - 

Non-operating costs                  -                     -                  -                  -                  - 

Net finance income (cost)                 5                   (1)                 6               12               43 

Profit/(loss)before income tax 805           1,025           374           881           1,062       

Income tax expense           (240)              (309)           (105)           (247)           (304)

Profit/(loss) attributable to the shareholders of 

the company 565           716              269           634           758           

Other comprehensive income                  -                     -                  -                  -                  - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 

period 565           716              269           634           758           

Statement of Financial Position

$000s

As at 31 December 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Current assets         1,793         1,877         1,997         2,328         2,950 

Non-current assets               10                 8                 6                 1                 1 

Total Assets 1,803       1,885       2,003       2,329       2,951       

Current liabilities            964            680            602            779         1,093 

Non-current liabilities            100            100               82               82               82 

Total Liabilities 1,064       780           684           861           1,175       

NET ASSETS 739           1,105       1,319       1,468       1,776       

Share capital                  -                  -                  -            500            500 

Retained earnings            677         1,043         1,257            906         1,214 

Reserves               62               62               62               62               62 

Total shareholders’ equity 739           1,105       1,319       1,468       1,776       
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Statement of Changes in Equity

$000s

Balance as at 31 Dec 2008            641                 62 703           

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -            565                    - 565           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (529)                    - (529)         

Balance as at 31 Dec 2009                  -            677                 62 739           

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -            716                    - 716           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (350)                    - (350)         

Balance as at 31 Dec 2010                  -         1,043                 62         1,105 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -            269                    - 269           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -             (55)                    - (55)            

Balance as at 21 July 2011                  -         1,257                 62         1,319 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
           500            634                    - 1,134       

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (985)                    - (985)         

Balance as at 31 Dec 2012            500            906                 62         1,468 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -            758                    - 758           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (450)                    - (450)         

Balance as at 31 Dec 2013            500         1,214                 62         1,776 

Total 

Equity

Share 

Capital 

Retained 

Earnings 

Translation 

Reserve

Statement of Cash Flows

$000s

For the period ended 31 December  2009  2010  2011  2012  2013

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating 

activities
           532            832            218            663            847 

Net cash flows from investing activities                  -                  -                  -                 8                  - 

Net cash flows used in financing activities           (681)           (290)           (569)           (887)           (504)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held           (149)            542           (351)           (216)            343 
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PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited is an exempt company as defined by the Financial Reporting Act 

1993. The Financial Statements of the company have been prepared in accordance with section 12 of 

the Financial Reporting Act and Financial Reporting Order 1994.  

PORSE Franchising (NZ) Limited qualifies for differential reporting exemptions as it has no public 

accountability and is not large in terms of the criteria set out in the Differential Reporting Framework.  

All available exemptions allowed under the Framework for Differential Reporting have been adopted 

except for NZ IAS7 Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended 31 December 2009, 31 December 

2010, 31 December 2011, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013. 

The table below summarises the following for the historical financial statements: 

 Auditor name 

 Nature of Auditor’s opinion 

 Date authorised for issue 

 

Period Auditor name Nature of Auditor’s opinion Authorised for 
issue by Directors 

31 December 2009 Unaudited  29/4/10 

31 December 2010 Unaudited  27/7/11 

31 December 2011 Unaudited  2/5/12 

31 December 2012 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 28/3/13 

31 December 2013 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 30/4/14 
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PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited 

 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

$000s

For the period ended 31 December 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Revenue         1,252         1,201         1,471         1,385         1,431 

Expenditure            621            710            867            988         1,104 

Depreciation and amortisation                 1                 3                 9               15               18 

Non-operating costs                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Net finance income                 4                 1                 4               15               24 

Profit/(loss) before income tax 634           489           599           397           333           

Income tax expense           (187)           (148)           (168)           (118)             (88)

Profit/(loss) attributable to the shareholders of 

the company 447           341           431           279           245           

Other comprehensive income                  -                  -                  -                  -                  - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 

period 447           341           431           279           245           

Statement of Financial Position

$000s

As at 31 December 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Current assets         1,292         1,617         1,725         2,115         2,274 

Non-current assets                 8               23               32               35               36 

Total Assets 1,300       1,640       1,757       2,150       2,310       

Current liabilities            562            936            775            756            921 

Non-current liabilities            100            100               82               82               82 

Total Liabilities 662           1,036       857           838           1,003       

NET ASSETS 638           604           900           1,312       1,307       

Share capital                 2                 2                 2            500            500 

Retained earnings            525            491            787            701            696 

Reserves            111            111            111            111            111 

Total shareholders’ equity 638           604           900           1,312       1,307       
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Statement of Changes in Equity

$000s

Balance as at 31 Dec 2008                 2            527              111 640           

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -            447                    - 447           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (449)                    - (449)         

Balance as at 31 Dec 2009                 2            525              111 638           

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -            341                    - 341           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (375)                    - (375)         

Balance as at 31 Dec 2010                 2            491              111            604 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -            431                    - 431           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (135)                    - (135)         

Balance as at 21 July 2011                 2            787              111            900 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
           498            279                    - 777           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (365)                    - (365)         

Balance as at 31 Dec 2012            500            701              111         1,312 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -            245                    - 245           

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                    - -                

Dividend                  -           (250)                    - (250)         

Balance as at 31 Dec 2013            500            696              111         1,307 

Share 

Capital 

Retained 

Earnings 

Translation 

Reserve

Total 

Equity
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The financial statements of PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited for the years ended 31 
December 2009, 31 December 2010, 31 December 2011, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013 
have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP.  They comply with approved Financial Reporting 
Standards (FRSs) and Statements of Standard Accounting Practices (SSAPs) as appropriate for 
entities that qualify for and apply differential reporting concessions.  

PORSE Education & Training (NZ) Limited qualifies for differential reporting exemptions as it has no 
public accountability and is not large in terms of the criteria set out in the Differential Reporting 
Framework.  All available exemptions allowed under the Framework for Differential Reporting have 
been adopted except for NZ IAS7 Statement of Cash Flows for the years 31 December 2009, 31 
December 2010, 31 December 2011, 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013. 

The table below summarises the following for the historical financial statements: 

 Auditor name 

 Nature of Auditor’s opinion 

 Date authorised for issue 
 

Period Auditor name Nature of Auditor’s 
opinion 

Authorised for issue 
by Directors 

31 December 2009 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 16/3/10 

31 December 2010 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 11/3/11 

31 December 2011 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 20/3/12 

31 December 2012 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 28/3/13 

31 December 2013 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 26/3/14 

 
 

  

Statement of Cash Flows

$000s

For the period ended 31 December  2009  2010  2011  2012  2013

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating 

activities
           600            377            375            405            187 

Net cash flows used in investing activities               (4)             (17)             (57)             (18)       (1,019)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing 

activities
          (499)             (10)           (680)            179            552 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held               97            350           (362)            566           (280)
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FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited 

 

 

Statement of Comprehensive Income

$000s

For the period ended 31 December 2012 2013

Revenue            258            155 

Expenditure            191            159 

Depreciation and amortisation                 2                 2 

Non-operating costs                  -                  - 

Net finance income (cost)                  -                  - 

Profit/(loss) before income tax 65             (6)              

Income tax expense             (18)                  - 

Profit/(loss) attributable to the shareholders of 

the company 47             (6)              

Other comprehensive income                  -                  - 

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the 

period 47             (6)              

Statement of Financial Position

$000s

As at 31 December 2012 2013

Current assets            139            135 

Non-current assets                 4                 2 

Total Assets 143           137           

Current liabilities               96               96 

Non-current liabilities                  -                  - 

Total Liabilities 96             96             

NET ASSETS 47             41             

Share capital                  -                  - 

Retained earnings               47               41 

Total shareholders’ equity 47             41             
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FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited is a company registered under the Companies Act 1993 

and the company is an exempt company for the purposes of the Financial Reporting Act 1993. The 

Financial Statements of the company have been prepared in compliance with section 12 of the 

Financial Reporting Act and with the Financial Reporting Order 1994. The financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2012 were FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited’s first set of financial 

statements. FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited has provided additional information in its full 

financial statements in accordance with the framework for Differential Reporting.  

FOR Life Education & Training (NZ) Limited qualifies for differential reporting exemptions as it has no 

public accountability and is not large in terms of the criteria set out in the Differential Reporting 

Framework.  All available exemptions allowed under the Framework for Differential Reporting have 

been adopted except for NZ IAS7 Statement of Cash Flows for the periods ended 31 December 2012 

and 31 December 2013. 

Statement of Changes in Equity

$000s

Balance as at 21 July 2011                  -                  -                     -                  - 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -               47                     - 47             

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                     - -                

Dividend                  -                  -                     - -                

Balance as at 31 Dec 2012                  -               47                     -               47 

Total comprehensive income/ (loss) for 

the period, net of tax
                 -               (6)                     - (6)              

Transactions with owners:

Issue of capital                  -                  -                     - -                

Dividend                  -                  -                     - -                

Balance as at 31 Dec 2013                  -               41                     -               41 

Translation 

Reserve

Total 

Equity

Share 

Capital 

Retained 

Earnings 

Statement of Cash Flows

$000s

For the period ended 31 December  2012  2013

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating 

activities
           110             (30)

Net cash flows used in investing activities               (6)                  - 

Net cash flows from financing activities                  -                  - 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held            104             (30)
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The table below summarises the following for the historical financial statements: 

 Auditor name 

 Nature of Auditor’s opinion 

 Date authorised for issue 

 

Period Auditor name Nature of Auditor’s 
opinion 

Authorised for issue 
by Directors 

31 December 2012 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 28/3/13 

31 December 2013 Gardiner Knobloch, 
Napier 

Unqualified 26/3/14 
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